THIS CIRCULAR IS IMPORTANT AND REQUIRES YOUR IMMEDIATE ATTENTION

If you are in any doubt as to any aspect of this circular or as to the action to be taken, you should consult your
stockbroker or other registered dealer in securities, bank manager, solicitor, professional accountant or other
professional adviser.

If you have sold or transferred all your shares in Palmpay China (Holdings) Limited (the “Company”), you
should at once hand this circular together with the enclosed form of proxy to the purchaser or transferee or to
the bank, stockbroker or other agent through whom the sale or transfer was effected, for transmission to the
purchaser or transferee.

This circular is for information purposes only and does not constitute an invitation or offer to acquire, purchase
or subscribe for the securities.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited take no responsibility
for the contents of this circular, make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaim
any liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance on the whole or any part of the

contents of this circular.

NG
Palmpay

Palmpay China (Holdings) Limited
EP@#{T(?‘%I)EBE’A?

(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)
(Stock Code: 8047)

MAJOR AND CONNECTED TRANSACTION
INVOLVING ACQUISITION OF 25% INTERESTS IN
MEDIA MAGIC TECHNOLOGY LIMITED
WITH ISSUE OF CONSIDERATION SHARES
AND CONVERTIBLE BONDS

Financial adviser to the Company

rNC U

INCU Corporate Finance Limited

Independent Financial Adviser to the Independent Board Committee and
the Independent Shareholders

Nuada Limited

Corporate Finance Advisory

A letter from the independent committee (the “Independent Board Committee”) of the board of directors
of the Company is set out on pages 31 and 32 of this circular. A letter from Nuada Limited, the independent
financial adviser of the Company, containing its advice to the Independent Board Committee and the independent
shareholders of the Company is set out on pages 33 to 49 of this circular.

A notice convening a special general meeting of Palmpay China (Holdings) Limited to be held at Unit 1601,
Ruttonjee House, Ruttonjee Centre, 11 Duddell Street, Central, Hong Kong on Monday, 15 June 2009 at 11:00
a.m. is set out on pages 192 to 193 of this circular. A form of proxy for use at the special general meeting is also
enclosed with this circular. Whether or not you are able to attend the SGM, you are encouraged to complete and
return the enclosed form of proxy in accordance with the instructions printed thereon and return the same to the
branch share registrar of the Company in Hong Kong, Tricor Tengis Limited at 26/F, Tesbury Centre, 28 Queen’s
Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong as soon as possible and in any event no later than 48 hours before the time
appointed for the holding of the SGM. Completion and return of the enclosed form of proxy will not preclude
you from attending and voting in person at such meeting or any adjournment meeting should you so wish.

This circular will remain on the GEM website at www.hkgem.com on the “Latest Company Announcements” page
for at least 7 days from the date of its posting and the Company’s website at http://www.palmpaychina.com.

27 May 2009
*  for identification purposes only



CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate companies to which a
high investment risk may be attached than other companies listed on the Exchange. Prospective
investors should be aware of the potential risks of investing in such companies and should make
the decision to invest only after due and careful consideration. The greater risk profile and
other characteristics of GEM mean that it is a market more suited to professional and other
sophisticated investors.

Given the emerging nature of companies listed on GEM, there is a risk that securities
traded on GEM may be more susceptible to high market volatility than securities traded on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange and no assurance is given that there will be a liquid market
in the securities traded on GEM.
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DEFINITIONS

In this circular,

following meanings:

“13,889 MM Shares”

“722 Sale Shares”

“9,055 Sale Shares”

“4,112 Sale Shares”

“Acquisition”

“acting in concert”

“associate(s)”

“Board”

“Bondholder(s)”

“Business Day(s)”

“BVI”

“Code”

unless the context otherwise requires, the following expressions shall have the

13,889 ordinary shares of US$1 each in the issued share capital
of Media Magic, representing approximately 25% of the issued
share capital of Media Magic

722 MM Shares legally and beneficially owned by Vendor A to be
sold to Upper Power under the Sale and Purchase Agreement

9,055 MM Shares legally and beneficially owned by Vendor
B to be sold to Upper Power under the Sale and Purchase
Agreement

4,112 MM Shares legally and beneficially owned by Vendor
C to be sold to Upper Power under the Sale and Purchase
Agreement

the acquisition of the 13,889 MM Shares (being 25% of the total
issued share of Media Magic) pursuant to the Sale and Purchase

Agreement

has the meaning ascribed to it in the Code on Takeovers and
Mergers

has the meaning ascribed thereto in the GEM Listing Rules
the board of Directors

holder(s) of the Convertible Bond(s)

a day (other than a Saturday, Sunday, public or statutory holiday)
on which licensed banks are generally open for business in Hong
Kong throughout their normal business hours

the British Virgin Islands

The Hong Kong Code on Takeovers and Mergers



DEFINITIONS

“Company”

“Completion”

“connected persons”

“Consideration”

“Consideration Shares”

“Conversion Price”

“Conversion Shares”

“Convertible Bonds”

“Deposit”

“Director(s)”

“Enlarged Group”

Palmpay China (Holdings) Limited, a company incorporated in
Bermuda with limited liability and the issued Shares of which
are listed on GEM

completion of the sale and purchase of the 13,889 MM Shares
(being 25% of the total issued shares of Media Magic) in
accordance with the terms and conditions of the Sale and Purchase
Agreement

has the meaning ascribed to it under the GEM Listing Rules

the aggregate consideration of HK$82,335,000 for the sale and
purchase of the 13,889 MM Shares pursuant to the Sale and
Purchase Agreement

236,363,636 new Shares to be allotted and issued by the Company
to the Vendors at the Issue Price as part of the Consideration

HK$0.13 per Conversion Share, subject to usual anti-dilution
adjustments, being the initial price at which the Convertible
Bonds may be converted into the Conversion Shares

379,500,000 new Shares (subject to adjustment) to be allotted and
issued to the Bondholder(s) upon conversion of the Convertible
Bonds

the convertible bonds in an aggregate principal of HK$49,335,000
(i.e. HK$2,565,420 for Vendor A, HK$32,166,420 for Vendor B
and HK$14,603,160 for Vendor C) to be issued by the Company
in favour of the Vendors to satisfy part of the Consideration

the payment of HK$4,000,000 in cash which will be paid by the
Purchaser to the Vendors within five Business Days from the date
of the Sale and Purchase Agreement which shall be refundable
according to the terms of the Sale and Purchase Agreement

the director(s) of the Company, from time to time

the Group as enlarged by the proposed Acquisition of Media
Magic



DEFINITIONS

“Former Sale and Purchase
Agreements”

“GEM”

“GEM Listing Rules”

“Group”

“Hong Kong”

“Independent Board Committee”

]

“Independent Financial Adviser’
or “Nuada”

“Independent Shareholders”

“Independent Third Party(ies)”

“Issue Price”

the conditional sale and purchase agreements dated 5 November
2007 entered into among Upper Power as purchaser and Mr. Hsu
Tung Chi and Vendor A, as vendors for the sale and purchase of
an aggregate of 13,333 MM Shares, representing approximately
24% of the issued share capital of Media Magic, thereunder
which were completed on 21 December 2007

the Growth Enterprise Market of the Stock Exchange

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM
the Company and its subsidiaries

the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC

an independent committee of the Board comprising all the
independent non-executive Directors, established to advise the
Independent Shareholders in respect of the Acquisition and the
transaction contemplated thereunder

Nuada Limited, a licensed corporation under the SFO to
conduct type 6 regulated activity appointed to advise the
Independent Board Committee and the Independent Shareholders
in respect of the Acquisition and the transaction contemplated
thereunder

Shareholders other than Vendor A, Vendor B and Vendor C and
their respective associates or others who are interested in the
proposed Acquisition at the forthcoming SGM

any person(s) or company(s) and their respective ultimate
beneficial owner(s), to the best of the Directors’ knowledge,
information and belief, having made all reasonable enquiries,
are third party(ies) independent of and not connected with any
director, chief executive or substantial shareholders or management
shareholders of the Company or its subsidiaries or any of their
respective associates

the issue price of HK$0.11 per Consideration Share



DEFINITIONS

“Latest Practicable Date”

“Media Magic”

“Media Magic Group”

“MIIT”

“MM Shares”

“PalmPay Technology”

“PRC”

“Purchaser” or “Upper Power”

“Sale and Purchase Agreement”

“SGM”

“Shareholder(s)”

26 May 2009, being the latest practicable date prior to the
printing of this circular for the purpose of ascertaining certain
information contained herein

Media Magic Technology Limited, a company incorporated in
BVI

Media Magic and its subsidiaries

The Ministry of Industry and Information Technology of the
Peoples’ Republic of China (*#E A R4 A1 B T 2115 B L),
including its local counterparts

shares in the share capital of Media Magic

PalmPay Technology Co. Ltd. (At 5 B th 48 Bl 52 A PR A, a
company established in the PRC

the People’s Republic of China, which for the purpose of this
circular, shall exclude Hong Kong, Macau Special Administrative
Region of the PRC and Taiwan

Upper Power Limited, a company incorporated in BVI which is
a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, being the purchaser
of the 13,889 MM Shares from the Vendors pursuant to the Sale
and Purchase Agreement

the conditional sale and purchase agreement dated 26 February
2009 entered into between Upper Power as purchaser and the
Vendors, as vendors for the sale and purchase of the 13,889 MM
Shares

the special general meeting of the Company to be convened to
consider and, if thought fit, among other matters, the Acquisition
and the transaction contemplated thereunder, including but not
limited to, the allotment and issue of the Consideration Shares,
the issue of the Convertible Bonds, and the allotment and issue
of the Conversion Shares

holder(s) of the Share(s) from time to time



DEFINITIONS

“Share(s)”

“Stock Exchange”

“Vendor A”

“Vendor B”

“Vendor C”

“Vendors”

“HKS$” and “cents”

“US$”

“%”

ordinary share(s) of HK$0.05 each in the issued and unissued
share capital of the Company

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
Mr. Pang Hong Tao, a permanent resident in the PRC

Winner Gain Investments Limited, a company incorporated in
the BVI, a substantial shareholder of Media Magic

Morning Sun Technology Limited, a company incorporated in
the BVI

together, Vendor A, Vendor B and Vendor C

Hong Kong dollars and cents respectively, the lawful currency
of Hong Kong

United States dollars, the lawful currency of the United States
of America

per cent.
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MAJOR AND CONNECTED TRANSACTION
INVOLVING ACQUISITION OF 25% INTERESTS IN
MEDIA MAGIC TECHNOLOGY LIMITED
WITH ISSUE OF CONSIDERATION SHARES
AND CONVERTIBLE BONDS

INTRODUCTION

Reference is made to the announcement of the Company dated 2 March 2009 in which the Board
announced that on 26 February 2009 (after trading hours), Upper Power entered into the Sale and
Purchase Agreement, pursuant to which, Vendor A, Vendor B and Vendor C as vendors, have agreed
to sell, and Upper Power, as purchaser, has agreed to purchase, in aggregate 13,889 MM Shares,
representing approximately 25% of the issued share capital of Media Magic (as to 722 Sale Shares,
9,055 Sale Shares and 4,112 Sale Shares by Vendor A, Vendor B and Vendor C respectively, representing
approximately 1.30%, 16.30% and 7.40% of the issued share capital of Media Magic respectively) for a
total consideration of HK$82,335,000 which shall be settled by Upper Power in cash and by procuring

the Company to allot and issue the Consideration Shares and the Convertible Bonds.

*  for identification purposes only



LETTER FROM THE BOARD

The Acquisition constitutes a major and connected transaction on the part of the Company
under Chapter 19 and Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules and will be subject to the approval by
the Independent Shareholders by way of poll at the SGM.

The purpose of this circular is to provide you with further information regarding the Acquisition
and to seek approval from the Independent Shareholders for the Acquisition and the transactions
contemplated thereunder, including the allotment and issue of the Consideration Shares and the
Convertible Bonds and allotment and issue of the Conversion Shares upon exercise of the conversion
rights attached to the Convertible Bonds.

THE SALE AND PURCHASE AGREEMENT

Date: 26 February 2009 (after trading hours)

Parties:
Purchaser: Upper Power, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company
Vendors: Vendor A, being a shareholder of Media Magic

Vendor B, being a substantial shareholder of Media Magic and thus a connected
person of the Company

Vendor C, being a shareholder of Media Magic

To the best of the Directors’ knowledge, information and belief, having made all reasonable
enquiries, the Vendors (except Vendor B, which is a substantial shareholder of Media Magic and thus
a connected person of the Company) and their respective ultimate beneficial owners are third parties
independent of the Company and connected persons of the Company.

Assets to be acquired
The 13,889 MM Shares represent approximately 25% of the existing issued share capital of

Media Magic as at the date of the Sale and Purchase Agreement and the entire interests held by the
Vendors in Media Magic.
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Consideration

The total consideration for the 13,889 MM Shares is HK$82,335,000 which shall be settled by
the Purchaser in the following manner:

(1) cash of HK$7,000,000:

(a)  HKS$4,000,000 shall be payable in cash within five Business Days from the date
of the Sale and Purchase Agreement as deposit of the Acquisition; and

(b)  HKS$3,000,000 shall be payable in cash on Completion.

(i) as to HK$26,000,000 by the Purchaser by procuring the Company to allot and issue on
Completion the 236,363,636 Consideration Shares to the Vendors credited as fully paid,
at the Issue Price; and

(iii) as to HK$49,335,000 by the Purchaser by procuring the Company to issue on Completion
the Convertible Bonds to the Vendors (i.e. HK$2,565,420 for Vendor A, HK$32,166,420
for Vender B and HK$14,603,160 for Vendor C).

The payments referred to in items (i)(b), (ii) and (iii) above shall be made on Completion.
Source of Funding

Cash portion of the Consideration will be financed by the internal resources of the Group.
Basis of Consideration

The Consideration is determined at after arm’s length negotiation between Upper Power and the
Vendors with reference to (i) the future prospect and business plan of the Media Magic Group and
PalmPay Technology; (ii) the profit guarantee of at least HK$33 million being the audited consolidated
net profit after tax and extraordinary or exceptional items of the Media Magic Group for the year ending
31 March 2009 (“Former Profit Guarantee”) joint and severally guaranteed and warranted to Upper
Power by Vendor A and Mr. Hsu Tung Chi according to the Former Sale and Purchase Agreements;
and (iii) the profit earning ratios of a number of listed companies engaging similar business in the
telecommunication sector in Hong Kong ranging from about 0.13 to 125 times. For details of Media
Magic and its future prospect and business plan, please refer to the sections headed “INFORMATION
OF THE MEDIA MAGIC GROUP” and “REASONS FOR THE ACQUISITION” below.

The Consideration represents 9.98 price earnings multiple (which is the lower range of the profit
earning ratios of a number of listed companies engaging similar business in the telecommunication
section in Hong Kong as stated above) of the Former Profit Guarantee and equity interests to be
acquired in Media Magic (i.e. HK$33,000,000 x 9.98 x 25% = HK$82,335,000).



LETTER FROM THE BOARD

The Consideration represents approximately 11.15 times based on attributable 25% equity interest
in the Media Magic Group’s audited net assets value of approximately HK$29,538,000 as at 31 March
2008, i.e. approximately HK$7,385,000. The financial information of the Media Magic Group is further
provided in the section headed “INFORMATION OF THE MEDIA MAGIC GROUP” below.

The Directors consider that the prospect of a service based business lies on its earning potentials,
rather than on its net asset value, as such, comparison with the price earnings multiple is a more
reasonable reference rather than comparison with the net asset value of the Media Magic Group.

In view of the above, the Directors (including the independent non-executive Directors) consider
the Consideration to be fair and reasonable and that the Sale and Purchase Agreement is on normal
commercial terms and its terms are fair and reasonable and the entering into of the Sale and Purchase
Agreement is in the interests of the Group and the Shareholders as a whole.

Conditions precedent

Completion of the Acquisition is subject to, among other matters, the following conditions
having been fulfilled or waived under the Sale and Purchase Agreement (as the case may be):

(a) all necessary consents and approvals required to be obtained on the part of the Vendors
in respect of the Sale and Purchase Agreement and the transactions contemplated thereby
having been obtained;

(b)  the passing by the Independent Shareholders at the SGM approving the Sale and Purchase
Agreement and the transactions contemplated hereunder, including but not limited to
the allotment and issue of the Consideration Shares to the Vendors at the Issue Price
credited as fully paid, the issue of the Convertible Bonds and allotment and issue of the
Conversion Shares;

(¢) the satisfaction of the Purchaser to the results of due diligence on the assets, liabilities,
operation and other major business of the Media Magic Group;

(d) the warranties remaining true and accurate in all respects; and

(e) the GEM Listing Committee of the Stock Exchange granting the listing of and permission
to deal in the Consideration Shares and Conversion Shares.

The Directors are not aware of any consents or approvals that are required to be obtained on the
part of Upper Power (except for obtaining Independent Shareholders’ approval on the Acquisition and
the allotment and issue of Consideration Shares and Conversion Shares at the SGM) and the Vendors
under conditions (a) above. Pursuant to the Sale and Purchase Agreement, all conditions except (c)
and (d) are not waivable by Upper Power, however, Upper Power does not have any intention to waive
such conditions (c¢) and (d).
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Long stop date

The Sale and Purchase Agreement provides that should the satisfaction of all of its conditions,
if not waived by Upper Power, not occur on or before 15 May 2009 or such later date (the “Long
Stop Date”) as Upper Power and the Vendors may agree, the Sale and Purchase Agreement shall
terminate and neither Upper Power nor the Vendors shall have any liability thereunder other than
antecedent breaches.

Completion

Completion of the Sale and Purchase Agreement shall take place at 4:00 p.m. within three
Business Days after all the conditions of the Sale and Purchase Agreement having been fulfilled or
waived or such later date as may be agreed between the Vendors and the Purchaser.

If the conditions set out above have not been satisfied (or as the case may be, waived by the
Purchaser) on or before the Long Stop Date, or such later date as the Vendors and the Purchaser
may agree, the Vendors shall forthwith refund to the Purchaser the Deposit paid by the Purchaser,
without interest and the Sale and Purchase Agreement shall cease and determine and thereafter neither
party shall have any obligation and liabilities towards each other thereunder save for any antecedent
breaches of the terms thereof.

If the conditions set out above have been fulfilled or waived on or before the Long Stop Date,
but Completion does not take place as a result of the sole default of the Purchaser, the Vendors may
forthwith determine the Sale and Purchase Agreement by giving notice of termination in writing to
the Purchaser to such effect, in which event the Vendors shall be entitled to forfeit the Deposit paid
by the Purchaser absolutely and neither party shall have any obligations and liabilities towards each
other and neither party shall take any action to claim for damages or to enforce specific performance
or any other rights and remedies save for any antecedent breaches of the terms thereof.

If the conditions set out above have been fulfilled or waived on or before the Long Stop Date,
but Completion does not take place otherwise than as a result of the sole default of the Purchaser, the
Purchaser may forthwith determine the Sale and Purchase Agreement by giving notice of termination
in writing to the Vendors to such effect, in which event the Vendors shall forthwith refund the Deposit
paid by the Purchaser without interest to the Purchaser and neither party shall have any obligations
and liabilities towards each other and neither party shall take any action to claim for damages or to
enforce specific performance or any other rights and remedies save for any antecedent breaches of
the terms thereof.

Before the Acquisition, Media Magic is an indirect non wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company.
Upon completion of the Sale and Purchase Agreement, the Company will hold indirectly 100% equity
interests in Media Magic with Media Magic continues to a subsidiary of the Company and with its
consolidated accounts being consolidated with that of the Group.

-10-
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Group Structure

The diagram below shows separately the structure of the Group immediately before and after
completion of the Acquisition:

Before completion of the Acquisition:

Palmpay China (Holdings) Limited
(Incorporated in Bermuda)

100%

Upper Power Limited
(Incorporated in BVI)

Vendor A Vendor B Vendor C

1.3% 16.3% 7.4%

75%

Media Magic Technology Limited
(Incorporated in BVI)

100%

Multi Channel Technology Limited
(Incorporated in Hong Kong)

100%

PalmPay Technology Co. Ltd.
(ALt BB R HOA PR )
(Established in the PRC)

- 11 -
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After completion of the Acquisition:

Palmpay China (Holdings) Limited

(Incorporated in Bermuda)

100%

Upper Power Limited
(Incorporated in BVI)

100%

Media Magic Technology Limited
(Incorporated in BVI)

100%

Multi Channel Technology Limited
(Incorporated in Hong Kong)

100%

PalmPay Technology Co. Ltd.
(et BB PR )
(Established in the PRC)

-12 -



LETTER FROM THE BOARD

THE CONSIDERATION SHARES

The 236,363,636 new Shares will be issued at an Issue Price of HK$0.11 per Consideration
Share, credited as fully paid. The Consideration Shares, when allotted and issued, shall rank pari
passu in all respects with the Shares in issue on the date of allotment and issue of the Consideration
Shares including the right to all dividends, distributions and other payments made or to be made, on
the record date which falls on or after the date of such allotment and issue.

The Issue Price represents:

(1) a discount of approximately 12% to the closing price of HK$0.125 per Share as quoted
on the Stock Exchange on 26 February 2009, being the last trading day immediately prior
to the entering into of the Sale and Purchase Agreement;

(ii)  a discount of approximately 12% to the closing price of HK$0.125 per Share as quoted
on the Stock Exchange for the last five consecutive trading days up to and including 26
February 2009, being the last trading day immediately prior to the entering into of the
Sale and Purchase Agreement;

(iii) adiscount of approximately 10.93% to the closing price of HK$0.1235 per Share as quoted
on the Stock Exchange for the last ten consecutive trading days up to and including 26
February 2009, being the last trading day immediately prior to the entering into of the
Sale and Purchase Agreement; and

(iv) adiscount of approximately 40.54% to the closing price of HK$0.185 per Share as quoted
on the Stock Exchange on the Latest Practicable Date; and

(v)  a discount of approximately 18.52% to the net asset value per Share of approximately
HKS$0.135 based on the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group as at 31
March 2008 and the total number of issued Shares of 1,566,375,508 Shares as at the
Latest Practicable Date.

Based on the closing price of HK$0.125 per Share as quoted on the Stock Exchange on 26
February 2009, being the last trading day immediately prior to the entering into of the Sale and Purchase
Agreement, the Consideration Shares has a total market value of approximately HK$29,545,454.50.

The Consideration Shares of 236,363,636 new Shares, of which 12,290,909 new Shares will be
issued to Vendor A, 154,109,091 new Shares will be issued to Vendor B and 69,963,636 new Shares
will be issued to Vendor C, representing in aggregate approximately 15.09% of the existing issued share
capital of the Company, approximately 13.11% of the issued share capital of the Company as enlarged
by the allotment and issue of the Consideration Shares and approximately 10.83% of the issued share
capital of the Company as enlarged by the allotment and issue of both the Consideration Shares and
the Conversion Shares, assuming the Conversion Shares were to be issued at the Conversion Price.

~13-
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The 12,290,909 new Shares will be issued to Vendor A representing approximately 0.78% of
the existing issued share capital of the Company, approximately 0.68% of the issued share capital of
the Company as enlarged by the allotment and issue of the Consideration Shares and approximately
0.56% of the issued share capital of the Company as enlarged by the allotment and issue of both the
Consideration Shares and the Conversion Shares, assuming the Conversion Shares were to be issued
at the Conversion Price.

The 154,109,091 new Shares will be issued to Vendor B representing approximately 9.84% of
the existing issued share capital of the Company, approximately 8.55% of the issued share capital of
the Company as enlarged by the allotment and issue of the Consideration Shares and approximately
7.06% of the issued share capital of the Company as enlarged by the allotment and issue of both the
Consideration Shares and the Conversion Shares, assuming the Conversion Shares were to be issued
at the Conversion Price.

The 69,963,636 new Shares will be issued to Vendor C representing approximately 4.47% of
the existing issued share capital of the Company, approximately 3.88% of the issued share capital of
the Company as enlarged by the allotment and issue of the Consideration Shares and approximately
3.21% of the issued share capital of the Company as enlarged by the allotment and issue of both the
Consideration Shares and the Conversion Shares, assuming the Conversion Shares were to be issued
at the Conversion Price.

Upon the allotment and issue of the Consideration Shares and the Conversion Shares, there will

not be any change in control of the Company.

The Issue Price was arrived at by the Vendors and the Purchaser after taking into consideration
of (i) the average recent trading prices of the Shares during the course of negotiation; and (ii) 6 months
lock-up period for the Consideration Shares which may secure the medium-term commitment on the
part of the Vendors in the Consideration Shares that minimizes fluctuations in prices of the Shares
caused by the Vendors in short run, the Directors (including the independent non-executive Directors)
consider that the Issue Price is fair and reasonable, on normal commercial terms and in the interests
of the Group and the Shareholders as a whole.

Mandate to issue Consideration Shares

The Directors will seek a specific mandate from the Independent Shareholders at the SGM to
allot and issue the Consideration Shares.

- 14 -
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Restriction on disposal

The Vendors undertake to and covenants with the Purchaser that, it will not, within the period
commencing on the date of Completion and ending on the date falling six months after Completion,
transfer or otherwise dispose of or create any encumbrance or other rights in respect of the Consideration
Shares or any interest therein or grant any options or rights in respect of any of the Consideration
Shares without prior written approval from the Purchaser.

Application for listing

Application has been made by the Company to the GEM Listing Committee of the Stock Exchange
for the listing of, and permission to deal in, the Consideration Shares and the Convertible Shares.

THE CONVERTIBLE BONDS

To satisfy part of the Consideration, the Company will issue to the Vendors the Convertible
Bonds in the principal amount of HK$49,335,000 (i.e. HK$2,565,420 for Vendor A, HK$32,166,420
for Vendor B and HK$14,603,160 for Vendor C) by issue of the Convertible Bonds.

The following is a summary of the principal terms of the Convertible Bonds:

Conversion Price: HK$0.13 per Share, subject to usual anti-dilution adjustments
in certain events such as share consolidation, share subdivision,
capitalisation issue, capital distribution, rights issue and other
equity or equity derivatives issues. Such adjustments will be
certified by an independent approved merchant bank or the
auditors of the Company for the then time being.

The Conversion Price of HK$0.13 per Conversion Share
represents:

(1) a premium of approximately 4% over the closing price of
HK$0.125 per Share as quoted on the Stock Exchange on
26 February 2009, being the last trading day immediately
prior to the entering into of the Sale and Purchase
Agreement;

(ii) a premium of approximately 4% over the closing price
of HK$0.125 per Share as quoted on the Stock Exchange
for the last five consecutive trading days up to and
including 26 February 2009, being the last trading day
immediately prior to the entering into of the Sale and
Purchase Agreement;
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(iii) a premium of approximately 5.26% over the closing
price of HK$0.1235 per Share as quoted on the Stock
Exchange for the last ten consecutive trading days up to
and including 26 February 2009, being the last trading
day immediately prior to the entering into of the Sale and
Purchase Agreement;

(iv) a discount of approximately 29.73% to the closing price
of HK$0.185 per Share as quoted on the Stock Exchange
on the Latest Practicable Date; and

(v) a discount of approximately 3.7% to the net asset value
per Share of approximately HK$0.135 based on the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group as at 31
March 2008 and the total number of issued Shares of
1,566,375,508 Shares as at the Latest Practicable Date.

The Conversion Price was determined at after arm’s length
negotiations among the Purchaser, the Vendors and the Company
with reference to average recent market prices of the Shares and
the Issue Price. The Conversion Price is set at a higher price
than the Issue Price and represents a premium of 18.18% over
the Issue Price in view of the maturity period of the Convertible
Bonds of three years.

Maturity: Three years.

Interest rate: The Convertible Bonds will carry interest of 1% per annum,
payable semi-annually.

Transferability: The Bondholder(s) may assign or transfer the Convertible Bonds to
Independent Third Parties in whole or in part in integral multiples
of HK$1,000,000 or if the outstanding principal amount of the
Convertible Bonds is less than HK$1,000,000, the whole but not
part of the Convertible Bonds may be assigned or transferred.
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Conversion: Under the terms of the Convertible Bonds, the shareholding of
each of the Vendors and its respective parties acting in concert
on any conversion of the Convertible Bonds must not exceed
30% or more of the issued share capital of the Company on the
date of the conversion and that any conversion will not trigger
off a general offer under rule 26 of the Codes on the part of
the Vendors and its respective parties acting in concert. The
Company will not issue the Conversion Shares to the Vendors
if the shareholding of each of the Vendors and its respective
parties acting in concert upon any conversion of the Convertible
Bonds exceeds 30% or more of the issue share capital of the
Company.

Subject to the above, the Vendors will have the right to convert
the whole or part of the principal amount of the Convertible Bonds
into Shares during the conversion period in amounts of not less
than a whole multiple of HK$1,000,000 on each conversion.

Conversion period: Bondholder(s) shall have the right to convert, from the date of
issue of the Convertible Bonds up to and including the maturity
date, the whole or any part (in an amount or integral multiple
of HK$1,000,000) of the principal amount of the Convertible
Bonds into Conversion Shares.

Conversion Shares: Upon full conversion of the Convertible Bonds at the Conversion
Price, an aggregate of 379,500,000 Conversion Shares will be
allotted and issued by the Company (representing approximately
24.23% of the existing issued share capital of the Company,
approximately 21.05% of the issued share capital of the Company
as enlarged by the allotment and issue of the Consideration
Shares and approximately 17.39% of the issued share capital
of the Company as enlarged by the allotment and issue of both
the Consideration Shares and the Conversion Shares, assuming
the Conversion Shares were to be issued at the Conversion
Price. However, under the terms of the Convertible Bonds, the
shareholding of each of the Vendors and its respective parties
acting in concert on any conversion of the Convertible Bonds
must not exceed 30% or more of the issued share capital of the
Company on the date of the conversion and will not trigger off
a general offer under rule 26 of the Codes on the part of the
Vendors and its respective parties acting in concert.
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The Conversion Shares to be issued as a result of the exercise
of the conversion rights attaching to the Convertible Bonds will
rank pari passu in all respects with all other Shares in issue at the
date on which the conversion rights attached to the Convertible
Bonds are exercised. The Conversion Shares will be allotted and
issued pursuant to the specific mandate to be sought at the SGM
and will be allotted and issued upon exercise by the Vendors.

Voting: A Bondholder will not be entitled to receive notice of, attend
or vote, at any general meeting of the Company by reason only
of it being a Bondholder.

Listing: No application will be made for the listing of the Convertible
Bonds on the Stock Exchange or any other stock exchange. An
application has been made by the Company for the listing of
and permission to deal in the Conversion Shares to be issued.

Ranking: The Convertible Bonds will rank pari passu with all other present
and future unsecured and un-subordinated obligations of the
Company.

Redemption: Unless previously converted or lapsed or redeemed by the

Company, the Company will redeem the Convertible Bonds on
the respective maturity dates of the Convertible Bonds.

The Company may at any time before the respective maturity
dates of the Convertible Bonds by serving prior written notice on
the Bondholder(s) with the total amount proposed to be redeemed
from the Bondholder(s) specified therein, redeem the Convertible
Bonds (in whole or in part) at par plus interest accrued.

Any amount of the Convertible Bond(s) which remains outstanding
on the respective maturity dates of the Convertible Bonds shall
be redeemed at its then outstanding principal amount, inclusive
of interest as accrued.
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CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDING STRUCTURE

As at the Latest Practicable Date, the Company has 1,566,375,508 Shares in issue, 164,560,000
outstanding share options, 267,304,635 non-listed warrants issued on 11 September 2007, 6,986,899
conversion shares to be allotted and issued upon conversion of the convertible bonds issued pursuant
to the Former Sale and Purchase Agreements.

To the best of the Directors’ knowledge, information and belief, having made all reasonable
enquiries, the following table sets out the shareholding structure of the Company (i) as at the Latest
Practicable Date and before Completion; (ii) immediately after Completion and the allotment and
issue of the Consideration Shares; (iii) immediately after allotment and issue of the Consideration
Shares and full conversion of the Convertible Bonds at the Conversion Price assuming no further
Shares (including exercise of the outstanding share options, non-listed warrants and convertible bonds
issued pursuant to the Former Sale and Purchase Agreements) will be issued or no Shares will be
repurchased before the allotment and issue of the Consideration Shares and Conversion Shares; and
(iv) immediately after the allotment and issue of the Consideration Shares and the Conversion Shares,
exercise of 164,560,000 share options, 267,304,635 warrants and 6,986,899 conversion shares pursuant
to the Former Sale and Purchase Agreements:

Immediately after
the allotment and issue
of the Consideration
Shares, before allotment
and issue of the
Conversion Shares,
and before exercise of

Immediately after the
allotment and issue of

Immediately after the
allotment and issue of the
Consideration Shares

As at the Latest the Consideration Shares

Practicable Date before and the Conversion

Shares, and exercise of

and the Conversion

the allotment and Shares, and before exercise

issue of the

164,560,000 share options

of 164,560,000 share options

164,560,000 share options

Consideration and 267,304,635 warrants ~ and 267,304,635 warrants  and 267,304,635 warrants
Shares and and 6,986,899 conversion and 6,986,899 and 6,986,899
Shareholders Conversion Shares shares conversion shares conversion shares
Number of ~ Approximate ~ Number of ~ Approximate  Number of ~ Approximate ~ Number of  Approximate
Shares % Shares % Shares % Shares %
Starryland Profits

Limited (Note I) 351,354,000 22.43% 351,354,000 19.49% 351,354,000 16.10% 351,354,000 13.40%
Mr. Lau Kim Hung,

Jack (Note 1) 12,408,000 0.79% 12,408,000 0.69% 12,408,000 0.57% 12,408,000 0.47%
Subtotal 363,762,000 23.22% 363,762,000 20.18% 363,762,000 16.67% 363,762,000 13.87%
Vendor B (Note 4) - - - - 412,343,091 18.89% 412,343,091 15.73%
Big Well Investments

Limited (Note 6) - - - - - - 267,304,635 10.20%
Hsu Tung Sheng (Note 2) 900,000 0.06% 900,000 0.05% 900,000 0.04% 15,740,000 0.60%
Ho Hoi Lap (Note 2) 2,544,000 0.16% 2,544,000 0.14% 2,544,000 0.12% 15,744,000 0.60%
Hsu Tung Chi (Note 2) 65,074,000 4.15% 65,074,000 3.61% 65,074,000 298% 82,534,087 3.15%
Chan Hin Wing, James (Note 2) - - - - - - 14,840,000 0.57%
Chan Francis Ping Kuen (Note 2) - - - - - - 28,360,000 1.08%
Subtotal 68,518,000 437% 68,518,000 3.80% 480,861,001 22.03% 836,865,813 31.93%

-19-



LETTER FROM THE BOARD

As at the Latest
Practicable Date before
the allotment and
issue of the

Immediately after
the allotment and issue
of the Consideration
Shares, before allotment
and issue of the
Conversion Shares,
and before exercise of
164,560,000 share options

Immediately after the
allotment and issue of
the Consideration Shares
and the Conversion

Shares, and before exercise
of 164,560,000 share options

Immediately after the
allotment and issue of the
Consideration Shares
and the Conversion
Shares, exercise of
164,560,000 share options

Consideration and 267,304,635 warrants ~ and 267,304,635 warrants  and 267,304,635 warrants
Shares and and 6,986,899 conversion and 6,986,899 and 6,986,899
Shareholders Conversion Shares shares conversion shares conversion shares
Number of ~ Approximate  Number of ~ Approximate ~ Number of ~ Approximate ~ Number of — Approximate
Shares % Shares % Shares % Shares %
Public

Vendor A (Note 3) 101,581,333 6.48% 113,872,242 60.32% 133,606,242 6.12% 137,973,054 5.26%

Vendor B (Note 4) 10,800,000 0.69% 164,909,091 9.15% - - -

Vendor C (Note 5) 7,920,000 0.51% 77,883,636 432% 190,215,636 8.72% 190,215,636 7.26%
Employees and consultants - - - - - - 78,480,000 3.00%
Other public Shareholders 1,013,794,175 64.73% 1,013,794,175 56.23% 1,013,794,175 46.46% 1,013,794,175 38.68%

Subtotal 1,134,095,508 72.41% 1,370,459,144 76.02% 1,337,616,053 61.30% 1,420,462,865 54.20%
Total 1,566,375,508 100.00% 1,802,739,144 100.00% 2,182,239,144 100.00% 2,621,090,678 100.00%
Notes:

Starryland Profits Limited is wholly and beneficially owned by Mr. Lau Kim Hung, Jack (“Mr. Lau”) who does
not hold any position in the Group. Mr. Lau is deemed to be interested in 351,354,000 Shares held by Starryland
Profits Limited. In addition, by virtue of being the spouse of Ms. Chan Yiu Kan Katie, he is also deemed to be
interested in 1,200,000 Shares held by Ms. Chan Yiu Kan Katie.

Mr. Hsu Tung Sheng is an executive Director and chief executive officer of the Company. Dr. Ho Hoi Lap is
non-executive Director and chairman of the Company. Mr. Hsu Tung Chi, Mr. Chan Hin Wing, James and Mr.
Chan Francis Ping Kuen are executive Directors.

Vendor A and his parties acting in concert will hold less than 30% of the total issued Shares at any time after
Completion.

10,800,000 Shares were held by the ultimate beneficial owner of Vendor B. Vendor B and its parties acting in
concert will hold less than 30% of the total issued Shares at any time after Completion.

7,920,000 Shares were held by the ultimate beneficial owner of Vendor C. Vendor C and its parties acting in
concert will hold less than 30% of the total issued Shares at any time after Completion.

Big Well Investments Limited is a company incorporated in BVI which is a subscriber of 223,000,000 non-listed
warrants under the private placing of non-listed warrants as disclosed in the announcements of the Company
dated 27 August 2007 and 1 September 2007 conferring rights to Big Well Investments Limited to subscribe
for 223,000,000 Shares. After the bonus issue adjustment, the number of non-listed warrants is adjusted to
267,304,635.
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INFORMATION ON THE VENDORS

Vendor A is a previous vendor of Media Magic in relation to the Former Sale and Purchase
Agreements. Apart from being a shareholder of Media Magic, Vendor A does not assume any role in
Media Magic. Vendor A does not have any relationship with Mr. Lau, a substantial Shareholder.

Vendor B, an investment holding company, apart from being substantial shareholder of Media
Magic, does not have any relationship with Mr. Lau and the previous vendors of Media Magic in
relation to the Former Sale and Purchase Agreements. The original purchase cost of 16.3% interests
in Media Magic by Vendor B was US$9,055.

Vendor C, an investment holding company, apart from being a shareholder of Media Magic,
does not have any relationship with Mr. Lau and the previous vendors of Media Magic in relation to
the Former Sale and Purchase Agreements.

To the best of the Directors’ knowledge, information and belief, having made all reasonable
enquiries, Vendor A, Vendor B and Vendor C are independent of each other.

Vendor A, Vendor B, Vendor C, Mr. Lau and the previous vendors of Media Magic in relation
to the Former Sale and Purchase Agreements are not parties acting in concert.

INFORMATION OF THE MEDIA MAGIC GROUP
Business carried on by Media Magic and PalmPay Technology

Media Magic is a company incorporated in BVI on 5 January 2004 and commenced operation
from September 2006, which principally engaged in the provision of diversified mobile value-added
services, including but not limited to, the provision of mobile online games, patented popular electronic
cartoon characters and animation series download etc. and investment holding, for mobile users in the
PRC through franchising and cooperation with telecommunication business licensed providers.

PalmPay Technology, being the principal operating subsidiary of the Media Magic Group, is a
PRC enterprise established on 20 March 2005, which is currently engaged principally in the mobile
payment gateway business in the PRC. Mobile payment gateway business refers to the provision of
online mobile payment services such as online shopping and payment of service bills by the services
providers to mobile phone users. The product variety of PalmPay Technology has been enlarged compared
with that at the time of its commencement of business in September 2006. PalmPay Technology is
currently selling a variety of products through its mobile payment platforms, such as IP cards, virtual
game cards and accident insurance products.
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Set out below is a summary of key financial data of the Media Magic Group, which has been

Results

Turnover

Profit before tax
Profit before tax (%)
Profit after tax
Profit after tax (%)

For the
nine months ended
31 December 2008

approximately
HK$
(audited)

41,144,000
28,614,000
69.55%
28,377,000
68.97%

As at 31 December

prepared based on the generally accepted accounting principles in Hong Kong:

For the

year ended

31 March 2008
approximately
HKS$

(audited)

36,523,000
23,371,000
63.99%
21,201,000
58.05%

As at 31 March

For the

year ended

31 March 2007
approximately
HK$

(audited)

3,177,000
1,428,000
44.95%
931,000
29.30%

As at 31 March

2008 2008 2007
approximately approximately approximately
HK$ HK$ HKS$
(audited) (audited) (audited)

Assets and liabilities
Total assets 111,172,000 61,997,000 21,309,000
Net assets value 58,722,000 29,538,000 6,653,000

As at of the Latest Practicable Date, PalmPay Technology, through cooperation with China
Unicom (H'[E¥#H) (i) has already penetrated its mobile payment gateway business into 15 major
provinces and municipal cities in the PRC covering Shanghai (%), Liaoning (#%£), Chongqing
(FE B, Jilin (5 #), Guangxi (& 75), Hunan (W), Hubei (##3dt), Heilongjiang (B HEYL), Shaanxi
(BEVE), Guizhou (E M), Gansu (H&H), Inner Mongolia (A5¢), Yunnan (Z£59), Xinjiang GH1#8) and
Sichuen (P4JI]); (ii) is also in advanced stage of negotiations with China Unicom ("' [E§i%i) for the
provision of mobile payment gateway services in 6 other major provinces/municipal cities in the PRC
such as Guangdong (& ), Beijing (JL%%), Fujian (ff %) and Shandong (LI 3{). It is expected by the
management of the Media Magic Group that full scale operations for a total of 21 major provinces/
municipal cities in the PRC for the provision of mobile payment gateway services will be available
by the second quarter of this year.

Based on the audited accounts of the Media Magic Group for the nine months ended 31 December
2008, turnover of the Media Magic Group derived from its mobile payment gateway business was
approximately HK$41.14 million, representing an increase of approximately 71.66% when compared
with that of the corresponding period of the previous year, which provides stable income and cashflow
to the Group.
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Following full scale operations of the mobile payment gateway services in 21 major provinces/

municipal cities in the PRC by the second quarter of this year, the Directors believe that the Media

Magic Group will generate steady source of income as well as bringing promising returns to the

Group in the near future.

Management discussion and analysis of the results of the Media Magic Group

(i)

Financial and business performance
For the year ended 31 March 2006

There was no turnover and direct cost of sales for the period ended 31 March 2006
as the Media Magic Group did not commence its operation during the year.

For the year ended 31 March 2007

The Media Magic Group commenced its operation since September 2006 and was
principally engaged in the mobile payment gateway services through its indirect wholly
owned subsidiary i.e. PalmPay Technology in four provinces and municipal cities in the
PRC, i.e. Shanghai (_'¥#), Liaoning (3 %), Guangxi (f&7Y) and Jilin (5 #). Turnover
for the year amounted to approximately HK$3.2 million. There was no direct cost of
sales incurred in the year.

For the year ended 31 March 2008

Turnover for the year amounted to approximately HK$36.5 million. The significant
increase in turnover was due to the operation of the mobile payment gateway services in
twelve provinces or municipal cities in the PRC, i.e. Shanghai (_E7), Liaoning (E ),
Guangxi (& 79) and Jilin (% #), Hunan (#179), Guizhou (& /M), Gansu (H&fd), Hubei
(#dk), Chongqing (FEE¥), Shaanxi (PRPY), Inner Mongolia (A 5¢) and Heilongjiang (&
HEIL).

For nine months ended 31 December 2008

Turnover for the period amounted to approximately HK$41.14 million which was
derived from the mobile payment gateway services in fifteen provinces or municipal
cities in the PRC, i.e. Shanghai (_[:7#), Liaoning (3 %), Guangxi (& 79) and Jilin (7 #f),
Hunan (#1#), Guizhou (& M), Gansu (H &), Hubei (#dt), Chongqing (FE B¥), Shaanxi
(B&P4), Inner Mongolia (IN5¢) and Heilongiiang (F2HEVL), Yunan (ZW™), Xinjiang CHf
%) and Sichuan (PUJI]).
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(ii)  Capital structure

The Media Magic Group’s capital structure as at 31 March 2006 consisted of shareholders’
equity of approximately HK$390,000 as registered capital and deficit of approximately
HK$38,000.

The Media Magic Group’s capital structure as at 31 March 2007 consisted of shareholders’
equity of approximately HK$433,000 as registered capital and approximately HK$5,851,000
as reserves.

The Media Magic Group’s capital structure as at 31 March 2008 consisted of shareholders’
equity of approximately HK$433,000 as registered capital and approximately HK$29,105,000

as reserves.

The Media Magic Group’s capital structure as at 31 December 2008 consisted of
shareholders’ equity of approximately HK$433,000 as registered capital and approximately
HK$58,289,000 as reserves.

(iii) Liquidity and financial resources

As at 31 March 2006, there were no long-term liabilities and bank borrowings.

As at 31 March 2007, cash and bank balances amounted to approximately HK$955,000
and there were no long-term liabilities and bank borrowings.

As at 31 March 2008, cash and bank balances amounted to approximately HK$1,039,000
and there were no long-term liabilities and bank borrowings.

As at 31 December 2008, cash and bank balances amounted to approximately HK$659,000
and there were no long-term liabilities and bank borrowings.

(iv) Significant investments

As at 31 March 2006, 31 March 2007, 31 March 2008 and 31 December 2008, Media
Magic did not have any significant investment.

_24 -



LETTER FROM THE BOARD

(v)  Material acquisitions or disposals of subsidiaries and affiliated companies

Multi Channel Technology Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Media Magic
Group, completed the acquisition of the entire interest in PalmPay Technology on 18 October
2007. Save as disclosed, there was no material acquisition and disposal of subsidiaries and
affiliated companies.

(vi) Existing business of the Media Magic Group

As a result of the Acquisition, the Directors expect to expand the existing customer
base, operation scale and variety of services provided by the Media Magic Group to meet the
market demand.

(vii) Segment information

For each of the periods and years ended 31 March 2006, 2007 and 2008 and 31 December
2008, the Media Magic Group’s turnover and operating assets were attributable to the mobile
payment gateway services in the PRC. Accordingly, no analysis by either business or geographical
segment was noted.

(viii) Number of employees and remuneration policies

For the year ended 31 March 2006, the Media Magic Group did not have any employee.
For the years and period ended 31 March 2007, 31 March 2008 and 31 December 2008, the
Media Magic Group has about 25, 50 and 50 employees respectively, total salary and allowances
amounted to about HK$308,000, HK$2,642,000 and HK$2,164,000. The Media Magic Group’s
remuneration policy includes a pension scheme. Please refer to Accountants’ Report of the
Media Magic Group as shown in Appendix II to this circular for details.

(ix) Charges on Media Magic’s assets

There was no charge on the Media Magic Group’s assets as at 31 March 2006, 31 March
2007, 31 March 2008 and 31 December 2008.

(x)  Future plans for material investments

As at the Latest Practicable Date, there are no proposed material investments of the
Media Magic Group.
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(xi) Exposure to exchange rates

Most of the transactions of the Media Magic Group were denominated in Renminbi. As
the exchange of Renminbi to Hong Kong Dollars were fairly stable. Hence, no hedging or other
arrangements to reduce the currency risk were implemented.

(xii) Contingent liabilities

There were no contingent liabilities of the Media Magic Group as at 31 March 2006, 31
March 2007, 31 March 2008 and 31 December 2008.

(xiii) Gearing

There were no bank borrowings as at as 31 March 2006, 31 March 2007, 31 March 2008
and 31 December 2008.

FINANCIAL EFFECT OF THE ACQUISITION ON ASSETS, EARNINGS AND LIABILITIES
OF THE COMPANY

(1) Assets

Based on the unaudited proforma financial information of the Enlarged Group as shown in
Appendix III to this circular, the unaudited pro forma net assets value of the Enlarged Group is about
HK$266.62 million as if completion of the Acquisition could have taken place on 30 September 2008.
The increase in unaudited net assets value of the Enlarged Group is mainly attributable to the goodwill
arising from the acquisition of the Media Magic Group and the increase in share capital and reserves
as a result of the issue of 236,363,636 Consideration Shares.

(2) Earnings

As described under the sections “INFORMATION OF THE MEDIA MAGIC GROUP” and
“REASONS FOR THE ACQUISITION”, it is expected that upon completion of the Acquisition. Media
Magic will become an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company and the Group will account
for all profit derived from mobile payment gateway business of the Media Magic Group.

(3) Liabilities

Based on the unaudited proforma financial information of the Enlarged Group as shown in the
Appendix III to this circular, the unaudited pro forma total liabilities of the Enlarged Group will be
increased to approximately HK$43.97 million as if completion of the Acquisition could have taken
place on 30 September 2008. The increase is mainly due to the issue of Convertible Bonds in relation
to the Acquisition.
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REASONS FOR THE ACQUISITION

Upper Power is an investment holding company. The Group is principally engaged in the
provision of mobile payment gateway services.

As stated in the announcement of the Company dated 12 November 2007 in relation to the
acquisition of 24% interest in the Media Magic, the Directors believe that the business of the provision
of diversified mobile value added services is of great potential and prospects in the PRC. Taking into
account the significant growth of mobile payment gateway business during 2008, after due consideration,
the Directors believes that it is the right time to further acquire 25% equity interests in Media Magic,
upon Completion, Media Magic will become an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company
and the Group will account for all profit derived from mobile payment gateway business of the Media
Magic Group, which will optimize Shareholders’ interests in the long run.

Taking into account (i) the future prospect and potential of the telecommunication sector in
the PRC and PalmPay Technology; (ii) there is an increasing number of mobile phone users in the
PRC (current users have already reached 641 million by the end of December 2008 according to the
statistics released by the MIIT) under the environment of fast economic growth in the PRC and in
light of this, it is expected that there will be a growing demand for diversified mobile value-added
services; and (iii) the benefits of consolidating the business of the Media Magic Group as described
above, the Directors (including independent non-executive Directors) view that it is the right time
to increase its stake in Media Magic to capture potential opportunities in the booming mobile phone
market in the PRC and to achieve business growth for the Group and are of the view that the terms
of the Sale and Purchase Agreement, are fair and reasonable and the Acquisition is in the interests
of the Company and the Shareholders as a whole.

FINANCIAL AND TRADING PROSPECTS OF THE ENLARGED GROUP

The Group is principally engaged in the provision of mobile payment gateway services. As
mentioned in the third quarterly report of the Group for the nine months ended 31 December 2008,
the Group’s turnover, which solely derived from its mobile payment gateway business increased from
approximately HK$23.69 million of previous corresponding period to approximately HK$39.38 million,
represents an increase of approximately 66%. The net profit of the Group for the nine months ended
31 December 2008 increased from approximately HK$11.40 million of previous corresponding period
to approximately HK$17.16 million, represents an increase of approximately 51%. Such substantial
increase was in line with the consolidation of the Group as one of leading providers of mobile payment
gateway in the PRC.

Considering (i) the future prospect and potential of the telecommunication sector in the PRC;
and (ii) there is an increasing number of mobile phone users in the PRC and growing demand for
diversified mobile value-added services, the Directors (including independent non-executive Directors)
believes that it is the right time to increase the Group’s stake in the Media Magic Group to capture
potential opportunities in the booming mobile phone market in the PRC and to achieve significant
business growth potential and provides a stable income and cashflow to the Group.
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In an effort to establish a complete payment gateway solution in the PRC, the Group is
developing another advanced form of payment gateway based on the Near Field Communication
Technology (“NFC”). The Group has entered into a letter of intent with China Unicom ([ J 4 )
in February 2009 in relation to the development of Near Field Communication technology payment
gateway business in the PRC and firstly in Shanghai. The Group is in final negotiation stage with one
of the mobile telecommunication providers in the PRC, a leading bank in the PRC and a worldwide
credit card provider for the introduction and operation of such NFC payment gateway in the PRC on
a nation-wide basis.

The new NFC payment gateway will serve as an e-payment gateway and will compliment the
mobile payment gateway business of the Group and consolidate the Group’s leading position in the
payment gateway industry in the PRC. Hence, the Board is optimistic that the Group will achieve
good performance in the medium to long term.

GEM LISTING RULES IMPLICATIONS

The Sale and Purchase Agreement constitutes a major transaction for the Company under Chapter
19 of the GEM Listing Rules. As Vendor B is a substantial shareholder of Media Magic, which being a
subsidiary of the Company, Vendor B is a connected person of the Company. The Acquisition therefore
also constitutes a connected transaction for the Company under Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules.
The Acquisition is subject to the reporting, announcement and the Independent Shareholders’ approval
requirements by way of poll under Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules.

Approval of the Independent Shareholders by way of poll is proposed to be sought at the SGM
in respect of the Acquisition and the transactions contemplated thereunder including but not limited
to the issue of the Convertible Bonds, the allotment and issue of the Consideration Shares and the
Conversion Shares.

Vendor A, Vendor B and Vendor C and their respective associates, are, in aggregate, interested
in 120,301,333 Shares representing approximately 7.68% of the total issued Shares of 1,566,375,508
Shares as at the Latest Practicable Date and are required to abstain from voting in respect of the
Acquisition and the transactions contemplated thereunder at the forthcoming SGM. Save as disclosed,
no other Shareholders have material interest in the Acquisition and the transactions contemplated
thereunder and are required to abstain from voting in respect of the approval of the Acquisition and
the transactions contemplated thereunder at the forthcoming SGM.

The Independent Board Committee (comprising all the independent non-executive Directors)
will be established to advise the Independent Shareholders as to whether the terms of the Acquisition
and the transactions contemplated thereunder are on normal commercial terms, fair and reasonable
and in the interests of the Company and the Shareholders as a whole. The Independent Financial
Adviser to advise the Independent Board Committee and the Independent Shareholders has been
appointed accordingly. Neither of the independent non-executive Directors have any material interest
in the Acquisition.
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SGM

Set out on pages 192 to 193 is a notice convening the SGM to be held at Unit 1601, Ruttonjee
House, Ruttonjee Centre, 11 Duddell Street, Central, Hong Kong on Monday, 15 June 2009 at 11:00
a.m. at which relevant resolution(s) will be proposed to the Shareholders to consider and, if thought
fit, approve the Acquisition and the transactions contemplated thereunder, including but not limited
to the issue of the Convertible Bonds, the allotment and issue of the Consideration Shares and the
Conversion Shares.

To the best knowledge, information and belief of the Directors, having made all reasonable
enquiries, there is (i) no voting trust or other agreement or arrangement or understanding entered into
by or binding upon any Shareholder; and (ii) no obligation or entitlement of any Shareholder as at
the Latest Practicable Date, whereby its has or may have temporarily or permanently passed control
over the exercise of the voting right in respect of its Shares to a third party, either generally or on
a case-by-case basis.

There is no discrepancy between the beneficial shareholding interests of Vendors and its associates
in the Company as disclosed in this circular and the numbers of the Shares in respect of which it will
control or will be entitled to exercise control over the voting rights at the SGM.

A form of proxy for use at the SGM is enclosed with this circular. Whether or not you intend to
attend and vote at such meeting, you are requested to complete and return the enclosed form of proxy
to the Company’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor Tengis Limited at 26/F, Tesbury Centre,
28 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong in accordance with the instructions printed thereon as
soon as possible and in any event not less than 48 hours before the time appointed for holding the
SGM or any adjournment thereof. Completion and return of the form of proxy will not preclude you
from attending and voting in person at the SGM or any adjournment thereof should you so wish.

INDEPENDENT BOARD COMMITTEE

The Independent Board Committee which comprises Mr. Kwok Chi Sun, Vincent, Mr. Yeung
Kam Yan and Mr. Chan Kai Wing, all being the independent non-executive Directors, has been
established to advise the Independent Shareholders in respect of the Acquisition and the transaction
contemplated thereunder.

Nuada has been appointed as the independent financial adviser to advise the Independent
Board Committee and the Independent Shareholders in respect of the Acquisition and the transaction
contemplated thereunder.

The Independent Board Committee and the Directors, having taken into account the advice of the
Independent Financial Adviser, consider that the Acquisition was entered into on normal commercial
terms and that the terms of the Acquisition are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the Group
so far as the Independent Shareholders are concerned and accordingly recommends the Independent
Shareholders to vote in favour of the ordinary resolution(s) which will be proposed at the SGM for
approving the Acquisition and the transaction contemplated thereunder.
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The text of the letter from the Independent Board Committee is set out on pages 31 and 32 of
this circular and the text of the letter from the Independent Financial Adviser containing its advice
is set out on pages 33 to 49 of this circular.

RECOMMENDATION

The Board having taken into account the advice of the Independent Financial Adviser and the
Independent Board Committee considers that the terms of the Acquisition are fair and reasonable
and are in the interests of the Company and the Shareholders as a whole. Accordingly, the Board
recommends the Independent Shareholders to vote in favour of the ordinary resolution(s) as set out
in the notice of the SGM.

Your attention is drawn to (i) the letter from the Independent Board Committee set out on pages
31 and 32 of this circular which contains its views in relation to the Acquisition and transaction
contemplated thereunder; and (ii) the letter from the Independent Financial Adviser, which contains
its advice to the Independent Board Committee and the Independent Shareholders in relation to the
Acquisition and transaction contemplated thereunder and the principal factors and reasons considered
by it in arriving at its opinions. The text of the letter from the Independent Financial Adviser is set
out on pages 33 to 49 of this circular.

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

Your attention is drawn to the additional information set out in the appendices to this
circular.

Yours faithfully
For and on behalf of the Board
Palmpay China (Holdings) Limited
Chan Francis Ping Kuen
Executive Director
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Pailmpay

Palmpay China (Holdings) Limited
EFsﬁﬁ(%)ﬁI?E’A?

(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)
(Stock Code: 8047)

27 May 2009
To the Independent Shareholders

Dear Sir or Madam,

MAJOR AND CONNECTED TRANSACTION
INVOLVING ACQUISITION OF 25% INTERESTS IN
MEDIA MAGIC TECHNOLOGY LIMITED
WITH ISSUE OF CONSIDERATION SHARES
AND CONVERTIBLE BONDS

We refer to the circular of the Company dated 27 May 2009 (the “Circular”) to the Shareholders,
of which this letter forms part. Capitalised terms used in this letter shall have the same meanings as
defined in the Circular unless the context otherwise requires.

We have been appointed by the Board as members to form the Independent Board Committee
and to advise you as to whether the terms of the Acquisition are fair and reasonable so far as the
Independent Shareholders are concerned and are in the interests of the Company and the Shareholders
as a whole. Nuada Limited has been appointed to advise the Independent Board Committee and the
Independent Shareholders in this respect. Details of its advice, together with the principal factors
taken into consideration in arriving at such advice, is set out on pages 33 to 49 of the Circular.

Your attention is also drawn to the letter from the Board set out on pages 6 to 30 of the Circular
and the additional information set out in the appendices of the Circular.

*  for identification purposes only

_31 -



LETTER FROM THE INDEPENDENT BOARD COMMITTEE

Having considered the terms of the Acquisition, the principal reasons and factors considered
by, and the advice of Nuada Limited, we are of the opinion that the Acquisition and the transaction
contemplated thereunder is on normal commercial terms and the terms of the Acquisition are fair
and reasonable so far as the Independent Shareholders are concerned and are in the interests of the
Company and the Shareholders as a whole. Accordingly, we recommend the Independent Shareholders
to vote in favour of the resolution(s) to be proposed at the SGM to approve the Acquisition and the
transaction contemplated thereunder.

Yours faithfully,
Independent Board Committee of
Palmpay China (Holdings) Limited

Kwok Chi Sun Yeung Kam Yan Chan Kai Wing
Independent non-executive Independent non-executive Independent non-executive
Director Director Director
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The following is the text of a letter of advice from Nuada Limited in connection with the terms

of the Acquisition which has been prepared for inclusion in this circular.

M : 7th Floor, New York House
N U O d O LI m I Ted 60 Connaught Road Central

Corporate Finance Advisory Hong Kong

27 May 2009

To the Independent Board Committee and
the Independent Shareholders of
Palmpay China (Holdings) Limited

Dear Sirs,

MAJOR AND CONNECTED TRANSACTION
INVOLVING ACQUISITION OF 25% INTERESTS IN
MEDIA MAGIC TECHNOLOGY LIMITED
WITH ISSUE OF CONSIDERATION SHARES AND CONVERTIBLE BONDS

INTRODUCTION

We refer to our appointment as the independent financial adviser to advise the Independent Board
Committee and the Independent Shareholders as to whether the terms of the Acquisition are is fair and
reasonable and on normal commercial terms and the entering into of the Sale and Purchase Agreement
is in the interests of the Company and the Shareholders as a whole and whether the Independent
Shareholders should vote in favour of the resolution(s) to be proposed at the SGM. Details of the Sale
and Purchase Agreement is set out in the letter from the board (the “Letter”) in the circular to the
Shareholders dated 27 May 2009 (the “Circular”), of which this letter forms part. Unless otherwise
stated, terms used in this letter have the same meanings as those defined in the Circular.

The Independent Board Committee has been formed to advise the Independent Shareholders
as to whether the Consideration is fair and reasonable and the Sale and Purchase Agreement is on
normal commercial terms and its terms are fair and reasonable and the entering into of the Sale and
Purchase Agreement is in the interests of the Group and the Shareholders as a whole.

BASIS OF OUR OPINION

In formulating our opinion to the Independent Board Committee and the Independent Shareholders,
we have relied on the statements, information, opinions and representations contained in the Circular
and the information and representations provided to us by the Company and the Directors. We have
no reason to believe that any information and representations relied on by us in forming our opinion
is untrue, inaccurate or misleading, nor are we aware of any material facts the omission of which
would render the information provided and the representations made to us untrue, inaccurate or
misleading. We have assumed that all information, representations and opinions contained or referred
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to in the Circular, which have been provided by the Company and the Directors and for which they are
solely and wholly responsible, were true and accurate at the time they were made and continue to be
made the date hereof. We have also assumed the accuracy and truthfulness of the public information
available from the Ministry of Information Industry ("3 A R 3 A1 B {5 5 7 2£7F) and the National
Bureau of Statistics of China (*7#¢ A\ [ H1 B B X %t 51 J)) regarding the number of mobile telephone
subscribers in the PRC.

The Directors collectively and severally accept full responsibility for the accuracy of the
information contained in the Circular. The Directors have confirmed, having made all reasonable
enquiries, that to the best of their knowledge, opinions expressed in the Circular have been arrived
at after due and careful consideration and there are no other facts or representations the omission
of which would make any statement in the Circular, including this letter, misleading. We consider
that we have reviewed sufficient information to reach an informed view regarding the Acquisition,
and to justify our reliance on the accuracy of the information contained in the Circular and to form
a reasonable basis for our opinion. We have not, however, conducted any independent verification of
the information provided, nor have we carried out any in-depth investigation into the business, affairs
and prospects of the Group and the Media Magic Group or the markets in which they respectively
operate.

We have not studied, investigated nor verified the validity of all legal aspects of, and procedural
aspects for, the Sale and Purchase Agreement. We have further assumed that all material governmental,
regulatory or other consents, rights, waivers, authorisations, licenses, clearances and approvals
necessary for the effectiveness and implementation of the Sale and Purchase Agreement has been
or will be obtained and will not be withdrawn without any adverse effect on the Group, the assets
and liabilities of the Group or the contemplated benefits to the Group as derived from the Sale and
Purchase Agreement.

Our opinion is necessarily based upon the financial, economic (including exchange rates and
interest rates), market, regulatory and other conditions as they exist on, and the facts, information,
representations and opinions made available to us as of the Latest Practicable Date. Our opinion does
not in any manner address the Company’s own decision to proceed with the Acquisition. We disclaim
any undertaking or obligation to advise any person of any change in any fact or matter affecting the
opinion expressed herein, which may come or be brought to our attention after the Latest Practicable
Date.

BACKGROUND INFORMATION

Pursuant to the Sale and Purchase Agreement, 13,889 shares of Media Magic are to be purchased
by the Group from Vendors (722 shares, 9,055 shares and 4,112 shares of Media Magic from Vendor
A, Vendor B and Vendor C respectively) at a total consideration of HK$82,335,000. The consideration
of HK$7,000,000 will be satisfied by cash, of which HK$4,000,000 shall be payable within five
Business Days from the date of the Sale and Purchase Agreement and HK$3,000,000 shall be payable
on Completion. The remaining balance of HK$75,335,000 will be settled as to (i) HK$26,000,000 by
the issue of the Consideration Shares; and (ii) HK$49,335,000 by the issue of the Convertible Bonds
on Completion.
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The Sale and Purchase Agreement constitutes a major transaction for the Company under Chapter
19 of the GEM Listing Rules. As Vendor B is a substantial shareholder of Media Magic, which being a
subsidiary of the Company, Vendor B is a connected person of the Company. The Acquisition therefore
also constitutes a connected transaction for the Company under Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules.
The Acquisition is subject to the reporting, announcement and the Independent Shareholders’ approval
requirements by way of poll under Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules. Approval of the Independent
Shareholders by way of poll is proposed to be sought at the SGM in respect of the Acquisition and
the transactions contemplated thereunder.

Vendor A, Vendor B and Vendor C and their respective associates, who are, in aggregate,
interested in 120,301,333 Shares, representing approximately 7.68% of the total issued Shares of
the Company of 1,566,375,508 Shares as at the Latest Practicable Date, are required to abstain from
voting in respect of the Acquisition and the transaction contemplated thereunder at the forthcoming
SGM. Save as disclosed, no other Shareholder has any material interest in the Acquisition and are
required to abstain from voting in respect thereof at the forthcoming SGM.

PRINCIPAL FACTORS AND REASONS CONSIDERED

The principal factors and reasons we have taken into account in assessing the Sale and Purchase
Agreement and in giving our advice to the Independent Board Committee and the Independent
Shareholders are set out below:

Reasons for the Acquisition
The Group is principally engaged in the provision of mobile payment gateway services.

As mentioned in the Letter, the Directors believe that the business of the provision of diversified
mobile value-added services is of great potential and prospects in the PRC. The Directors are of the
view that, taking into account (i) the significant growth of mobile payment gateway business of Media
Magic Group during 2008; (ii) the future prospect and potential of the telecommunication section
in the PRC and Palmpay Technology; (iii) there is an increasing number of mobile phone users in
the PRC (current users have already reached 641 million by the end of December 2008 according
to the statistics released by the MIIT) under the environment of fast economic growth in the PRC
and in light of this, it is expected that there will be a growing demand for diversified mobile value-
added services; and (iv) the benefits of consolidating the business of the Media Magic Group into
the Group, the Directors view that it is the right time to increase its stake in Media Magic to capture
potential opportunities in the booming mobile phone market in the PRC and to achieve business growth
for the Group and are of the view that the terms of the Sale and Purchase Agreement, are fair and
reasonable and the Acquisition is in the interests of the Company and the Shareholders as a whole.
Upon Completion, Media Magic will become an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company
and the Group will account for all profit derived from mobile payment gateway business of the Media
Magic Group, which will optimize Shareholders’ interests in the long run.
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According to the financial information of the Media Magic Group, which has been prepared
based on the generally accepted accounting principles in Hong Kong, the profit margin of the Media
Magic Group increased from approximately 29.30% for the financial year ended 31 March 2007 to
approximately 58.05% for the financial year ended 31 March 2008. For the nine months ended 31
December 2008, the profit margin of the Media Magic Group recorded approximately 68.97%. Based
on the third quarterly report of the Group for the nine months ended 31 December 2008, turnover of
the Group derived from its mobile payment gateway business was approximately HK$39.4 million,
representing an increase of approximately 66% when compared with that of the corresponding period of
the previous year. The net profit of the Group for the nine months ended 31 December 2008 increased
from approximately HK$11.4 million of previous corresponding period to approximately HK$17.2
million, represents an increase of approximately 51%.

According to the Board, PalmPay Technology, through cooperation with China Unicom ("'
#4H) (i) has already penetrated its mobile payment gateway business into 15 major provinces and
municipal cities in the PRC covering Shanghai (_I:7#), Liaoning (#%£), Chongqing (FB¥), Jilin (i
M), Guangxi (& P4), Hunan (#/), Hubei (i#1L), Heilongjiang (M2HEYL), Shaanxi (P&FY), Guizhou
(& M), Gansu (H#H), Inner Mongolia (IA15), Yunnan (Z£), Xinjiang (¥ %) and Sichuen (P4)1]); (ii)
is also in advanced stage of negotiations with China Unicom ("'} %) for the provision of mobile
payment gateway services in 6 other major provinces/municipal cities in the PRC such as Guangdong
(&), Beijing (4t &%), Fujian (#8%) and Shandong (111 3). It is expected by the management of the
Media Magic Group that full scale operations for a total of 21 major provinces/municipal cities in the
PRC for the provision of mobile payment gateway services will be available by the second quarter
of this year.

Having considered (i) the financial results of the Media Magic Group for the year ended
31 March 2007 and 31 March 2008 and the nine months period ended 31 December 2008; (ii) the
business development of Palmpay Technology of mobile payment gateway business in the PRC; (iii)
the information set out in the section headed “Overview of number of mobile telephone subscribers
in the PRC” as discussed below, we concur with the view of Directors that it is the right time to
increase its stake in Media Magic to capture potential opportunities in the booming mobile phone
market in the PRC and to achieve business growth for the Group.
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Business review and financial position of the Group

Set out below is the summary of the audited operating results of the Group for each of the
three years ended 31 March 2008, 2007 and 2006 and unaudited figures for the nine months ended 31
December 2008 and 2007 and of the assets, liabilities and minority interests of the Group as extracted
from the Company’s respective annual reports for the three years ended 31 March 2008, 2007 and
2006 and the interim report for the six-month periods ended 30 September 2008 and third quarterly
report for the nine-month periods ended 31 December 2008 and 2007:

For the nine months ended For the year ended
31 December 31 March
2008 2007 2008 2007 2006

(Unaudited) (Unaudited) (Audited) (Audited) (Audited)
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Results
Turnover 39,379 110,484 142,363 110,074 42,474
Gross profit 33,790 33,835 47,972 24,256 4,378
Profit/(Loss) before

income tax 23,562 13,848 (6,468) (5,966) (8,013)
Profit/(Loss) after

income tax 17,157 11,403 (9,012) (8,618) (7,660)

Attributable to:
Equity shareholders

of the Company 11,718 5,411 (18,751) (9,117) (7,649)
As at 30 September As at 31 March

2008 2008 2007 2006
(Unaudited) (Audited) (Audited) (Audited)
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Assets and liabilities
Total assets 347,366 312,961 216,949 127,170
Total liabilities (101,804) (94,246) (124,021) (106,140)
Net Assets 245,562 218,715 92,928 21,030

According to the 2008 annual report of the Company, the Group recorded the turnover of
approximately HK$110.07 million and HK$142.36 million for the year ended 31 March 2007 and 31
March 2008 respectively, representing an increase of approximately 29.34%. The loss after income tax
increased from approximately HK$8.62 million to approximately HK$9.01 million, representing an
increase of approximately 4.52%. The increased in such loss was mainly attributable to the one-off loss
on disposal of the trading of electronic devices and internet appliances businesses of approximately
HK$17.98 million. The unaudited net assets of the Group recorded approximately HK$245.56 million
as at 30 September 2008, representing an increase of approximately 12.27% as compared to audited
net assets of the Group of approximately HK$218.71 million as at 31 March 2008.

-37 -



LETTER FROM THE INDEPENDENT FINANCIAL ADVISER

Upon completion of the disposal of the electronic device and components business of the Group
in March 2008, the Group’s turnover, which solely represents revenue from its mobile payment gateway
business, increased to approximately HK$39.38 million for the nine months ended 31 December
2008 from approximately HK$23.69 million for previous corresponding period, representing an
increase of approximately 66.23%, according to the third quarterly report of the Company for the
nine months ended on 31 December 2008. Because the mobile payment gateway business is of higher
profit margin than the disposed electronic device and components business, the gross profit margin
increased approximately 85.81% for the nine months ended 31 December 2008 from approximately
30.62% in the previous corresponding period. In light of the increase in gross profit margin and
the decrease in administrative expenses and finance cost of the Group, the Group had recorded the
unaudited profit after tax of approximately HK$17.15 million for the nine months ended 31 December
2008 as compared to the audited profit after tax of approximately HK$11.40 million in the previous
corresponding period. The net profit margin has also recorded an increased to approximately 43.57%
for the nine months period ended 31 December 2008, as compared to approximately 10.32% for the
previous corresponding period.

As mentioned in the 2008/09 third quarterly report of the Company (the “3rd Quarterly Report”),
the Group is authorized by China Unicom ('Ed¥ji%#), on an exclusive basis, for the provision of the
Company’s mobile payment gateway system to the subscribers of China Unicom ("'E{#fi%i) in the
PRC through which a variety of virtual and service products, including the IP Cards of China Unicom
(B 4E), virtual game cards of Baidu (%) and Shanda (#K), accident insurance products of
PICC Life Insurance Company Limited ("7 A & A7 R B A FR 22 7), could be purchased by the
subscribers of China Unicom (' [B I #H) through mobile phone.

To further strengthen the mobile payment gateway business of the Group, the Group is developing
another advanced form of payment gateway based on the Near Field Communication Technology (the
“NFC”) which will serve as an e-payment gateway and will compliment the mobile payment gateway
business of the Group. According to the Board, the Group has entered into a letter of intent with China
Unicom (HE¥#H) in February 2009 in relation to the development of Near Field Communication
technology payment gateway business in the PRC and firstly in Shanghai. Moreover, the Group is
in final negotiation stage with one of the mobile telecommunication providers in the PRC, a leading
bank in the PRC and a worldwide credit card provider for the introduction and operation of such NFC
payment gateway in the PRC on a nation-wide basis.

Based on the above, we are of the view that the Acquisition is in the ordinary course of business
of the Group and is in the interests of the Company and the Shareholders as a whole.

INFORMATION OF THE MEDIA MAGIC GROUP

With reference to the Letter, Media Magic is a company incorporated in BVI on 5 January
2004 and commenced operation from September 2006, which principally engaged in the provision
of diversified mobile value-added services, including but not limited to, the provision of mobile
online games, patented popular electronic cartoon characters and animation series download etc. and
investment holding, for mobile phone users in the PRC through franchising and cooperation with
telecommunication business licensed providers.
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The principal operating subsidiary of the Media Magic Group, PalmPay Technology, is a PRC
enterprise established on 20 March 2005, which is currently engaged principally in the mobile payment
gateway business in the PRC. Mobile payment gateway business refers to the provision of online mobile
payment services such as online shopping and payment of service bills by the services providers to
mobile phone users. The product variety of PalmPay Technology has been enlarged compared with
that at the time of its commencement of business in September 2006. PalmPay Technology is currently
selling a variety of products through its mobile payment platforms, such as IP cards, virtual game
cards and accident insurance products.

The Group has achieved significant progress on its mobile payment gateway business during the
nine months ended 31 December 2008. As at 31 December 2008, the Group has commenced operation
of such business in 15 provinces/municipal cities whilst the same in 12 provinces/municipal cities as at
31 December 2007. In particular, the IP card product has penetrated from 9 provinces/municipal cities
into 13 provinces/municipal cities, the virtual game card product has penetrated from 6 provinces/
municipal cities into 10 provinces/municipal cities and the insurance product has penetrated from 3
province/municipal cities into 10 provinces/municipal cities, from the previous corresponding period
to 31 December 2008.

As disclosed in the 3rd Quarterly Report, the Group is authorized by China Unicom (H[2 5
##), on an exclusive basis, for the provision of the Company’s mobile payment gateway system to the
subscribers of China Unicom ("'[E{¥%H) in the PRC through which a variety of virtual and service
products, including the IP Cards of China Unicom (H'[E¥i#H), virtual game cards of Baidu (H )
and Shanda (B K), accident insurance products of PICC Life Insurance Company Limited (4] AR
N7 ORB A A BR A F), could be purchased by the subscribers of China Unicom (H'E ¥ %) through
mobile phone. According to the interim report of China Unicom (" El¥i%f) for the six months ended
30 June 2008 and its announcement dated 29 February 2009, GSM mobile service subscribers of China
Unicom (" EJ% %) had increased from 127.6 million as at 30 June 2008 to 134.20 million as at 31
January 2009. Furthermore, the chairman and chief executive officer of China Unicom (" [3 H % )
pronounced that China Unicom (9 B Bt %8 ) will focus on further developing its mobile business, in
particular the GPRS value-added services, to enhance its overall revenue of its company. Through the
cooperation by providing the provision of mobile payment gateway services of the Group to China
Unicom (H B %), we concur with the Directors view that the Media Magic Group will generate
steady source of income as well as bringing promising returns to the Group in the future.

According to the audited financial results of the Media Magic Group for the year ended 31
March 2008, turnover and profit after tax derived from its mobile payment gateway business was
approximately HK$36.52 million and HK$21.20 million for the year ended 31 March 2008. As compared
to the audited financial results of the Media Magic Group for the year ended 31 March 2007, turnover
and profit after tax derived from its mobile payment gateway business increased by approximately
1,049.61% and 2,177.23% respectively. Based on the audited financial results of the Media Magic
Group for the nine months ended 31 December 2008, turnover of the Media Magic Group derived from
its mobile payment gateway business was approximately HK$41.14 million, representing an increase
of approximately 71.66% when compared with that of the corresponding period of the previous year,
which provides stable income and cashflow to the Group. Upon completion of the Acquisition, the
Media Magic Group will become indirect wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Company with its accounts
being consolidated into the Group.
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Having considered the earning potential in mobile payment gateway business in the PRC operated
by PalmPay Technology and a remarkable achievement with its existing business of the financial
performance of Media Magic Group, we are of the view that the Acquisition is in the interests of the
Company and the Shareholders as a whole.

Overview of number of mobile telephone subscribers in the PRC

According to the National Bureau of Statistics of China, the total number of mobile telephone
subscribers in the PRC in 31 December 2008 reached approximately 641.23 million, representing
an increase of approximately 137.54% from 31 December 2003. The number of mobile telephone
subscribers has recorded a constantly growth in the past years and has already been to approximately
555.77 million subscribers from the beginning the year 2008 and further increased to approximately
641.23 million subscribers as of the end of December 2008. In this regard, the Directors are of the
view it is the right time to increase its stake in Media Magic to capture potential opportunities in the
booming mobile phone market in the PRC and to achieve business growth for the Group. As such,
we are of the view that the future prospect and market potential of the mobile telecommunication
business in PRC will remain strong, and the Acquisition provides the Group with opportunities to
generate steady source of income as well as being promising returns to the Group in the near future,
and can strengthen the Group’s financial performance as well as optimize Shareholders’ interests in
the long run.

Terms of the Sale and Purchase Agreement
The principal terms of the Sale and Purchase Agreement are summarized as follow:

Upper Power, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, agreed to acquire 13,889 shares in
Media Magic from Vendors at a total consideration of HK$82,335,000;

The total consideration of HK$82,335,000 shall be satisfied by the Company to the Vendors
as to:

(i) HK$7,000,000 by cash, of which HK$4,000,000 shall be payable within five business
days from the date of the Sale and Purchase Agreement as deposit and HK$3,000,000
shall be payable on Completion;

(ii)  HK$26,000,000 to allot and issue the 236,363,636 Consideration Shares credited as fully
paid, at the Issue Price on Completion; and

(iii) HK$49,335,000 by procuring the Company to issue at Completion the Convertible
Bonds.

The Directors confirm that the cash portion of the consideration will be financed by the internal
resources of the Group.
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Basis of Consideration

As disclosed in the Letter, the Consideration is determined after arm’s length negotiation
between Upper Power and the Vendors with reference to (i) the future prospect and business plan
of the Media Magic Group and PalmPay Technology; (ii) the profit guarantee of at least HK$33
million being the audited consolidated net profit after tax and extraordinary or exceptional items of
the Media Magic Group for the year ending 31 March 2009 (“Former Profit Guarantee”) joint and
severally guaranteed and warranted to Upper Power by Vendor A and Mr. Hsu Tung Chi according
to the Former Sale and Purchase Agreements; and (iii) the profit earning ratios of a number of listed
companies engaging similar business in the telecommunication sector in Hong Kong ranging from
about 0.13 to 125 times. The Consideration is calculated based on the Former Profit Guarantee times
9.98 price earnings multiple and equity interests to be acquired in Media Magic. The Consideration
represents approximately 11.15 times based on the attributable 25% equity interests in the Media
Magic Group’s audited net assets value of approximately HK$29,538,000 as at 31 March 2008, i.e.
approximately HK$7,385,000.

We were indicated the price earnings ratio of number of companies listed on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange and the Growth Enterprise Market of the Stock Exchange engaging similar
business in the telecommunication sector in Hong Kong ranging from about 0.13 to 125 times as
mentioned on page 8 in the Letter (the “Comparables”). Having considered the companies being
selected by the Company under the Comparables are engaging in the telecommunication sector in
Hong Kong which is similar to the Company, we are of view that the companies are selected under
the Comparables is reasonable.

In order to assess the fairness and reasonableness of the 11.15 times which represents the
Consideration to the attributable 25% equity interests in the Media Magic Group’s audited net assets
value as at 31 March 2008, we have performed the analysis based on the market capitalization to their
respective net asset value of the companies (the “Price-to-Equity Ratio”) under the Comparables.
Among the companies under the Comparables, we note that the net assets values of the companies
being selected under the Comparables are ranged from the lowest of approximately HK$7.29 million
to highest of approximately HK$373,751 million. We note that the Price-to-Equity Ratio under the
Comparables ranged from the lowest 0.15 times to the highest 28.24 times.

Reference is also made to the accountants’ report as disclosed in Appendix II to this circular,
the audited net assets value of Media Magic Group increased to approximately HK$59,351,000 as at
31 December 2008. Based on attributable 25% equity interest in the Media Magic Group’s audited
net assets value of HK$59,351,000 as at 31 December 2008, the aforesaid ratio will be changed from
11.15 times to 5.55 times.

Based on the above, the 9.98 price earnings multiple used by the Company and the Vendors to
determine the Consideration and the premium of 5.55 times to the net assets value of Media Magic
Group fall within the relevant range of the Comparables. As such, we are of the view that the price
earnings multiple used to determine the Consideration and the premium of 5.55 times are fair and
reasonable within the industry.
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Taking into account (i) the future prospect and business plan of the Media Magic Group and
PalmPay Technology and the strong financial performance of the Media Magic Group which we have
discussed under the section headed “Information of the Media Magic Group” above; (ii) the potential
growth under the secured cooperation arrangements with China Unicom (H'[Z ¥ #H); (iii) the Former
Profit Guarantee; (iv) the price earnings multiple being used; and (v) the cash outlay of HK$7,000,000
for the Acquisition, we consider that the Consideration is fair and reasonable, and in the interests of
the Company and the Shareholders as a whole.

CONSIDERATION SHARES AND CONVERTIBLE BONDS

In determining the fairness and reasonableness of the Issue Price and Initial Conversion Price,
we set out below chart (the “Chart”) illustrating the historical closing prices of the Shares during the
period from 27 November 2008 up to and including the Last Trading Day (the “Review Period”).

Closing price per Share on the Stock Exchange
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Sources: the Stock Exchange web-site (www.hkex.com.hk)
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Consideration Shares

As part of the consideration payable by the Group under the Sale and Purchase Agreement,

236,363,636 new Shares will be issued at an issue price of HK$0.11 per Share for the amount of
approximately HK$26,000,000. The Issue Price of HK$0.11 per Consideration Share represents;

)

(i1)

(iii)

(iv)

v)

a discount of approximately 12% to the closing price of HK$0.125 per Share as quoted
on the Stock Exchange on Last Trading Day;

a discount of approximately 12% to the closing price of HK$0.125 per Share as quoted
on the Stock Exchange for the last five consecutive trading days up to and including the
Last Trading Day;

a discount of approximately 10.93% to the closing price of HK$0.1235 per Share as quoted
on the Stock Exchange for the last ten consecutive trading days up to and including the
Latest Trading Date;

a discount of approximately 40.54% to the closing price of HK$0.1850 per Share as
quoted on the Stock Exchange on Latest Practicable Date; and

a discount of approximately 18.52% to the net asset value per Share of approximately
HK$0.135 based on the unaudited consolidated financial statements of the Group as at
31 March 2008 and the total number of issued shares of the Company of 1,566,375,508
as at the Latest Practicable Date.

As illustrated in the Charts, the Share closed on the Stock Exchange within a range from the
highest of HK$0.22 per Share during the period from 29 September 2008 to 6 October 2008 to the
lowest of HK$0.106 per Share during the period from 7 November 2008 to 1 December 2008. The Issue
Price is lower than the average closing price per Share during the Review Period of approximately

HK$0.133 per Share and the closing price of approximately HK$0.125 per Share as at the Last Trading

Day. We note from the Charts above that the Share have been traded at price within a range between
HK$0.106 per Share and HK$0.135 per Share since 27 October 2008.

For the purpose of comparison, we have identified, to the best of our knowledge and as far

as we are aware of, 16 transactions (the “Issue Price Comparables”) announced for the last three

months immediately prior to the date of the Sale and Purchase Agreements (i.e. from 29 November

2008 to 26 February 2009) conducted by companies which listed on the Stock Exchange involving

issue of the consideration shares for the Acquisition of those companies as considerations.
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Company’s name

China Best Group Holdings Limited
Golife Concepts Holdings Limited
Dynamic Global Holdings Limited
Hua Lien (Holding) Limited

Wing Shan International Limited

Temujin International
Investments Limited

China Fortune Holdings Limited

China Mining Resources
Group Limited

Intcera High Tech Group Limited
Kai Yuan Holdings Limited

United Pacific Industries Limited
China Railway Logistics Limited

Shougang Concord International
Enterprises Company Limited

United Power Investment Limited

China-Agri-Industries
Holdings Limited

Genesis Energy Holdings Limited

Premium
Discount

The Company

Stock code

370

8172

231

969

570

204

110

340

8041

1215

176

8089

697

674

606

702
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Date of initial
announcement

3 December 2008
8 December 2008
11 December 2008
16 December 2008
16 December 2008

29 December 2008

7 January 2009

7 January 2009

12 January 2009
15 January 2009
18 January 2009
29 January 2009

10 February 2009

13 February 2009

17 February 2009

20 February 2009

Premium/(discount) of
the issue price of the
consideration share
over/to the closing price
of the share at the last
trading day

31.58%
(18.03)%
7.27%
7.10%
(4.88)%

66.67%

243.75%

(4.10)%

33.30%
1,020.69%
0.00%
(18.371)%

9.55%

8.90%

3.40%

21.62%

1,020.69%
(18.37)%

(12.00) %
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Based on the above illustration, the premium/(discount) represented by the issue price per
share of the consideration shares issued by respective listed companies under the Issue Price
Comparables over/(to) their respective closing prices on the last trading day before the suspension of
trading in the shares pending for the release of the relevant announcement ranged from a discount of
approximately 18.37% to a premium of the approximately 1,020.69% with average of approximately
88.03%. Upon comparison, we note that the relevant discount represented by the Issue Price over the
prevailing market price of the Shares as detailed above falls within the relevant range of the Issue
Price Comparables.

Subsequent to the date of the Sale and Purchase Agreement and up to the Latest Practicable
Date, we noted that the closing prices of the Shares as quoted from the Stock Exchange has increased
from HK$0.125 to HK$0.185. The highest closing prices of HK$0.243 per Share was recorded on 26
March 2009. As disclosed in the Company’s announcement dated 26 March 2009, the Board did not
aware of any reasons for the increase in trading price and trading volume of the Share.

Pursuant to the Sale and Purchase Agreement, the Purchaser will not, within the period commencing
on the date of Completion and ending on the date falling six months after Completion, transfer or
otherwise dispose of or create any encumbrance or other rights in respect of the Consideration Shares
or any interests therein or grant any options or rights in respect of any of the Consideration Shares
without prior written approval from the Purchaser, we are of the view that such disposal restriction
is in the interest of the Company and the Shareholders as a whole.

Taking into account (i) the weakening share price performance of the Shares on prevailing
market condition; (ii) the discount of the Issue Price to the closing price of the Shares as at the Last
Trading Date falling within the range of the Issue Price Comparables; and (iii) the Consideration
Shares will be subject to 6-months lock-up period, we are of the view that the Issue Price is fair and
reasonable so far as the Independent Shareholders are concerned.

Convertible Bonds

As part of the consideration payable by the Group under the Sale and Purchase Agreement, the
Convertible Bonds in the principal amount of HK49,335,000 will be issued to the Vendors.

The principal terms of the Convertible Bonds is set out below:

Principal amount: HK$49,335,000, of which HK$2,565,420 to Vendor A, HK$32,166,420
to Vendor B and HK$14,603,160 to Vendor C

Maturity: Three years

Interest rate: 1% per annum, payable semi-annually
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Initial Conversion Price: HK$0.13 per Share (subject to adjustments) represents: (i) a
premium of approximately 4% over the closing price of HK$0.125
per Share as quoted on the Stock Exchange on the Last Trading
Date; (ii) a premium of approximately 4% over the closing price
of HK$0.125 per Share as quoted on the Stock Exchange for the
last five consecutive trading days up to and including the Last
Trading Date; (iii) a premium of approximately 5.26% over the
closing price of HK$0.1235 per Share as quoted on the Stock
Exchange for the last ten consecutive trading days up to and
including the Last Trading Day; (iv) a discount of approximately
29.73% to the closing price of HK$0.1850 per Share as quoted
on the Stock Exchange on Latest Practicable Date; and (v) a
discount of approximately 3.7% to the net asset value per Share
of approximately HK$0.135 based on the audited consolidated
financial statements of the Group as at 31 March 2008 and the
total number of issued shares of the Company of 1,566,375,508
as at the Latest Practicable Date.

The Conversion Price was determined after arm’s length negotiations among the Upper Power,
the Vendors and the Company with reference to average market price of the Shares prior to the Last
Trading Day and the Issue Price. The Conversion Price is set at a greater price than the Issue Price
and represents a premium of 18.18% over the Issue Price in view of the maturity of the Convertible
Bonds of three years.

As illustrated in the Charts, the closing price of the Share on the Stock Exchange within the
highest of HK$0.22 per Share to the lowest of HK$0.106 per Share during the Review Period. The
average closing price per Share during the Review Period was approximately HK$0.133 per Share.
As we mentioned above, the Share have been traded at price within a range between HK$0.106 per
Share and HK$0.135 per Share since 27 October 2008.

In light of the (i) weakening share price performance of the Shares on prevailing market
condition during the Review Period; (ii) Conversion Price is slightly above the prevailing market
as at Last Trading Day and for the last ten consecutive trading days up to and including the Last
Trading Day; and (iii) Convertible Bonds carry interest of 1% per annum with maturity period of three
year, we are of the view that the Conversion Price is fair and reasonable so far as the Independent
Shareholders are concerned and the issue of the Convertible Bonds is in the interest of the Company
and the Shareholders as a whole.

EFFECT ON THE SHAREHOLDING OF THE INDEPENDENT SHAREHOLDERS

We set out below the shareholding structure of the Company (i) as at the Latest Practicable
Date; (ii) immediately after Completion and the allotment and issue of the Consideration Shares; (iii)
immediately after allotment and issue of the Consideration Shares and full conversion of the Convertible
Bonds at the Conversion Price assuming no further Shares (including exercise of the outstanding share
options, non-listed warrants and convertible bonds issued pursuant to the Former Sale and Purchase
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Agreements) will be issued or no Shares will be repurchased before the allotment and issue of the

Consideration Shares and Conversion Shares; and (iv) immediately after the allotment and issue of the
Consideration Shares and the Conversion Shares, exercise of 164,560,000 share options, 267,304,635
warrants and 6,986,899 conversion shares pursuant to the Former Sale and Purchase Agreements:

Shareholders

Starryland Profits Limited (Note 1)
Mr. Lau Kim Hung, Jack (Note 1)

Subtotal

Vendor B (Note 4)
Big Well Investments
Limited (Note 6)
Hsu Tung Sheng (Note 2)
Ho Hoi Lap (Note 2)
Hsu Tung Chi (Note 2)
Chan Hing Wing, James (Note 2)
Chan Francis Ping Kuen (Note 2)

Subtotal

Public

Vendor A (Note 3)

Vendor B (Note 4)

Vendor C (Note 5)
Employees and consultants
Other public Shareholders

Subtotal

Total

As at the
Latest Practicable Date
before the allotment
and issue of the
Consideration Shares and
Conversion Shares
Number of
Shares — Approx %

351,354,000 22.43%
12,408,000 0.79%

Immediately after the
allotment and issue of the
Consideration Shares

Number of
Shares — Approx %

351,354,000 19.49%
12,408,000 0.69%

Immediately after the
allotment and issue
of the Consideration

Shares and the
Conversion Shares
Number of
Shares — Approx %

351,354,000 16.10%
12,408,000 0.57%

Immediately after the
allotment and issue of
the Consideration Shares
and the Conversion
Shares, exercise of
164,560,000 share
options, 267,304,633
warrants and 6,986,899
conversion shares

Number of
Shares — Approx %

351,354,000 13.40%
12,408,000 0.47%

363,762,000 23.02%

900000 0.06%
2544000 0.16%
65074000 415%

363,762,000 20.18%

900,000 0.05%
2,544,000 0.14%
65,074,000 3.61%
- %

- %

363,762,000 16.67%
412,343,091 18.89%

- %

900,000 0.04%
2,544,000 0.12%
05,074,000 2.98%
- %

- %

363,762,000 13.87%

412,343,001 15.73%

267,304,035 10.20%
15,740,000 0.60%
15,744,000 0.60%
82,534,087 3.15%
14,840,000 0.57%
28,360,000 1.08%

65,518,000 4.37%

101,581,333 6.48%
10,800,000 0.69%
7,920,000 0.51%

- -%
1,013,794,175 64.73%

68,518,000 3.80%

113,872,242 6.32%
164,909,091 9.15%
77,883,636 432%
- %
1,013,794,175 56.23%

480,861,091 22.03%

133,606,424 6.12
- %
190,215,636 8.72%
- -%
1,013,794,175 46.46%

836,805,813 31.93%

137,973,054 5.26%
- %
190,215,636 7.26%
78,480,000 3.00%
1,013,794,175 38,08%

1,134,095,508 1241%

1,370,459,144 76.02%

1,337,616,053 61.30%

1,420,462,865 54.20%

1,566,375,508  100.00%

1,802,739,144  100.00%

2,182,239,144  100.00%

2,621,090,678  100.00%
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Notes:

1. Starryland Profits Limited is wholly and beneficially owned by Mr. Lau Kim Hung, Jack (“Mr. Lau”) who does not hold
any position in the Group. Mr. Lau is deemed to be interested in 351,354,000 Shares held by Starryland Profits Limited.
In addition, by virtue of being the spouse of Ms. Chan Yiu Kan Katie, he is also deemed to be interested in 1,200,000
Shares held by Ms. Chan Yiu Kan Katie.

2. Mr. Hsu Tung Sheng is an executive Director and chief executive officer of the Company, Dr. Ho Hoi Lap is non-executive
Director and chairman of the Company Mr. Hsu Tung Chi, Mr. Chan Hin Wing, James and Mr. Chan Francis Ping Kuen
are executive Directors.

3. Vendor A and his parties acting in concert will hold less than 30% of the total issued Shares at any time after
Completion.

4. 10,800,000 Shares were held by the ultimate beneficial owner of Vendor B. Vendor B and it parties acting in concert
will hold less than 30% of the total issued Shares at any time after Completion.

5. 7,920,000 Shares were held by the ultimate beneficial owner of Vendor C. Vendor C and its parties acting in concert will
hold less than 30% of the total issued Shares at any time after Completion.

6. Big Well Investments Limited is a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands which is a subscriber of 223,000,000

non-listed warrants under the private placing of non-listed warrants as disclosed in the announcements of the Company dated
27 August 2007 and 1 September 2007 conferring rights to Big Well Investments Limited to subscribe for 223,000,000
Shares. After the bonus issue adjustment, the number of non-listed warrants is adjusted to 267,304,635.

As shown in the above shareholding table, the shareholding of the public shareholders excluding
Vendors will decrease from approximately 64.94% to approximately 56.42% following the allotment
and issue of the Consideration Shares and will further decrease to approximately 46.61% following
the allotment and issue of the Consideration Shares and Conversion Shares.

While the dilution effect on earnings per Share and shareholding is inevitable for issuance
of the new Shares to satisfy part of the Consideration under the Acquisition, we consider that the
Acquisition can enhance the Group’s financial performance as well as optimize Shareholders’ interests
in the Company and to attract potential investors invest into the Company. As such, we are of the
view that the dilution effect to the public Shareholders is acceptable.

FINANCIAL EFFECT

According to the unaudited pro forma financial information of the Enlarged Group set out in
Appendix III to the Circular, the unaudited consolidated net assets of the Group was approximately
HK$245.56 million as at 31 December 2008. The unaudited pro forma adjusted consolidated net
tangible assets of the Enlarged Group would increase to approximately HK$266.62 million as a result
of the Acquisition.
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RECOMMENDATION

Having considered the above principal factors and reasons above, we consider that entering
into of the Sale and Purchase Agreement by the Group is in the usual and ordinary course of business
of the Group, the Acquisition are in the interests of the Company and the Shareholders as a whole
and the terms of the Acquisition are on a normal commercial terms and fair and reasonable so far
as the Company and the Independent Shareholders as a whole are concerned, we, therefore advise
the Independent Shareholders and the Independent Board Committee to recommend the Independent
Shareholders to vote in favour of the relevant resolution(s) to be proposed at the SGM to approve the
Sale and Purchase Agreement and the transaction contemplated thereunder.

Yours faithfully,
For and on behalf of
Nuada Limited
Po Chan
Executive Director
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FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE GROUP

1. SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION

The following table summaries the results, assets and liabilities of the Group for the last three

financial years ended 31 March 2008 as extracted from the relevant published financial statements

of the Group.

Results

Turnover

(Loss) before taxation

Taxation

(Loss) for the year

Attributable to:
Equity holders of the Company
Minority interests

Asset and liabilities

Total assets

Total liabilities

Total equity

For the year ended 31 March

2008 2007 2006
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
142,363 110,074 42,474
(6,468) (5,9606) (8,013)
(2,544) (2,652) 353
(9,012) (8,618) (7,660)
(18,781) (9,117) (7,649)
9,739 499 (11)
(9,012) (8,618) (7,660)
As at 31 March
2008 2007 2006
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
312,961 216,949 127,170
94,246 124,021 106,140
218,715 92,928 21,030
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2. AUDITED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The following are the audited financial statements of the Group for the three years ended 31
March 2008 together with accompanying notes extracted from the 2007/08 Annual Report of the
Company. References to page numbers in this appendix are to the pages numbers of the 2007/08
Annual Report of the Company.

CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT
For the year ended 31st March

2008 2007 2006
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TURNOVER 7 142,363 110,074 42,474
Cost of sales (94,391) (85,818) (38,096)
Gross profit 47,972 24,256 4,378
Other revenue 7 3,519 1,329 318
Distribution costs (4,076) (1,217) (126)
Administrative expenses (29,594) (21,216) (5,517)
Other operating expenses - - (415)
Loss on disposals of subsidiaries (17,975) - -
Provision for impairment
loss of fixed assets - - (5,000)
Provision for impairment loss of
available-for-sale financial assets - (570) (657)
Finance costs 8 (6,314) (8,361) (994)
Share of loss from an associate - (187) —
LOSS BEFORE INCOME TAX 9 (6,468) (5,966) (8,013)
Tax 11 (2,544) (2,652) 353
LOSS FOR THE YEAR (9,012) (8,618) (7,660)
ATTRIBUTABLE TO:
Equity holders of the Company (18,751) (9,117) (7,649)
Minority interests 9,739 499 (11)
LOSS FOR THE YEAR (9,012) (8,618) (7,660)
DIVIDENDS 14 - - -
LOSS PER SHARE 15
— Basic HK cent (1.64) HK cent (1.78) HK cent (2.53)
— Diluted N/A N/A N/A
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET
As at 31st March 2008

2008 2007 2006
Notes HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000
NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Fixed assets 16 16,045 39,822 20,986
Available-for-sale financial assets 17 - 150 720
Intangible assets 19 232,931 60,730 25,537
Deferred tax assets 32 - 430 658
248,976 101,132 47,901
CURRENT ASSETS
Inventories 20 - 38,484 20,856
Trade receivable 21 28,739 21,756 33,663
Prepayments, deposits and
other receivables 3,494 7,469 6,756
Financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss - - 2,325
Tax prepaid - 64 6
Pledged time deposits 22 - 14,260 11,239
Cash and cash equivalents 22 31,752 33,784 4,424
63,985 115,817 79,269
CURRENT LIABILITIES
Trade payable 23 - 20,087 10,330
Bank borrowings 24 - 64,517 62,413
Current portion of finance
lease payables 25 - 2,778 2,368
Other loans 26 - 1,044 1,134
Accrued expenses and other payables 6,730 7,886 3,064
Due to a director 27 253 - -
Due to a director of a subsidiary 27 5,859 - -
Due to a shareholder 27 - 215 999
Due to a shareholder of a subsidiary 27 - 13,741 -
Promissory notes 28 - 6,158 -
Tax payable 1,813 854 973
14,655 117,280 81,281
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2008 2007 2006
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
NET CURRENT ASSETS/
(LIABILITIES) 49,330 (1,463) (2,012)
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT
LIABILITIES 298,306 99,669 45,889
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Bank borrowings 24 - 1,153 1,045
Finance lease payables 25 - 4,005 2,592
Convertible notes 33 2,791 - 8,415
Other payable 35 76,800 - -
Promissory notes - — 12,636
Provision for long service payment - 171 171
Deferred tax liabilities 32 - 1,412 -
79,591 6,741 24,859
NET ASSETS 218,715 92,928 21,030
CAPITAL AND RESERVES
Issued capital 29 64,117 48,471 18,750
Reserves 147,748 39,890 292
211,865 88,361 19,042
MINORITY INTERESTS 6,850 4,567 1,988
TOTAL EQUITY 218,715 92,928 21,030
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BALANCE SHEET
As at 31st March 2008

2008 2007 2006
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Investments in subsidiaries 18 - 13,172 13,172
Amounts due from subsidiaries 18 - 13,158 12,636
- 26,330 25,808
CURRENT ASSETS
Due from subsidiaries 18 270,002 59,767 37,365
Tax prepaid - - 4
Cash and cash equivalents 22 30,713 31,948 1,138
300,715 91,715 38,507
CURRENT LIABILITIES
Bank overdraft, unsecured - - 132
Accrued expenses and other payables 766 347 1,065
Amount due to a shareholder - - 999
Promissory notes 28 - 6,158 -
766 6,505 2,196
NET CURRENT ASSETS 299,949 85,210 36,311
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT
LIABILITIES 299,949 111,540 62,119
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Convertible notes 33 2,791 - 8,415
Other payable 35 76,800 - -
Promissory notes - — 12,636
79,591 - 21,051
NET ASSETS 220,358 111,540 41,068
CAPITAL AND RESERVES
Issued capital 29 64,117 48,471 18,750
Reserves 31 156,241 63,069 22,318
220,358 111,540 41,068

-54 -



APPENDIX 1

FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE GROUP

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY OF THE GROUP AND THE COMPANY
For the year ended 31st March 2008

Group
Conver-
Issued Contri- Ex- tible Share Accumu-
share Share buted change notes option ~ Warrant lated Sub-  Minority
capital  premium  surplus reserve reserve reserve reserve losses total  interests Total
HK'000  HK$'000  HKS$'000 — HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HKS$'000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HKS$'000

At 1 April 2006 18,750 11,152 6,015 96 885 - - (17,856) 19,042 1,988 21,030
Acquired on acquisition

of subsidiaries - - - 10 - - - - 10 2,080 2,090
Issue of share capital

- note 29 (a) (ii), (vi) 18,924 18,185 - - - - - - 37,109 - 37,109
Recognition of equity-

settled share-based

payment - note 30 - - - - - 3719 - - 3719 - 3719
Issue of consideration

shares

- note 29 (a) (iv) 1,500 4500 - - - - - - 6,000 - 6,000
Share option exercised

- note 29 (a) (i), (vii) 2,200 7519 - - - (1,239) - - 8,480 - 8,480
Exercise of warrants

- note 29(a) (iii) 4,650 10,695 - - - - - - 15,345 - 15,345
Conversion of

convertible notes

- note 29 (a) (v) 2447 1,737 - - (885) - - - 9,299 - 9,299
Share issue expenses - (2,625) - - - - - - (2,625) - (2,625)
Exchange realignment - - - 1,099 - - - - 1,099 - 1,099
Net loss for the year - - - - - - - (9,117) (9,117) 499 (8,018)
At 31 March 2007

and at 1 April 2007 48471 57,163 6,015 1,205 - 2,480 - (26973) 88,361 4567 92,928
[ssue of shares under

placing

~ note 29 (a) (viii) 5,500 46,200 - - - - - - 51,700 - 51,700
Recognition of equity-

settled share-based

payment - note 30 - - - - - 3,736 - - 3,736 - 3,736
Share option exercised

- note 29 (a) (ix) 1,977 12,763 - - - (2,480) - - 12,260 - 12,260
[ssue of consideration

shares

- note 29 (a) (x) 8,169 65,351 - - - - - - 73,520 - 73,520
Share issue expenses - (1,853) - - - - - - (1,853) - (1,853)
[ssue of warrants

- note 29 (c) (ii) - - - - - - 1,561 - 1,561 - 1,561
Warrants issue expenses - - - - - - (221) - (221) - (221)
Issue of convertible notes

- note 33 - - - - 443 - - - 443 - 443
Acquired on acquisition

of additional interest

in subsidiaries - - - - - - - - - (5,469) (5,469)
Disposal of subsidiaries - - - (2,518) - - - - (2,518) (1,987) (4,505)
Exchange realignment - - - 3,627 - - - - 3,627 - 3,627
Net loss for the year - - - - - - - (18,751)  (18,751) 9,739 (9,012)
At 31 March 2008 64,117 179,624 6,015 2314 443 3,736 1,340 (45,724) 211,865 6,850 218,715

The contributed surplus of the Group arose as a result of the group reorganisation for the
listing of the Company’s shares on the Growth Enterprise Market and represents the difference
between the nominal value of the aggregate share capital of the subsidiaries acquired under the
group reorganisation, over the nominal value of the Company’s shares in exchange therefor.
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Company
Conver-
Issued Contri- tible Share Accumu-
share Share buted notes  option Warrant lated
capital premium surplus reserve reserve reserve losses Total
HK”000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK'000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000
At 1 April 2006 18,750 11,152 12,947 885 - - (2,666) 41,068
Issue of shares capital
- note 29 (a) (ii), (vi) 18,924 18,185 - - - - - 37,109
Recognition of equity-settled
share-based payment
— note 30 - - - - 3,719 - - 3,719
Issue of consideration shares
- note 29 (a) (iv) 1,500 4,500 - - - - - 6,000
Share option exercised
- note 29 (a) (i), (vii) 2,200 7,519 - - (1,239) - - 8,480
Exercise of warrants
- note 29 (a) (iii) 4,650 10,695 - - - - - 15,345
Conversion of convertible
notes — note 29 (a) (v) 2,447 1,737 - (885) - - - 9,299
- - - - - (2,629)

Share issue expenses - (2,625)

Net loss for the year - - - - - (6,855  (6,855)

At 31 March 2007

and at 1 April 2007 48,471 57,163 12,947 - 2,480 - (9,521) 111,540
Issue of shares under placing
- note 29 (a) (viii) 5,500 46,200 - - - - - 51,700

Recognition of equity-settled
share-based payment

- note 30 - - - - 3,736 - - 3,736
Share option exercised

- note 29 (a) (ix) 1,977 12,763 - - (2,480) - - 12,260
Issue of consideration shares

- note 29 (a) (x) 8,169 65,351 - - - - - 73,520
Share issue expenses - (1,853) - - - - - (1,853)
Issue of warrants

- note 29 (c) (ii) - - - - - 1,561 - 1,561
Warrants issue expenses - - - - - (221) - (221)
Issue of convertible notes

- note 33 - - - 443 - - - 443
Disposal of a subsidiary - - (6,932) - - - - (6,932)

Net loss for the year - - - - - (25,396) (25,396)

At 31 March 2008 64,117 179,624 6,015 443 3,736 1,340 (34,917) 220,358
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT
For the year ended 31st March 2008

2008 2007 2006
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Loss before income tax (6,468) (5,966) (8,013)
Adjustments for:
Depreciation 7,228 4,879 1,372
Amortisation of product
development costs 2,035 2,143 161
Gain on disposals of fixed assets 100 (71) -
Provision for impairment loss on
available-for-sale
financial assets - 570 657
Provision for impairment loss
on fixed assets - - 5,000
Impairment allowances for bad
and doubtful debts 54 - -
Share-based payments 3,736 3,719 -
Share of loss from an associate - 187 -
Interest expenses 6,314 8,361 994
Interest income (2,809) (711) (108)
Gain arising from fair value
change of derivative
financial instruments (146) - -
Loss on disposal of subsidiary’s loan 1,500 - -
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries, net 17,975 - -
Operating cash flows
before movements in working capital 29,519 13,111 63
(Increase)/decrease in inventories (16,139) (17,628) 8,176
Decrease/(increase) in trade receivable (17,652) 12,597 (1,739)
Decrease in prepayments, deposits
and other receivables (4,448) 285 3,627
Increase/(decrease) in trade payable 8,941 9,757 (7,788)
Increase/(decrease) in accrued
expenses and other payables 3,004 3,759 (86)
Increase in amount due to a director 253 - -
Increase in amount due to a director
of a subsidiary 5,859 - -
Cash generated from operating activities 9,337 21,881 2,253
Interest paid - (6,191) (994)
Hong Kong profits tax refunded - 4 934
Hong Kong profits tax paid (580) (264) (4)
NET CASH GENERATED FROM
OPERATING ACTIVITIES 8,757 15,430 2,189
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2008 2007 2006
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000
INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Interest received 2,809 711 108
Sales proceeds from disposals
of fixed assets 13 1,000 795
Sales proceeds from disposal of
subsidiary’s loan 4,500 — —
Decrease in financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss - 2,325 -
Increase in derivative financial
instruments (3,080) - -
Acquisition of subsidiaries (50,983) (9,468) -
Proceeds from disposal of subsidiaries 37,191 - -
(Increase)/decrease in pledged
time deposits 2,951 (3,021) 2,315
Payment for purchases of fixed assets (13,583) (14,189) (1,626)
Product development costs paid (4,141) (4,364) (833)
NET CASH (USED IN)/FROM
INVESTING ACTIVITIES (24,323) (27,006) 759
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Interest paid (6,280) - -
Payment of obligations under
finance leases 1,972 (2,905) (202)
Proceeds from new bank loans — 1,333
Net proceeds from issue of shares 62,107 58,308 -
Net proceeds from issue of warrant 1,340 - -
Repayment of bank loans (3,261) - (254)
Repayment of bank export and
import loan (3,532) (1,680) -
Advances from a shareholder - - 880
Repayment of promissory notes (6,158) (17,120) -
(Repayment of)/proceeds from
other loans (40) (90) 10
Repayment of bank overdraft
by a newly acquired subsidiary - - (25,600)
NET CASH FROM/(USED IN)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES 42,204 37,846 (25,138)
NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN
CASH AND CASH
EQUIVALENTS 26,638 26,270 (22,190)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
AT BEGINNING OF YEAR 437 (22,124) 78
CHANGES IN FOREIGN
EXCHANGE RATES 437 531 (12)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
AT END OF YEAR 31,752 4,677 (22,124)
Non-cash transactions:
1. No finance lease arrangement was entered by the Group during the year, In last year, the Group entered into

finance lease arrangements in respect of property, plant and equipment with a total capital value at the inception

of the leases of HK$6,105,000.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 March 2008

1. CORPORATION INFORMATION

Palmpay China (Holdings) Limited (“the Company”) was incorporated in Bermuda on 7 June 2001 as an exempted
company with limited liability under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda. The shares of the Company were listed
on the Growth Enterprise Market (“GEM?”) of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“the Stock Exchange”) on
1 November 2001. Details of the group reorganisation are set out in the Company’s prospectus dated 24 October 2001.

The Company’s registered office is situated at Clarendon House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton HM 11, Bermuda
and its principal place of business is situated at Unit 1601, 16/F., Ruttonjee House, Ruttonjee Centre, 11 Duddell Street,
Central, Hong Kong.

The Company’s principal activity has not changed during the year and consisted of investment holding. The
principal activity of its subsidiary is the provision of mobile payment gateway services. Its subsidiaries also engaged in
the research, development and provision of information-on-demand (“IOD”) system solutions and the provision of related
products and services as well as a full range of design, engineering and manufacturing services to high-end brand-named
users in the industry, which were discontinued upon the disposal of subsidiaries in current year, further details of which

are set out in note 13 to the financial statements.

By a special resolution passed on 23 August 2007, the name of the Company was changed from “Union Bridge
Holdings Limited 5 & 5 H % A A R 7] to “Palmpay China (Holdings) Limited =[5 % {5 (45 ) A BR A ).

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”), accounting principles
generally accepted in Hong Kong and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. In addition,
the financial statements comply with the applicable disclosure provisions of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on the GEM of the Stock Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”). They have been prepared under the historical cost
convention, except for available-for-sale financial assets, derivative financial instruments and financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss, which have been measured at fair value and promissory notes which have been measured at
amortised cost. These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars and all values are rounded to the nearest

thousand except when otherwise indicated.
3. IMPACT OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

In the current year, the Group has applied, for the first time, the following new standards, amendment and
interpretations (“new HKFRSs”) issued by the HKICPA, which are effective for the Group’s financial statements of the

year.
HKAS 1 (Amendment) Capital Disclosures
HKFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures
HKIFRIC) — Int 8 Scope of HKFRS 2
HK(FRIC) - Int 9 Reassessment of Embedded Derivatives
HK(FRIC) — Int 10 Interim Financial Reporting and Impairment
HK(FRIC) — Int 11 HKFRS 2 — Group and Treasury Share Transactions

The adoption of the new HKFRSs had no material effect on how the results and financial position for the
current or prior accounting periods have been prepared and presented. Accordingly, no prior period adjustment has been

required.
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31

The adoption of the new HKFRSs has given rise to additional disclosures as follows:
HKAS 1 (Amendment) — Capital Disclosures

In accordance with the HKAS 1 (Amendment) — Capital Disclosures, the Group now reports on its capital
management objectives, policies and procedures in each annual financial report. The new disclosures that become
necessary due to this change are detailed in note 42.

HKFRS 7 — Financial Instruments: Disclosures

HKFRS 7 — Financial Instruments: Disclosures is mandatory for reporting periods beginning on 1 January
2007 or later. The new standard replaces and amends the disclosure requirements previously set out in HKAS
32 Financial Instruments: Presentation and Disclosures and has been adopted by the Group in its consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2008. All disclosures relating to financial instruments including
the comparative information have been updated to reflect the new requirements. In particular, the Group’s
consolidated financial statements now feature:

. a sensitivity analysis explains the Group’s market risk exposure in regard to its financial instruments,
and
. a maturity analysis that shows the remaining contractual maturities of financial liabilities,

each as at the balance sheet date. The first-time application of HKFRS 7, however, has not resulted in any prior-
period adjustments on cash flows, net income or balance sheet items.

IMPACT OF ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS

The Group has not early applied the following new and revised HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet

effective. The directors of the Company anticipate that the application of these standards or interpretations will have no

material impact on the results and the financial position of the Group.

HKAS 1 (Revised) Presentation of Financial Statements'

HKAS 23 (Revised) Borrowing Costs'

HKFRS 8 Operating Segments'

HK(IFRIC) — Int 12 Service Concession Arrangements?

HKIFRIC) — Int 13 Customer Loyalty Programmes?

HK(FRIC) — Int 14 HKAS 19 — The Limit on a Defined Benefit Asset,

Minimum Funding Requirements and their Interaction®
Notes:

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2009

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2008

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2008
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4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements included the financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) for the year ended 31 March 2008. The results of subsidiaries are
consolidated from the date of acquisition, being the date on which the Group obtains control, and continue to
be consolidated until the date that such control ceases. All significant intercompany transactions and balances

within the Group are eliminated on consolidation.

The acquisition of subsidiaries during the year has been accounted for using purchase method of
accounting. This method involves allocating the cost of the business combinations to the fair value of the
identifiable assets acquired, and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed at the date of acquisition. The cost
of the acquisition is measured at the aggregate of the fair value of the assets given, equity instruments issued and
liabilities incurred or assumed at the date of exchange, plus costs directly attributable to the acquisition.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting

policies in line with those used by other members of the Group.

Minority interests represent the interests of outside shareholders not held by the Group in the results and

net assets of the Company’s subsidiaries.

Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an entity whose financial and operating policies the Company controls, directly or
indirectly, so as to obtain benefits from its activities.

The results of subsidiaries are included in the Company’s income statement to the extent of dividends
received and receivable. The Company’s investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost less any impairment
losses.

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on the acquisition of subsidiaries represents the excess of the cost of the business
combination over the Group’s interest in the net fair value of the acquirees’ identifiable assets acquired, and

liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed as at the date of acquisition.

Goodwill arising on acquisition is initially recognised in the consolidated balance sheet as an asset at

cost and is subsequently measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses.

The carrying amount of goodwill is reviewed for impairment annually or more frequently if events
or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be impaired. For the purpose of impairment
testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination, from the acquisition date, allocated to each of the Group’s
cash generating units, or groups of cash-generating units, that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the
combination, irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the Group are assigned to those units or groups
of units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit (group of

cash-generating units), to which the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit

(group of cash-generating units) is less than the carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised.
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Where goodwill forms part of a cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) and part of the
operation within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the operation disposed of is included in
the carrying amount of the operation when determining the gain or loss on disposal of the operation. Goodwill
disposed of in this circumstance is measured based on the relative values of the operation disposed of and the
portion of the cash-generating unit retained.

Impairment of non-financial assets other than goodwill

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required
other than inventories and financial assets, the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. An asset’s recoverable
amount is the higher of the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s value in use and its fair value less costs to sell, and
is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely independent
of those from other assets or groups of assets, in which case, the recoverable amount is determined for the cash-
generating unit to which the asset belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount.
In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the
asset. An impairment loss is charged to the income statement in the period in which it arises, unless the asset is
carried at a revalued amount, in which case the impairment loss is accounted for in accordance with the relevant
accounting policy for that revalued asset.

An assessment is made at each balance sheet date as to whether there is any indication that previously
recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If any such indication exists, the asset’s
recoverable amount is estimated. A previously recognised impairment loss of an asset other than goodwill is
reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount of an asset,
but not to an amount higher than the carrying amount that would have been determined (net of any depreciation/
amortisation), had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal of an impairment
loss is credited to the income statement in the period in which it arises, unless the asset is carried at a revalued
amount, in which case the reversal of the impairment loss is accounted for in accordance with the relevant
accounting policy for that revalued asset.

Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a) directly, or indirectly through one or more intermediaries, the party (i) controls, is controlled
by, or is under common control with, the Group; (ii) has an interest in the Group that gives it
significant influence over the Group; or (iii) has joint control over the Group;

(b) the party is an associate;

(c) the party is a jointly controlled entity;

(d) the party is a member of the key management personnel of the Group or its parent;

(e) the party is a close member of the family of any individual referred to in (a) or (d);
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® the party is an entity that is controlled, jointly controlled or significantly influenced by or for
which significant voting power in such entity resides with, directly or indirectly, any individual
referred to in (d) or (e); or

(g) the party is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of the Group, or of any
entity that is a related party of the Group.

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses,
except that when an item of property, plant and equipment is classified as held for sale, it is not depreciated and is
measured at the lower of carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell. The cost of an item of property, plant
and equipment comprises its purchase price and any directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working
condition and location for its intended use. Cost may also include transfers from equity of any gains/losses on
qualifying cash flow hedges of foreign currency purchases of property, plant and equipment.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and equipment have been put into operation, such
as repairs and maintenance, is normally charged to the income statement in the period in which it is incurred.
In situations where it can be clearly demonstrated that the expenditure has resulted in an increase in the future
economic benefits expected to be obtained from the use of an item of property, plant and equipment and the
cost of the item can be measured reliably, the expenditure is capitalised as an additional cost of that asset or as
a replacement.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off the cost of each item of property, plant
and equipment to its residual value over its estimated useful life. The principal annual rates used for this purpose
are as follows:

Land and buildings 2%
Tooling 20%
Leasehold improvements Over the remaining lease terms
Furniture and fixtures 20%
Computer and office equipment 20%
Motor vehicles 10%-20%
Plant and machinery 10%-20%

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, the cost or valuation
of that item is allocated on a reasonable basis among the parts and each part is depreciated separately.

Residual values, useful lives and depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each
balance sheet date.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic
benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or retirement recognised in the
income statement in the year the asset is derecognised is the difference between the net sales proceeds and the
carrying amount of the asset.
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Available-for-sale financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets are initially recognised at fair value plus transaction costs. At each
balance sheet date the fair value is remeasured, with any resultant gain or loss being recognised directly in equity,
except for impairment loss and, in the case of monetary items such as debt securities, foreign exchange gains
and losses which are recognised directly in the income statement. When these investments are derecognised, the
cumulative gain or loss previously recognised directly in equity is recognised in the income statement.

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed to be either finite or indefinite. Intangible assets with
finite lives are amortised over the useful economic life and assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication
that the intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation period and the amortisation method for an intangible
asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at least at each balance sheet date.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested for impairment annually either individually or at
the cash-generating unit level. Such intangible assets are not amortised. The useful life of an intangible asset with
an indefinite life is reviewed annually to determine whether indefinite life assessment continues to be supportable.
If not, the change in the useful life assessment from indefinite to finite is accounted for on a prospective basis.

Research and development costs

All research costs are charged to the income statement as incurred.

Expenditure incurred on projects to develop new products is capitalised and deferred only when the
projects are clearly defined; the expenditure is separately identifiable and can be measured reliably; there is
reasonable certainty that the projects are technically feasible; and the products have commercial value. Product
development expenditure which does not meet these criteria is expenses when incurred.

Deferred development costs are amortised using the straight-line basis over the commercial lives of
the underlying products of not exceeding five years, commencing from the date when the products are put into
commercial production.

Technical know-how

Technical know-how with indefinite useful lives is tested for impairment annually either individually
or at the cash-generating unit level and are not amortised. The useful life is reviewed annually to determine
whether indefinite life assessment continues to be supportable. If not, the change in the useful life assessment
form indefinite to finite is accounted for on a prospective basis.

Leases

Leases that transfer substantially all the rewards and risks of ownership of assets to the Group, other than
legal title, are accounted for as finance leases. At the inception of a finance lease, the cost of the leased asset
is capitalized at the present value of the minimum lease payments and recorded together with the obligation,
excluding the interest element, to reflect the purchase and financing. Assets held under capitalized finance leases
are included in property, plant and equipment and depreciated over the shorter of the lease terms and the estimated
useful lives of the assets. The finance costs of such leases are charged to the income statement so as to provide
a constant periodic rate of charge over the lease terms.
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Assets acquired through hire purchase contracts of a financing nature are accounted for as finance leases,
but are depreciated over their estimated useful lives.

Leases where substantially all the rewards and risks of ownership of assets remain with the lessor are
accounted for as operating leases. Rentals payable under the operating leases are charged to the income statement
on the straight-line basis over the lease terms.

Investment and other financial assets

Financial assets in the scope of HKAS 39 are classified as either financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss, loans and receivables, held-to-maturity investments, or available-for-sale financial assets, as
appropriate. When financial assets are recognised initially, they are measured at fair value, plus, in the case of
investments not at fair value through profit or loss, directly attributable transaction costs. The Group determines
the classification of its financial assets after initial recognition and, where allowed and appropriate, re-evaluates
this designation at the balance sheet date.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on the trade date i.e., the date that
the Company commits to purchase the asset. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial
assets that require delivery of assets within the period generally established by regulation or convention in the
marketplace.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets classified as held for trading are included in the category “financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss”. Financial assets are classified as held for trading if they are acquired for the purpose
of selling in the near term. Gains or losses on investments held for trading are recognised in the income
statement.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not
quoted in an active market. Such assets are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Gains
and losses are recognised in the income statement when the loans and receivables are derecognised or impaired,
as well as through the amortisation process.

Held-to-maturity investments

Non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturity are classified
as held-to-maturity when the Group has the positive intention and ability to hold to maturity. Held-to-maturity
investments are subsequently measured at amortised cost less any allowance for impairment. Amortised cost is
computed as the amount initially recognised minus principal repayments, plus or minus the cumulative amortisation
using the effective interest method of any difference between the initially recognised amount and the maturity
amount. This calculation includes all fees and points paid or received between parties to the contracts that are an
integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and all other premiums and discounts. For investments
carried at amortised cost, gains and losses are recognised in the income statement when the investments are
derecognised or impaired, as well as through the amortisation process.
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Available-for-sale financial assets

Available-for-sales financial assets are those non-derivative financial assets in listed and unlisted equity
securities that are designated as available-for-sale or are not classified in any of the other three categories.
After initial recognition available-for-sale financial assets are measured at fair value with gains or losses being
recognised as a separate component of equity until the investment is derecognised or until the investment is
determined to be impaired at which time the cumulative gain or loss previously reported in equity is included
in the income statement.

When the fair value of unlisted equity securities cannot be reliably measured because (a) the variability
in the range of reasonable fair value estimates is significant for that investment or (b) the probabilities of the
various estimates within the range cannot be reasonably assessed and used in estimating fair value, such securities
are stated at cost less any impairment losses.

Fair value

The fair value of investments that are actively traded in organised financial markets is determined by
reference to quoted market bid prices at the close of business on the balance sheet date. For investments where
there is no active market, fair value is determined using valuation techniques. Such techniques include using
recent arm’s length market transactions; reference to the current market value of another instrument, which is
substantially the same; a discounted cash flow analysis and option pricing models.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group assesses at each balance sheet date whether there is any objective evidence that a financial
asset or group of financial assets is impaired.

Assets carried at amortised cost

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on loans and receivables or held-to-maturity
investments carried at amortised cost has been incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit
losses that have not been incurred) discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate (i.e., the
effective interest rate computed at initial recognition). The carrying amount of the asset is reduced either directly
or through the use of an allowance account. The amount of the impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss.

The Group first assesses whether objective evidence of impairment exists individually for financial assets
that are individually significant, and individually or collectively for financial assets that are not individually
significant. If it is determined that no objective evidence of impairment exists for an individually assessed
financial asset, whether significant or not, the asset is included in a group of financial assets with similar credit
risk characteristics and that group is collectively assessed for impairment. Assets that are individually assessed
for impairment and for which an impairment loss is or continues to be recognised are not included in a collective
assessment of impairment.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related
objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss
is reversed. Any subsequent reversal of an impairment loss is recognised in the income statement, to the extent
that the carrying value of the asset does not exceed its amortised cost at the reversal date.
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Assets carried at cost

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on an unquoted equity instrument that is not carried
at fair value because its fair value cannot be reliably measured, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows discounted at the current
market rate of return for a similar financial asset. Impairment losses on these assets are not reversed.

Available-for-sale financial assets

If an available-for-sale asset is impaired, an amount comprising the difference between its cost (net of
any principal payment and amortisation) and its current fair value, less any impairment loss previously recognised
in profit or loss, is transferred from equity to the income statement. Impairment losses on equity instruments
classified as available-for-sale are not reversed through profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar financial
asset) is derecognised where:

. the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired;

. the Group retains the rights to receive cash flows from the asset, but has assumed an obligation
to pay them in full without material delay to a third party under a “pass-through” arrangement;
or

. the Group has transferred its right to receive cash flows from the asset and either (a) has transferred
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) has neither transferred nor retained
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the asset.

Where the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset and has neither transferred
nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the asset is
recognised to the extent of the Group’s continuing involvement in the asset. Continuing involvement that takes
the form of a guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original carrying amount of the
asset and the maximum amount of consideration that the Group could be required to repay.

Where continuing involvement takes the form of a written and/or purchased option (including a cash-
settled option or similar provision) on the transferred asset, the extent of the Group’s continuing involvement
is the amount of the transferred asset that the Group may repurchase, except that in the case of a written put
option (including a cash-settled option or similar provision) on an asset measured at fair value, the extent of the
Group’s continuing involvement is limited to the lower of the fair value of the transferred asset and the option
exercise price.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled
or expired.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different
terms, or the terms of an existed liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as
a derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new liability, and the difference in the respective
carrying amounts is recognised in profit or loss.
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Derivative financial instruments and hedging

The Group uses derivative financial instruments such as forward currency contracts and interest rate
swaps to hedge its risks associated with interest rate and foreign currency fluctuations. Such derivative financial
instruments are initially recognised at fair value on the date on which a derivative contract is entered into and
are subsequently remeasured at fair value. Derivatives are carried as assets when the fair value is positive and
as liabilities when the fair value is negative.

Any gains or losses arising from changes on fair value on derivatives that do not qualify for hedge
accounting are taken directly to net profit or loss for the year.

The fair value of forward currency contracts is calculated by reference to current forward exchange
rates for contracts with similar maturity profiles. The fair value of interest rate swap contracts is determined by
reference to market values for similar instruments.

For the purpose of hedge accounting, hedges are classified as:

. fair value hedges when hedging the exposure to changes in the fair value of a recognised asset
or liability; or

. cash flow hedges when hedging the exposure to variability in cash flows that is either attributable
to a particular risk associated with a recognised asset or liability or a forecast transaction.

A hedge of the foreign currency risk of a firm commitment is accounted for as a cash flow hedge.

At the inception of a hedge relationship, the Group formally designates and documents the hedge
relationship to which the Group wishes to apply hedge accounting and the risk management objective and strategy
for undertaking the hedge. The documentation includes identification of the hedging instrument, the hedge item
or transaction, the nature of the risk being hedged and how the Group will assess the hedging instrument’s
effectiveness in offsetting the exposure to changes in the hedged item’s fair value or cash flows attributable to
the hedged risk. Such hedges are expected to be highly effective in achieving offsetting changes in fair value
or cash flows and are assessed on an ongoing basis to determine that they actually have been highly effective
throughout the financial reporting periods for which they were designated.

Hedges which meet the strict criteria for hedge accounting are accounted for as follow:
Fair value hedges

Fair value hedges are hedges of the Group’s exposure to changes in the fair value of a recognised asset
or liability or an unrecognised firm commitment, or an identified portion of such an asset, liability or firm
commitment, that is attributable to a particular risk and could affect profit or loss. For fair value hedges, the
carrying amount of the hedged item is adjusted for gains and losses attributable to the risk being hedged, the
derivative is remeasured at fair value and gains and losses from both are taken to profit or loss.

For fair value hedges relating to items carried at amortised cost, the adjustment to carrying value is

amortised through profit or loss over the remaining terms to maturity. Any adjustment to the carrying amount of
a hedged financial instrument for which the effective interest method is used is amortised to profit or loss.
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Amortisation may begin as soon as an adjustment exists and shall begin no later than when the hedged
item ceases to be adjusted for changes in its fair value attributable to the risk being hedged.

When an unrecognised firm commitment is designated as a hedged item, the subsequent cumulative change
in the fair value of the firm commitment attributable to the hedged risk is recognised as an asset or liability with
a corresponding gain or loss recognised in profit or loss. The changes in the fair value of the hedging instrument
are also recognised on profit or loss.

The Group discontinues fair value hedge accounting of the hedging instrument expires or is sold,
terminated or exercised, the hedge no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting or the Group revokes the
designation. Any adjustment to the carrying amount of a hedged financial instrument for which the effective
interest method is used is amortised to profit or loss. Amortisation may begin as soon as an adjustment exists
and shall begin no later than when the hedged item ceases to be adjusted for changes in its fair value attributable
to the risk being hedged.

Cash flow hedges

Cash flow hedges are hedges of the Group’s exposure to variability in cash flows that is attributable to a
particular risk associated with a recognised asset or liability or a highly probable forecast transaction and could
affect profit or loss. The effective portion of the gain or loss on the hedging instrument is recognised directly in
equity, while the ineffective portion is recognised in profit or loss.

Amounts taken to equity are transferred to the income statement when the hedged transaction affects
profits or loss, such as when the hedged financial income or financial expense is recognised or when a forecast
sale or purchase occurs. Where the hedged item is the cost if a non-financial asset or liability, the accounts taken
to equity are transferred to the initial carrying amount of the non-financial asset or liability.

If the forecast transaction is no longer expected to occur, the amounts previously recognised in equity
are transferred to profit or loss. If the hedging instrument expires or is sold, terminated or exercised without
replacement or rollover, or if its designation as a hedge is revoked, the amounts previously recognised in equity
remain in equity until the forecast transaction occurs. If the related transaction is not expected to occur, the
amount is taken to profit or loss.

Hedges of a net investment

Hedges of a net investment in a foreign operation, including a hedge of a monetary item that is accounted
for as part of the net investment, are accounted for in a similar way to cash flow hedges. Gains or losses on the
hedging instrument relating to the effective portion of the hedge are recognised directly in equity while any gains
or losses relating to the ineffective portion are recognised in profit or loss. On disposal of the foreign operation,
the cumulative value of any such gains or losses recognised directly in equity is transferred to profit or loss.

Inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined on the first-in,
first-out basis, and in the case of work in progress and finished goods, comprises direct materials, direct labor

and an appropriate proportion of overheads. Net realisable value is based on estimated selling prices less any
estimated costs to be incurred to completion and disposal.
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Trade receivables

Trade receivables, which generally have credit terms of not more than 90 days, except for certain well
established customers, where the terms are extended to not more than 180 days, are initially recognised at fair
value and thereafter stated at amortised cost using the effective interest method unless the effect of discounting
would be immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost less impairment losses for bad and doubtful debts. A
provision of impairment of accounts receivable is established when there is objective evidence that the Group
will not be able to collect all amounts due according to the original terms of receivables. The amount of the
provision is the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash
flows, discounted at the effective interest rate. The amount of the provision is recognised in the income statement

and bad debts are written off as incurred.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets classified as held for trading are included in the category “financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss”. Financial assets are classified as held for trading if they are acquired for the purpose
of selling in the near term. Gains or losses on investments held for trading are recognised in the income
statement.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on
hand and demand deposits, and short term highly liquid investments which are readily convertible into known
amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, and have a short maturity of
generally within three months when acquired, less bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form an

integral part of the Group’s cash management.

For the purpose of the balance sheets, cash and bank balances comprise cash on hand and at banks,

including term deposits, which are not restricted as to use.
Provision

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or constructive) has arisen as a result of a
past event and it is probable that a future outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation, provided
that a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount recognised for a provision is the present value at
the balance sheet date of the future expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation. The increase in
the discounted present value amount arising from the passage of time is included in finance costs in the income
statement.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax is recognised in the income statement or in
equity if it relates to items that are recognised in the same or a different period, directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount expected

to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all temporary differences at the balance sheet date

between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.
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Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences, except:

. where the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither
the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

. in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates
and interests in joint ventures, where the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can
be controlled and it is probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable
future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, carry forward of unused tax
credits and unused tax losses, to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which
the deductible temporary differences, and the carry forward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be
utilised except:

. where the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary differences arises from the
initial recognition of an asset or liability and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the
accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

. in respect of deductible temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries,
associates and interests in joint ventures, deferred tax assets are only recognised to the extent
that it is probable that the temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable
profit will be available against which the temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each balance sheet date and reduced to the extent
that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax
asset to be utilised. Conversely, previously unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at each balance sheet
date and are recognised to the extent that it is probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow
all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period
when the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted at the balance sheet date.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset, if a legally enforceable right exists to set off
current tax assets against current tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to the same taxable entity and the
same taxation authority.

Convertible notes

Convertible notes that can be converted to share capital at the option of the holder, where the number of
shares issued does not vary with changes in their fair value, are accounted for as compound financial instruments
which contain both a liability component and an equity component. At initial recognition the liability component
of the convertible notes is calculated as the present value of the future interest and principal payments, discounted
at the market rate of interest applicable at the time of initial recognition to similar liabilities that do not have
a conversion option. Any excess of proceeds over the amount initially recognised as the liability component is
recognised as the equity component. Transaction costs that relate to the issue of a compound financial instrument
are allocated to the liability and equity components in proportion to the allocation of proceeds.
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The liability component is subsequently carried at amortised cost. The interest expenses recognised in
the income statement is calculated using the effective interest method. The equity component is recognised in
the convertible notes reserve until either the note is converted or redeemed.

If the note is converted, the convertible notes reserve, together with the carrying amount of the liability
component at the time of conversion, is transferred to share capital and share premium as consideration for the
shares issued. If the note is redeemed, the convertible notes reserve is released directly to retained profits.

Promissory notes
Promissory notes are initially recognised at fair value and thereafter stated at amortised cost.
Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received and receivable and represent amounts
receivable for services provided in the normal course of business, net of discount and sales related taxes. Revenue
is recognised when it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and when the revenue can
be measured reliably, on the following bases:

(a) Revenue from the sales of goods is recognised when the significant risks and rewards of
ownership have been transferred to the buyer, provided that the Group maintains neither managerial
involvement to the degree usually associated with ownership, nor effective control over the goods
sold.

(b) Revenue from provision of computer network setup service is recognised when the customer
accepts the delivery and that the system is operating satisfactorily.

(c) Revenue from provision of design and engineering services is recognised, when services are
rendered.

(d) Revenue from provision of mobile payment gateway services is recognised, when services are
rendered.

(e) Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the effective interest method.

) Dividend income from unlisted investments is recognised when the shareholder’s right to receive

payment is established. Dividend income from listed investments is recognised when the share
price of the investment goes ex-dividend.

Employee benefits
(a) Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised when they accrue to employees. A provision is
made for the estimated liability for annual leave as a result of services rendered by employees up to the balance

sheet date.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity leave are not recognised until the time of leave.
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(b) Employee retirement benefits

The Group, other than the subsidiaries in the People’s Republic of China (“PRC”) operates a defined
contribution Mandatory Provident Fund retirement benefits scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under the Mandatory
Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance, for all of its employees in Hong Kong. Contributions are made based on
a percentage of the employees’ basic salaries and are charged to the income statement as they become payable
in accordance with the rules of the MPF scheme. The assets of MPF Scheme are held separately from those
of the Group in an independently administrated fund. The Group’s employer contributions vest fully with the
employees when contributed into the MPF Scheme, except for the Group’s employer voluntary contributions,
which will be refunded to the Group when the employee leaves employment prior to the contributions vesting
fully, in accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme.

The PRC subsidiaries contributions to a local municipal government retirement scheme in the PRC are
expensed as incurred while the local municipal government in the PRC undertakes to assume the retirement
benefit obligations of all existing and future retirees of the qualified staff in the PRC.

(c) Share-based compensation

The Group operates an equity-settled, share-based compensation plan. The fair value of the employees
services received in exchange for the grant of the options is recognised as an expense. The total amount to be
expended over the vesting period is determined by reference to the fair value of the options granted, excluding
the impact of non-market vesting conditions (for example, profitability and sales growth potential).

The proceeds received net of any directly attributable transaction costs are credited to share capital
(nominal value) and share premium when the options are exercised.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs are expensed in profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred, except to the
extent that they are capitalised as being directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of an
asset which necessarily takes a substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use or sale.

The capitalisation of borrowing costs as part of the cost of a qualifying asset commences when expenditure
for the asset is being incurred, borrowing costs are being incurred and activities that are necessary to prepare
the asset for its intended use or sale are in progress. Capitalisation of borrowing costs is suspended or ceases
when substantially all the activities necessary to prepare the qualifying asset for its intended use or sale are
interrupted or complete.

Foreign currencies

The financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars, which is the Group’s functional and
presentation currency. Foreign currency transactions are initially recorded using the functional currency rates ruling
at the date of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at
the functional currency rates of exchange ruling at the balance sheet date. All differences are taken to the income
statement. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated
using the exchange rates at the date of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a
foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was determined.
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On consolidation, the financial statements of overseas subsidiaries are translated into Hong Kong dollars
using the net investment method. The income statements of the overseas subsidiaries are translated into Hong
Kong dollars at the weighted average exchange rates for the year, and their balance sheets are translated into
Hong Kong dollars at the exchange rates ruling at the balance sheet dates. The resulting translation differences
are included in the exchange fluctuation reserve.

For the purpose of the consolidated cash flow statement, the cash flows of the overseas subsidiaries are
translated into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange rates ruling at the dates of the cash flows. Frequently recurring
cash flows of the overseas subsidiaries which arise throughout the year are translated into Hong Kong dollars at
the weighted average exchange rates for the year.

Contingent liabilities and contingent assets

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from past events and whose existence will only
be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the
control of the Group. It can also be a present obligation arising from past event that is not recognised because
it is not probable that outflow of economic resources will be required or the amount of obligation cannot be
measured reliably.

A contingent liability is not recognised but is disclosed in the notes to the financial statements. When
a change in the probability of an outflow occurs so that outflow is probable, they will then be recognised as a

provision.
A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises from past events and whose existence will be confirmed
only by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain events not wholly within the control of the

Group.

Contingent assets are not recognised but are disclosed in the notes to the financial statements when an
inflow of economic benefits is probable. When inflow is virtually certain, an asset is recognised.

Segment reporting
A segment is a distinguishable component of the Group that is engaged either in providing products

or services (business segment), or in providing products or services within a particular economic environment
(geographical segment), which is subject to risks and rewards that are different form those of other segments.

_74 -



APPENDIX 1 FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE GROUP

5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

Estimates and judgements used in preparing the financial statements are continually evaluated and are based on
historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under
the circumstances. The Group makes estimate and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting accounting estimates
will, by definition, seldom equal to the related actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have a significant effect
on the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities are discussed below:

Impairment of goodwill

The Group tests annually whether goodwill has suffered any impairment. The recoverable amounts of
cash-generating units have been determined based on value-in-use calculations. These calculations require the
use of estimates, such as discount rates, future profitability and growth rates.

Useful lives of property, plant and equipment

Management determines the estimated useful lives and residual values for its property, plant and equipment.
Management will revise the depreciation charge where useful lives are different from previously estimated ones,
or it will write-off or write-down obsolete or non-strategic assets that have been abandoned or sold.

Income taxes

The Group is subject to incomes taxes in a number of jurisdictions. Significant judgement is required in
determining the provision for income taxes for each entity in the Group. There are transactions and calculations
for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of business. The Group recognises
liabilities for potential tax exposures based on estimates of whether additional taxes will be due. Where the final
tax outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will
impact the income tax and deferred tax provisions in the year in which such determination is made.

Deferred tax is provided using the liability method, on all temporary differences at the balance sheet
date between the tax bases of assets and liabilities, and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.
Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses carried forward to the extent it is probable (i.e. more
likely than not) that future taxable profits will be available against which the unused tax losses can be utilised,
based on all available evidence. Recognition primarily involves judgement regarding the future performance of
the particular legal entity or tax group in which the deferred tax asset has been recognised. A variety of other
factors are also evaluated in considering whether there is convincing evidence that is probable that some portion
or all of the deferred tax assets and related financial models and budgets are reviewed at each balance sheet date
and to the extent that there is insufficient convincing evidence that sufficient taxable profits will be available
within the utilisation periods to allow utilisation of the carry forward tax losses, the asset balance will be reduced
and charged to the income statement.
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Impairment of assets

In determining whether an asset is impaired or whether the event previously causing the impairment no
longer exists, the Group has to exercise judgement in the area of asset impairment, particularly in assessing:
(1) whether an event has occurred that may affect the asset value, or such an event affecting the asset value
has not been in existence; (2) whether the carrying value of an asset can be supported by the net present value
of future cash flows, which are estimated based upon the continued use of the asset or derecognition; and (3)
the appropriate key assumptions to be applied in preparing cash flow projections including whether these cash
flow projections are discounted using an appropriate rate. Changing the assumptions selected by management to
determine the level of impairment, including the discount rates or the growth rate assumptions in the cash flow
projections, could have a material effect on the net present value used in the impairment test.

6. SEGMENTAL INFORMATION

The Group’s operating businesses are structured and managed separately, according to the nature of their operations
and the products and services they provide. Each of the Group’s business segments represents a strategic business unit
that offers products and services which are subject to risks and returns that are different from those of other business
segments. Summary details of the business segments are as follows:

. The internet appliances segment provides internet appliances and related products;

. The electronic devices and components segment provides power devices, magnetic and printed circuit
board assembly;

. The design and engineering services segment provides design of power devices, magnetic and printed
circuit board assembly; and

. The mobile payment gateway services segment provides e-payment services.

In determining the Group’s geographical segments, revenues are attributed to the segments based on the location
of the customers and assets are attributed to the segments based on the location of assets.

-76 -



APPENDIX 1

FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE GROUP

(a) Business segments

The following tables present revenues, results and certain assets, liabilities and expenditure information

for the Group’s business segments.

TURNOVER

RESULTS
Segments
results

Other revenues
and gains

Distribution
costs

Administrative
expenses

Provision for
impairment
loss on
available-for-
sale financial
assets

Loss on disposal
of subsidiaries,
net

Finance costs

Share of loss
from an
associate

Loss before tax
Tax

Loss for the year

Continuing
operation Discontinued operations
Mobile Internet Electronic Design and
payment gateway appliances and devices and engineering
services related products components services Consolidated
2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007
HK'000  HK$'000 ~ HK$'000 ~ HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000  HKS$000
36,523 3,178 - 2,147 104,116 99,972 1,724 4717 142363 110,074
33,331 3,178 - 192 15,299 18,821 (658) 2,065 419m2 24,256
3,519 1329
(4,076) (1,217)
(29,594)  (21,216)
- (570)
(17,975) -
(6314)  (8,361)
- (187)
(6.468)  (5966)
(2,544)  (2652)
9,012)  (8,618)
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Continuing
operation Discontinued operations
Mobile Internet Electronic Design and
payment gateway appliances and devices and engineering
services related products components services Consolidated

2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007
HK'000  HK$'000  HKS$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS$000

BALANCE SHEET
ASSETS
Segments assets 45,823 9319 - 241 - 38,506 - 14,776 45,823 62,842
Unallocated assets 267,138 154,107
Total assets 312,961 216,949
LIABILITIES
Segments liabilities - - - 36 - 20,051 - - - 20,087
Unallocated liabilities 04,246 103,934
Total liabilities 94246 124,021
Other segment

information:
Depreciation 2211 266 28 248 3,529 3,002 - - 5,768 3516
Depreciation

- unallocated 1,460 1,363
Capital

expenditure

- unallocated 13,583 18,917

(b) Geographical segments
A summary of the geographical segments as at 31 March 2008 is set out as follows:
Asia & United States of United
Middle East America (“USA”) Kingdom (“UK”) Europe Others Consolidated

2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007
HK'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS$'000 HKS'000  HKS$'000 HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS$'000  HKS'000

Turnover:
Continuing
operation 36,523 3,178 - - - - - - - - 36,523 3178
Discontinued
operations 31440 29,284 7998 19580 38,691 34T T 2687 - § 105840 106,89
External
turnover 67963 32460 7,998 19580 38,691 34T 01 26877 - § 142363 110,074
—_— - ——— — — — — — —
Capital
expenditure 13,583 18917 - - - - - - - - 13583 18917
—_— - ———— — — — — — —
Assets:
Segment assets 312961 198971 - 5,944 - 4948 - 5674 - 1412 312961 216949
— — — — — — — — — I — ——
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7. TURNOVER, OTHER REVENUES AND GAINS

Turnover represents the net invoiced value of goods sold, after sales discounts where applicable services rendered.
All significant intra-group transactions have been eliminated on consolidation.

An analysis of the Group’s turnover, other revenues and gains for the year is as follows:

Group
2008 2007
HK$’000 HK$’000
TURNOVER
CONTINUING OPERATION
Mobile payment gateway services 36,523 3,178
DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS
Trading of internet appliances and related products - 2,147
Trading and manufacturing of electronic
devices and components 104,116 99,972
Design and engineering services 1,724 4,777
105,840 106,896
142,363 110,074
OTHER REVENUES AND GAINS
Interest income 2,809 711
Exchange gains, net 215 321
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment - 71
Gain arising from fair value change of derivative
financial instruments 146 -
Sundry income 349 226
3,519 1,329
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8. FINANCE COSTS
Group
2008 2007
HK$°000 HK$’000
Interest on:

Bank overdrafts, bills and loans wholly repayable
within five years 5,366 5,570
Finance leases 372 486
Convertible notes 34 885
Promissory notes repayable within five years 542 1,285
Other loans - 135
6,314 8,361

9. PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAX

The Group’s profit/(loss) before tax is arrived at after crediting and charging the following:

Group
2008 2007
HK$°000 HK$°000
Crediting:
Interest income 2,809 711
Exchange gains, net 215 321
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment - 71
Gain arising from fair value change of derivative
financial instruments 146 —
Charging:
Auditors’ remuneration 680 648
Amortisation of product development costs 2,035 2,143
Cost of sales 94,391 85,818
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 7,228 4,879
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 100 -
Provision for impairment loss of available-for-sale financial assets - 570
Minimum lease payments under operating
leases on land and buildings 1,214 2,106
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries, net 17,975 -
Staff costs (excluding directors’ remuneration — note 10)
Salaries and allowances 14,792 14,709
Pension scheme contributions 259 686
Share-based payments 1,619 2,618
Loss of disposal of subsidiary’s loan 1,500 -
Impairment allowances for bad and doubtful debt 54 —

Staff costs and directors’ remuneration amounting to HK$3,742,000 (2007: HK$3,943,000) in relation to research
and development are capitalised in “product development costs” during the year.
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10. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND SENIOR EXECUTIVES

(a) Details of directors’ remuneration disclosed pursuant to the Rules Governing the Listing Rules of Securities
on GEM and Section 161 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, are as follows:

Group
2008 2007
HK$°000 HK$°000

Independent non-executive directors:
Fees 275 180
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind - -

Pension scheme contributions 5 -
Share-based payments 813 -
1,093 180

Executive directors:

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind 1,909 1,430
Pension scheme contributions 26 23
Share-based payments 1,304 1,102
3,239 2,555
4,332 2,735

The remuneration of the directors of the Company fell within the following bands:

Number of directors
2008 2007

Emolument band
Nil to HK$1,000,000 9 7
HK$1,000,000 to HK$2,000,000

There was no arrangement under which a director waived or agreed to waive any remuneration during

the year (2007: Nil). In addition, no emoluments were paid by the Group to the directors as an inducement to
join, or upon joining the Group or as a compensation for loss of office (2007: Nil).
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(b) The emolument of each director of the Company for the year is set out below:
2008 2007
Salaries,
allowances Pension

and scheme Share-

benefits contri- based
Fees in kind butions payments Total Total
HK$'000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HK'000 HKS$’000 HKS$000

Executive Directors
Chan Hin Wing, James - 120 6 138 264 054
Hsu Tung Chi

(appointed on 12 March 2008) - 55 - 138 193 -
Hsu Tung Sheng

(appointed on 2 October 2007) - 399 3 138 540 -
Chan Francis Ping Kuen

(appointed on 22 May 2007) - 104 5 890 999 -
Lo Ka Tong

(resigned on 12 March 2008) - 1,214 11 - 1,225 1,317
Wan Kin Chung

(resigned on 24 August 2007) - - - - - 4
Cheng Kwong Chung

(resigned on 11 July 2007) - - - - - 45
Wong Tak Shing

(resigned on 22 May 2007) - 17 1 - 18 535

Sub-total - 1,909 26 1,304 3,239 2,555

Non-executive Directors

Kwok Chi Sun Vincent 60 - - - 60 60
Yeung Kam Yan 60 - - - 60 60
Chan Wing Chiu 60 - - - 60 60
Ho Hoi Lap

(appointed on 15 June 2007) 95 - 5 813 913 -
Sub-total 275 - 5 813 1,093 180
Total 275 1,909 31 2,117 4,332 2,735
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(c) The five highest paid employees during the year included one (2007: Nil) director, details of whose
remuneration are set out above. Details of the remuneration of the remaining four (2007: five), non-
director, highest paid employees are set out as follows:

Group
2008 2007
HK$’000 HK$’000
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind 2,292 3,201
Pension scheme contributions 46 60
2,338 3,261

The remuneration of each of the above five highest paid employees fell within the following bands:

Number of employee

2008 2007
Emolument band
Nil to HK$1,000,000 5 4
HK$1,000,000 to HK$2,000,000 - 1

During the year, no remuneration was paid by the Group to any of the five highest paid employees as an
inducement to join or upon joining the Group, or as compensation for loss of office (2007: Nil).

There was no arrangement under which any of the five highest paid employees waived or agreed to waive
any remuneration during the year (2007: Nil).

11. TAX
Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of 17.5% (2007: 17.5%) on the estimated assessable profits
arising in Hong Kong during the year. Taxes on profits assessable outside Hong Kong have been calculated at the rates

of tax prevailing in the countries in which the Group operates, based on existing legislation, interpretations and practices
in respect thereof.
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The amount of tax in the consolidated income statement represents:

Group
2008 2007
HK$°000 HK$’000
Current tax-provision for Hong Kong profits tax
Current year 429 292
Over provision in prior years - (208)
Current tax-provision for the PRC tax
Current year 1,721 -
Under provision in prior years 223 -
2,373 84
Deferred tax — note 32 171 2,568
Tax charge for the year 2,544 2,652
Attributable to:
Continuing operation 2,170 497
Discontinued operations — note 13 374 2,155
2,544 2,652

A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to loss before tax using the statutory rate for the countries in which
the Company and its subsidiaries are domiciled to the tax expense at the effective tax rates, and a reconciliation of the
applicable rates (i.e., the statutory tax rates) to the effective tax rate, are as follows:

Group

2008 2007

HK$’000 HK$°000

Loss before tax (6,468) (5,966)
Tax at the domestic tax rate of 17.5% (2007: 17.5%) (1,132) (1,044)
Effect of different tax rates in other jurisdictions 2,143 219
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses 6,323 2,716
Tax effect of non-taxable income 981) (1,506)
Tax effect on accelerated depreciation allowance (793) (35)
Tax effect on unused tax losses not recognised 850 2,510
Under provision in the prior years 223 -
Over provision in the prior years - (208)
Tax rebate (75) -
Tax concession (4,014) -
Tax charge for the year 2,544 2,652

Details of movement of the Group’s deferred tax are set out in note 32 to the financial statements.
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12. NET LOSS ATTRIBUTABLE TO SHAREHOLDERS

Net loss attributable to shareholders for the year ended 31 March 2008 dealt with in the financial statements of
the Company was HK$25,396,000 (2007: HK$6,855,000).

13. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

On 29 September 2007, the Company entered into a sale and purchase agreement with a third party to dispose
of its entire equity interest in Smart Time Development Limited, which held subsidiaries engaged in trading of internet

appliances and related products.

Besides, on 11 January 2008, Great Plan Group Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered
into agreements to sell 100% of the total issued shares of Union Bridge Group Limited, which held subsidiaries engaged
in trading and manufacturing of electronic devices and components, and design and engineering services. The disposal
of the entire interest in Union Bridge Group Limited and it subsidiaries was completed on 12 March 2008.

The operating result associated with the business of trading of internet appliances and related products, trading
and manufacturing of electronic devices and components, and design and engineering services for the year and gain on
disposal of subsidiaries related to the discontinued operations are presented below:

2008 2007
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
Turnover 7 105,840 106,896
Cost of sales (91,199) (85,818)
Gross profit 14,641 21,078
Other revenues and gains 1,107 1,186
Distribution costs (241) (1,217)
Administrative expenses (10,886) (12,940)
Provision for impairment loss of
available-for-sale financial assets - (570)
Finance costs (5,738) (6,192)
PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAX (1,117) 1,345
Tax 11 (374) (2,155)
LOSS FOR THE YEAR (1,491) (810)
The net cash flows incurred by the disposed group are as follows:
2008 2007
HK$°000 HK$°000
Operating activities 25,403 25,692
Investing activities (5,134) (17,633)
Financing activities (14,543) (9,533)
Net cash inflow/(outflow) 5,726 (1,474)
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14. DIVIDENDS

No dividends have been paid or declared by the Company during the year (2007: Nil).

15. LOSS PER SHARE

Basic loss per share is calculated by dividing the net loss attributable to shareholders by the weighted average
number of ordinary shares in issue during the year.

2008 2007
HK$’000 HK$°000
For continuing and discontinued operations
Loss attributable to shareholders (18,751) (9,117)
For continuing operation
Loss attributable to shareholders (17,260) (8,307)

Number of shares

Weighted average number of ordinary shares
in issue during the year 1,146,633,275 513,322,041

Diluted loss per share is not presented as the convertible notes and share options had anti-dilutive effects on the
basic loss per share.
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16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Group
Leasehold Furniture Computer
Land and improve- and and office Motor Plant and
buildings  Tooling ments fixture equipment  vehicles machinery Total

HK$'000  HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000  HK'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000

Cost/Carrying value

At 1 April 2006 5,083 789 1,974 193 3,338 9 12,814 24,200
Arising on acquisition

of subsidiaries - - 336 13 4811 - - 5,160
Additions - 636 4,754 334 1413 - 11,780 18,917
Disposals - - - - - - (2,819) (2,819)
Exchange realignment - 19 220 49 139 - 728 1,155

At 31 March 2007

and at 1 April 2007 5,083 1,444 7,284 589 9,701 9 22,503 46,613
Additions - 272 200 85 12,567 438 21 13,583
Disposal - - (484) - (25) - - (509)
Disposal of subsidiaries (5,083) (1,741) (7,113) (666) (5,320) (447)  (23,790)  (44,160)
Exchange realignment - 25 745 86 1,340 - 1,266 3,462
At 31 March 2008 - - 632 94 18,263 - - 18,989
Accumulated

depreciation
At 1 April 2006 29 18 697 94 488 9 1,879 3214
Charge for the year 215 256 668 55 1,274 - 2411 4879
Written back on disposals - - - - - - (1,889) (1,889)
Exchange realignment - 6 127 48 (31) - 437 587

At 31 March 2007

and at 1 April 2007 244 280 1,492 197 1,731 9 2,838 6,791
Charge for the year 204 326 923 79 2,977 54 2,665 7,228
Written back on disposals - - (393) - 3) - - (396)
Disposal of subsidiaries (448) (623) (2,077) (324) (2,303) (63) (6,056)  (11,894)
Exchange realignment - 17 280 62 303 - 553 1,215
At 31 March 2008 - - 225 14 2,705 - - 2,944
Net book value
At 31 March 2008 - - 407 80 15,558 - - 16,045
At 31 March 2007 4,839 1,164 5,792 392 7,970 - 19,665 39,822
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Notes:
@) The Group’s land and buildings are held under medium-term leases and are situated in Hong Kong.
(i) The net book value of the Group’s property, plant and equipment held under finance leases (included in

plant and machinery) as at 31 March 2008 amounted to HK$nil (2007: HK$11,177,000).

(iii) The Group had no pledged of assets as at 31 March 2008. As at 31 March 2007, the Group’s land and
buildings with net book value of HK$4,839,000 were all pledged to secure banking facilities granted to
the Group’s subsidiaries.

@iv) As the prepaid land lease payment cannot be allocated reliably between the land and building elements,
the entire lease payment is included in the cost of land and buildings as a finance lease in property, plant
and equipment in accordance with HKAS17.

17. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE FINANCIAL ASSETS

Available-for-sale financial assets represent an investment in a company listed in Hong Kong.

Group
2008 2007
HK$°000 HK$°000
Listed equity securities, at cost - 10,800
Transfer from capital reserve account - (1,200)
Provision for impairment loss - (9,450)

— 150

In April 2007, the Group disposed of its entire shareholdings in MP Logistics International Holdings Limited, a
company listed in GEM, through disposal of its entire interest in one of the subsidiary, Sunny Sky Investments Management
Limited, to an independent third party at a consideration of HK$150,000.

Provision for impairment loss as at 31 March 2007 amounting to HK$9,450,000 is determined based on the
consideration received after the year ended 31 March 2007 as mentioned above.

Particulars of available-for-sale financial assets held by the Group are as follows:

Place of Class of Percentage Nature of

Name incorporation shares holding business
MP Logistics International Cayman Ordinary 3% Provision of
Holdings Limited Islands logistics
services
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18. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

Company
2008 2007
HK$’000 HK$’000
Unlisted shares, at cost - 13,172
Due from subsidiaries 270,002 72,925
270,002 86,097

The amounts due from subsidiaries are unsecured, interest-free and will not be demanded for repayment in the next
forthcoming year except the amounts due from subsidiaries included in the Company’s current assets of HK$270,002,000
(2007: HK$59,767,000) have no fixed terms of repayment. The carrying amounts of these amounts due from subsidiaries
approximate their fair values.

Particulars of principal subsidiaries are as follows:

Nominal value

Place of of ordinary Attributable
incorporation/ share/ equity interest
Name of registration and registered held by Principal
subsidiary operations capital the Company activities
Directly Indirectly
Smart Time British Virgin US$800,000 100% - Investment
Development Limited * Islands holding
Internet Appliances Hong Kong HK$1,000,000 - 100% Trading of
(Hong Kong) Limited * internet
appliances
TYIBHRH A A RAT * The People’s HK$20,000,000 - 90% Dormant
Republic of
China
Shencai (Hong Kong) British Virgin US$10,000 - 100% Dormant
Holding Limited * Islands
Innotech Development British Virgin US$1,000 - 100% Holding of
Limited * Islands fixed assets
Global Form Limited * British Virgin US$50,000 - 100% Investment
Islands holding
Sunny Sky Investments British Virgin USS1 - 100% Investment
Management Limited * Islands holding
IA Enterprise Limited * Hong Kong HK$1,000,000 - 100% Trading of
internet
appliances
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Nominal value
Place of of ordinary Attributable
incorporation/ share/ equity interest
Name of registration and registered held by Principal
subsidiary operations capital the Company activities
Directly Indirectly

Great Plan Group Limited British Virgin US$1 100% - Investment

Islands holding

Union Bridge Group British Virgin US$3,750 - 100% Investment

Limited * Islands holding

Union Bridge International Hong Kong HK$10,000 - 100% Trading of

Limited * electronic

devices

Union Bridge Investment Hong Kong HK$80,767 - 100% Investment

Limited * holding and

trading of

electronic

devices

Popbridge Industrial Limited * Hong Kong HKS$8,230,603 - 100% Investment

holding and

trading of

electronic

devices and

provision of

design and

engineering

services

Popbridge Manufacturing Hong Kong HK$10,000 - 100% Investment

Limited * holding and

subcontracting

services of

electronic

devices

Dongguan Popbridge The People’s HK$18,650,000 - 100% Manufacturing

Electronic Co., Limited * Republic of of electronic

China devices

Popbridge Group Limited * British Virgin US$1 - 100% Dormant
Islands

Sun Bridge Group Limited * British Virgin USS1 - 100% Investment

Islands holding

Sun Bridge Industrial Hong Kong HK$10,000 - 100% Dormant

Company Limited *
Upper Power Limited British Virgin USs!1 100% - Investment
Islands holding
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Nominal value

Place of of ordinary Attributable
incorporation/ share/ equity interest
Name of registration and registered held by Principal
subsidiary operations capital the Company activities
Directly Indirectly
Beaming Investments British Virgin US$1 - 100% Investment
Limited ** Islands holding
Media Magic Technology British Virgin US$55,556 - 75% Investment
Limited Islands holding
Multi Channel Technology Hong Kong HK$100 - 5% Investment
Limited holding
PalmPay Technology The People’s RMB21,000,000 - 5% Provision of
Co. Ltd. *#* Republic of mobile
Je H R China payment
FHA A T gateway
services
Beijing Hu Lian Hui The People’s HK$1,000,000 - 75% Dormant
Zhong Technology Republic of
Company Limited*** China
JURCEIG R
BHEA A
(formerly known as
Beijing Dong Fang
Hui Zhong Enterprise
Management
Limited ***
LT HE R AR 2E
EHARA)
* These companies were disposed during the year.
*ok The company was incorporated during the year.

HokK English translation of company names are for identification purpose only.
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19.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Group

Cost

At 1 April 2006

Arising on acquisition
of subsidiaries

Additions

At 31 March 2007 and
at 1 April 2007

Arising on acquisition of additional
interest in subsidiaries

Additions

Exchange realignment

Disposal of subsidiaries

At 31 March 2008

Accumulated amortisation
At 1 April 2006
Charge for the year

At 31 March 2007 and
at 1 April 2007

Charge for the year

Disposal of subsidiaries

At 31 March 2008

Net book value
At 31 March 2008

At 31 March 2007
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Product
develop- Technical
ment know-
Goodwill costs how Total
HKS$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
14,483 11,215 - 25,698
23,358 - 9,614 32,972
- 4,364 - 4,364
37,841 15,579 9,614 63,034
199,034 - - 199,034
- 4,141 - 4,141
- - 925 925
(14,483) (19,720) - (34,203)
222,392 - 10,539 232,931
- 161 - 161
- 2,143 - 2,143
- 2,304 - 2,304
- 2,035 - 2,035
- (4,339) - (4,339)
222,392 — 10,539 232,931
37,841 13,275 9,614 60,730
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Notes:

Goodwill is allocated to the Group’s cash-generating units (“CGU”) identified according to the country
of operation and business segment as follows:

Group
2008 2007
HK$’000 HK$’000
Manufacturing and trading of electronic products - 14,483
Mobile payment gateway services 222,392 23,358
222,392 37,841

As at 31 March 2008, these CGU are the provision of mobile payment gateway services in the PRC. The

recoverable amounts of the CGU are determined based on value-in-use calculations using cash flow projections

based on the financial budgets covering a five-year period for CGU as approved by the directors.

Key assumptions used for value-in-use calculations:

Mobile payment
gateway services

2008 2007

% %

Growth rate 10-50* 10-50

Discount rate 5.25 7.75
* The turnover will increase by 50%, 40%, 30%, 20% and 10% in the coming five years.

The directors believe that the possible changes in any of these assumptions would not cause the aggregate

carrying amount of goodwill to exceed the recoverable amount.

At 31 March 2008, the directors of the Group are of the opinion that there is no impairment of

goodwill.

(i)

(iii)

Product development costs are amortised on a straight-line basis over its estimated useful life of five
years.

The technical know-how, named % 1 14 B RS R L4411, is a newly developed technology from Short
Message Sub-Gateway Services. The technical know-how is treated as having an indefinite useful life
because, in the opinion of the directors, there is no foreseeable limit to the period over which the technical
know-how may be used to generate cash flows to the Group. Technical know-how with indefinite useful
lives is tested for impairment annually and is not amortised. The technical know-how is allocated to the
CGU-Mobile payment gateway services. The assumption of the CGU is disclosed in (i) above.
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20. INVENTORIES

Group
2008 2007
HK$°000 HK$°000
Raw materials - 27,244
Work in progress - 10,363
Finished goods - 877

— 38,484

21. TRADE RECEIVABLES

The aging analysis of trade receivables (net of impairment allowances for bad and doubtful debts) at the balance
sheet date, based on the date of goods delivered, is as follows:

Group
2008 2007
HK$°000 HK$’000
Within 30 days 4,490 8,327
31 — 60 days 4,453 3,774
61 — 90 days 4,722 4,164
91 — 120 days 3,971 1,473
Over 120 days 11,103 4,018
28,739 21,756

Included in the Group’s trade receivables are the following amounts denominated in a currency other than the
functional currency of the entity to which they relate:

Group
2008 2007
HK$’000 HK$’000
United States Dollars - 18,714
Renminbi 28,739 2,992
28,739 21,706
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22. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Group Company
2008 2007 2008 2007
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000
Cash and bank balances 31,752 6,784 30,713 4,948
Pledged time deposits - 14,260 - -
Short-term time deposits - 27,000 - 27,000
31,752 48,044 30,713 31,948
Pledged time deposits - (14,260) - -
Cash and cash equivalents in the
balance sheet 31,752 33,784 30,713 31,948
Bank overdrafts — note 24 - (29,107)
Cash and cash equivalents in the
consolidated cash flow statement 31,752 4,677

The Group had no pledged time deposit as at 31 March 2008. As at 31 March 2007, the time deposits have been
pledged to secure general banking facilities to the Group’s subsidiaries.

23. TRADE PAYABLES

The aging analysis of trade payables at the balance sheet date, based on the date of goods received, is as

follows:
Group

2008 2007

HK$’000 HK$’000

Within 30 days - 5,170

31 - 60 days - 3,149

61 — 90 days - 3,032

91 — 120 days - 1,270

Over 120 days - 7,466

— 20,087
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Included in the Group’s trade payables are the following amounts denominated in a currency other than the

functional currency of the entity to which they relate:

24.

Group
2008 2007
HK$°000 HK$’000
United States Dollars - 2,065
Euro - 194
Renminbi - 5,854
— 8,113
INTEREST-BEARING BANK BORROWINGS
Group
2008 2007
Maturity or Maturity or
interest interest
Effective reprice date, Effective reprice date,
interest whichever interest whichever
rate (%) is earlier HK$’000 rate (%) is earlier HK$’000
Bank export and import loans, secured - - - 6.75-9.75 2007 32,007
Bank overdrafts, secured - - - 8.05-9.75 on demand 29,107
Bank loans, secured - - - 7.00-9.25 2007 - 2009 4,556
- 65,670
At 31 March 2008, the Group’s interest-bearing bank borrowings were repayable as follows:
Group
2008 2007
HK$°000 HK$’000
Within 1 year or on demand - 64,517
In second to fifth years, inclusive - 1,153
— 65,670

The Group had no interest-bearing bank borrowings as at 31 March 2008.
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25.

At 31 March 2007, the Group’s banking facilities with an aggregate amount of HK$76,993,000, of which a total
of HK$64,008,000 were utilised, are secured and/or guaranteed by:

@) legal charges on two residential properties situated in Hong Kong owned by a director of a subsidiary

and an independent third party;

(i) legal charges on the Group’s land and buildings situated in Hong Kong with aggregate net book value

of HK$4,839,000;

(iii) legal charges on all of the Group’s pledged deposits;

@iv) personal guarantees executed by a director of the Company and a director of certain subsidiaries of the

Group.

FINANCE LEASE PAYABLES

At 31 March 2008, the Group had obligations under finance leases payables as follows:

Group

Amounts payable:
Within 1 year or on demand
In the second to fifth years, inclusive

Total minimum finance lease payments

Total future finance charges

Present value of lease obligations

Portion classified as current liabilities

Portion classified as non-current liabilities

-97 -

Minimum
lease payments

Present value
of minimum
lease payments

2008 2007 2008 2007
HK$'000 HKS$’000 HKS$’000 HKS$’000
- 3,150 - 2,778
- 4,418 - 4,005
- 7,568 - 6,783
- (785)
- 6,783
- (2,778)
- 4,005




APPENDIX 1

FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE GROUP

26.

27.

28.

OTHER LOANS

Interest bearing of 12% per annum
Non-interest bearing

Carrying amount of liabilities

Group
2008 2007
HK$°000 HK$°000
- 215
- 829
— 1,044

The amounts are unsecured and have no fixed terms of repayment.

DUE TO A DIRECTOR/A DIRECTOR OF A SUBSIDIARY/A SHAREHOLDER/A SHAREHOLDER OF

A SUBSIDIARY

These amounts are unsecured, interest-free and have no fixed terms of repayment.

PROMISSORY NOTES

On 20 March 2006, the Company issued the interest free promissory note with a nominal value of HK$13,700,000

to an independent noteholder. The promissory note is unsecured and matures on 19 March 2008. The Company recorded

a discount of HK$1,064,000 for the imputed interest on the note, which was calculated using an effective interest rate

and this discount has been deducted from the nominal amount of the promissory note. During the year, HK$6,158,000
(2007: HK$7,000,000) of the promissory note was repaid.

On 5 January 2007, the Company issued another interest free promissory note with a nominal value of HK$10,120,000

to an independent noteholder. The promissory note is unsecured and matures on 2 July 2007. The Company recorded a

discount of HK$763,000 for the imputed interest on the note, which was calculated using an effective interest rate and

this discount has been deducted from the nominal amount of the promissory note. The promissory note was fully repaid
during the year ended 31 March 2007.

29.

SHARE CAPITAL

(a) Shares
2008 2007
HK$’000 HK$’000
Authorised:
2,000,000,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.05 each 100,000 100,000
Issued and fully paid:
1,282,345,278 (2007: 969,417,500) ordinary shares
of HK$0.05 each 64,117 48,471
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A summary of the movements of the Company’s issued capital and share premium is as follows:

Number of
shares in Issued Share
issue capital premium Total

Notes HK$’000 HKS$°000 HK$°000
At 1 April 2006 375,000,000 18,750 11,152 29,902
Share options exercised (i) 30,000,000 1,500 3,001 4,501
Placement of new shares (ii) 60,000,000 3,000 15,000 18,000
Warrants exercised (iii) 93,000,000 4,650 10,695 15,345
Issue of consideration shares (iv) 30,000,000 1,500 4,500 6,000
Conversion of convertible notes (v) 48,945,000 2,447 7,137 10,184
Open offer new shares (vi) 318,472,500 15,924 3,185 19,109
Share options exercised (vii) 14,000,000 700 4,518 5,218
Share issue expenses - - (2,625) (2,625)
At 31 March 2007 and

at 1 April 2007 969,417,500 48,471 57,163 105,634

Issue of shares under placing (viii) 110,000,000 5,500 46,200 51,700
Share options exercised (ix) 39,550,000 1,977 12,763 14,740
Issue of consideration shares (x) 163,377,778 8,169 65,351 73,520
Share issue expenses - - (1,853) (1,853)
At 31 March 2008 1,282,345,278 64,117 179,624 243,741

Notes:

)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

On 8 May 2006, the subscription rights attaching to 30,000,000 share options were exercised at
subscription prices as HK$0.138 per share, resulting in the issue of 30,000,000 ordinary shares
of HK$0.05 each for a total cash consideration before expenses of HK$4,140,000.

On 16 June 2006, the Company allotted and issued a total of 60,000,000 ordinary shares of
HK$0.05 each for cash to independent third parties at a price of HK$0.30.

On 22 December 2006, 8 January 2007 and 11 January 2007, 10,000,000, 45,000,000 and
38,000,000 warrants were exercised respectively and 93,000,000 new ordinary shares of HK$0.05
each were allotted and issued at a subscription price of HK$0.15 per share for a total cash
consideration, before expenses, of HK$15,345,000.

On 5 January 2007, the Company entered into a sale and purchase agreement with an independent
third party to acquire 5,556 shares of Media Magic Technology Limited at a consideration of
HK$16,120,000, which was satisfied by the issue of 30,000,000 ordinary shares of the Company
of HK$0.20 each and by the issue of promissory note at HK$10,120,000. Further details of the
sale and purchase agreement were also set out in a circular of the Company dated 14 December
2006.

On 25 January 2007, 48,945,000 new ordinary shares of HK$0.19 each of the Company were

issued upon the conversion of the convertible notes with face values aggregating HK$9,300,000
issued by the Company.
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(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

(ix)

x)

On 2 March 2007, an open offer of one offer share for every two existing shares held by members
on the register of members on 1 February 2007 was made, at an issue price of HK$0.06 per offer
share, resulting in the issue of 318,472,500 ordinary shares of HK$0.05 each for a total cash
consideration, before expenses, of approximately HK$19,109,000.

On 20 March 2007, the subscription rights attaching to 14,000,000 share options were exercised
at subscription prices at HK$0.31 per share, resulting in the issue of 14,000,000 ordinary shares
of HK$0.05 each for a total cash consideration before expenses of HK$4,340,000.

On 12 April 2007, the Company entered into a placing agreement to place 110,000,000 new
shares to not less than six placees at the placing price of HK$0.47 per share. On 23 April 2007,
the placing has been completed, thereof creating an additional 110,000,000 shares in issue at
that date.

On 24 April 2007, 25 May 2007 and 10 July 2007, the subscription rights attaching to 580,000,
5,220,000 and 33,750,000 share options were exercised respectively at subscription prices at
HK$0.31 per share, resulting in the issue of 39,550,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.05 each for a
total cash consideration before expenses of HK$12,260,500.

On 5 November 2007, the Company entered into sale and purchase agreements to acquire 13,333
shares of Media Magic Technology Limited at a consideration of HK$203,520,000, which was
satisfied by cash of HK$50,000,000, the allotment and issue of 163,377,778 ordinary shares of
the Company of HK$0.45 each in the amount of HK$73,520,000 and by the issue of convertible
bonds in the principal amount of HK$80,000,000. Further details of the sale and purchase
agreements were also set out in a circular of the Company dated 3 December 2007.

(b) Share options

Details of the Company’s share option scheme and share option issued under the scheme are set out in

note 30 to the financial statements.

(c) Warrants

M

(i1)

Pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed on 26 October 2006, the Company entered into a warrant
placing agreement with Rich Regent Inc. in relation to a private placing of 93,000,000 warrants
at issue price of HK$0.015 per warrant. Each warrant entitles Rich Regent Inc. to subscribe for
one ordinary share of the Company of HK$0.05 at a subscription price of HK$0.15 per share,
payable in cash, from 12 October 2006 to 11 April 2008. During the year ended 31 March 2007,
93,000,000 warrants were exercised for 93,000,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.05 each at a price
of HK$0.15 per share. Details are set out in note 29 (a) (v).

On 11 September 2007, the Company completed the private placing of 223,000,000 warrants at
an issue price of HK$0.007 per warrant. The warrantholder can subscribe for one new share at
the subscription of HK$0.543 per share within a period of 30 months from the date of issue of
warrants.

- 100 -



APPENDIX 1 FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE GROUP

30. SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company operates a share option scheme (the “Scheme”) for the purpose of recognising significant
contributions of the employees of the Group to the growth of the Group, by rewarding them with opportunities to obtain
an ownership interest in the Company and to further motivate and give an incentive to these persons to continue to
contribute to the Group’s long term success and prosperity.

Eligible participants of the Scheme include any employees, consultants, suppliers or customers of the Company
and its subsidiaries, including any independent non-executive directors of the Company. The scheme became effective
on 1 November 2001 and, unless otherwise cancelled or amended, will remain in force for 10 years from that date.

The maximum number of unexercised share options currently permitted to be granted under the Scheme is an
amount equivalent, upon their exercise, to 10% of the shares of the Company in issue at any time. The maximum number
of shares issuable under share options to each eligible participant in the Scheme within any 12-month period up to the
date of grant, is limited to 1% of the shares of the Company in issue at that date of grant. Any further grant of share
options in excess of this limit is subject to shareholders’ approval in a general meeting.

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted in writing within 21 days from the date of the offer, upon
payment of a nominal consideration of HK$1 in total by the grantee. Any share option may be exercised in accordance
with the terms of the Scheme at any time during a period to be notified by the board of directors to an eligible participant
but may not be exercised after the expiry of 10 years from the date of grant of the share option.

The exercise price of the share options is determinable by the board of directors, but may not be less than the
highest of (i) the closing price of the Company’s shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the
date of offer of the option, which must be a business day, (ii) the average of the closing prices of the Company’s shares
as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the five business days immediately preceding the date of
offer of the option, or (iii) the nominal value of the Company’s shares on the date of offer.

Detail of share options, outstanding at the balance sheet date, which are all of a call option type, are as

follows:

Fair value at
Date of grant Exercise period Exercise price grant date
14 August 2007 From date of grant to HK$0.520 HK$0.0729

13 August 2017
17 December 2007 From date of grant to HK$0.453 HK$0.0403

16 December 2017
21 December 2007 From date of grant to HK$0.465 HK$0.0399

20 December 2017

In accordance with the terms of the share-based arrangement, options issued vest at the date of grant.

Options were priced using the Black-Scholes-Merton Option Pricing Model. Expected volatility is based on
extracts from the Bloomberg’s information based on 260 trading days (around 1 year).
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Inputs into the model
Share option grant date
14 August 17 December 21 December

2007 2007 2007
Weighted average share price 0.520 0.453 0.465
Exercise price 0.520 0.453 0.465
Expected volatility 30.60% 16.50% 16.40%
Expected option period 1 year 1 year 1 year
Dividend yield - - -
Risk-free interest rate 4.48% 4.48% 4.48%
Option type Call Call Call

The variables and assumptions used in computing the fair value of the share options are based on the directors’

best estimate. The value of an option varies with different variables of certain subjective assumptions.

The Group recognised the total expenses of HK$3,736,000 for the year ended 31 March 2008 (2007: HK$3,719,000)

in relation to share options granted by the Company.
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Movements of the Company’s share options held by employees, directors and business associates during

the year are:

Grantee

Directors
Wong Tak Shing

Chan Hin Wing, James

Chan Francis
Ping Kuen

Hsu Tung Sheng

Hsu Tung Chi

Ho Hoi Lap

Sub-total

At1 Granted  Exercised At31
April during during March
2007 the year the year 2008
5,800,000 - (5.800,000) -
9,550,000 - (9,550,000) -
- 3,200,000 - 3,200,000

- 11,000,000 - 11,000,000

- 1,800,000 - 1,800,000

- 3,200,000 - 3,200,000

- 3,200,000 - 3,200,000

- 11,000,000 - 11,000,000
15,350,000 33,400,000  (15,350,000) 33,400,000
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Date
of grant

12 March
2007

12 March
2007

21 December
2007

14 August
2007

21 December
2007

21 December
2007

21 December
2007

14 August
2007

Share price
of the
Company
at the
grant date
HKS0.310

HK$0310

HKS$0.465

HK$0.520

HKS0.465

HKS$0.465

HKS0.465

HKS$0.520

Exercise
price

HK$0.310

HKS$0.310

HKS0.465

HK$0.520

HKS0.465

HK$0.465

HKS$0.465

HKS$0.520

Exercise
period
of share
options

12 March
20070 11
March 2017

12 March
2007 to 11
March 2017

21 December
2007 t0 20
December
2017

14 August
20070 13
August 2017

21 December
2007 t0 20
December
2017

21 December
2007 t0 20
December
2017

21 December
2007 to 20
December
2017

14 August
200710 13
August 2017
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Grantee

Other employees
In aggregate

Consultants
In aggregate

Sub-total

Total

At1 Granted  Exercised At31

April during during March
2007 the year the year 2008
24,200,000 - (24200,000) -
- 19,000,000 - 19,000,000

- 6,400,000 - 6,400,000

- 20,000,000 - 20,000,000
24200000 45400000 (24,200,000) 45,400,000
39,550,000 78,800,000 (39,550,000) 78,800,000
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Date
of grant

12 March
2007

17 December
2007

21 December
2007

17 December
2007

Share price
of the
Company
at the
grant date

HK$0310

HKS0.453

HK$0.465

HK$0453

Exercise
price

HK$0.310

HKS$0.453

HK$0465

HK$0.453

Exercise
period
of share
options

12 March
2007 to 11
March 2017

17 December
2007 to 16
December

2017

21 December
20071020
December
2017

17 December
2007 to 16
December

2017
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31.

RESERVES

Company

At 1 April 2006
Issue of shares capital
- note 29 (a) (ii), (vi)
Recognition of equity-settled
share-based payment
- note 30
Issue of consideration shares
- note 29 (a) (iv)
Share option exercised
- note 29 (a) (i), (vii)
Exercise of warrants
- note 29 (a) (iii)
Conversion of convertible
notes — note 29 (a) (v)
Share issue expenses
Net loss for the year

At 31 March 2007
and at 1 April 2007
Issue of shares under placing
- note 29 (a) (viii)
Recognition of equity-settled
share-based payment
- note 30
Share option exercised
- note 29 (a) (ix)
Issue of consideration shares
- note 29 (a) (x)
Share issue expenses
Issue of warrants
- note 29 (c) (ii)
Warrants issue expenses
Issue of convertible notes
- note 33
Disposal of a subsidiary
Net loss for the year

At 31 March 2008

Conver-

Issued Contri- tible Share Accumu-

share Share buted notes option ~ Warrant lated
capital  premium  surplus reserve reserve reserve losses Total
HK'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK'000  HK$'000  HKS$'000
18,750 11,152 12,947 885 - - (2,666) 41,068
18,924 18,185 - - - - - 37,109
- - - - 3,719 - - 3,719
1,500 4,500 - - - - - 6,000
2,200 7,519 - - (1,239) - - 8,480
4,650 10,695 - - - - - 15,345
2447 1737 - (885) - - - 9,299
- (2,625) - - - - - (2,625)
- - - - - - (6,855) (6,355)
48471 57,163 12,947 - 2,480 - 9,521) 111,540
5,500 46,200 - - - - - 51,700
- - - - 3,736 - - 3,736
1,977 12,763 - - (2,480) - - 12,260
8,169 65,351 - - - - - 73,520
- (1,853) - - - - - (1,853)
- - - - - 1,561 - 1,561
- , . - - (221) - (221)
- - - 443 - - - 443
- - (6,932) - - - - (6,932)
- - - - - - (25396)  (25,396)
64,117 179,624 6,015 443 3,736 1340 (34917) 220,358

The contributed surplus of the Company arose as a result of the same group reorganisation and represents the

excess of the then combined net assets of the subsidiaries acquired, over the nominal value of the Company’s shares

issued in exchange therefor.

Under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda, the Company’s contributed surplus is available for cash distribution

and/or distribution in specie under certain circumstances.
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32. DEFERRED TAX

Deferred taxation is calculated in full on temporary differences under the liability method using appliance tax

rates prevailing in the countries in which the Group operates.

The components of deferred tax assets/(liabilities) recognised in the consolidated balance sheet and the movements

during the year are as follows:

Group
Product
Accelerated develop- Allowance
tax Tax ment for
depreciation losses costs inventories Total
HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000
At 1 April 2006 (611) 2,995 (1,934) 208 658
Arising on acquisition
of subsidiaries - 928 - - 928
Credit/(charge) to
income statement — note 11 (590) (1,737) (388) 147 (2,568)

At 31 March 2007 and

at 1 April 2007 (1,201) 2,186 (2,322) 355 (982)
Credit/(charge) to

income statement — note 11 (166) 215 (369) 149 (171)
Exchange realignment - 18 - - 18
Disposal of subsidiaries 1,367 (2,419) 2,691 (504) 1,135

At 31 March 2008 - - - _ _

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is legal right to set off current taxation assets with current
taxation liabilities and when the deferred tax relates to the same authority. The following is the analysis of the deferred
tax balances for financial reporting purposes:

Group
2008 2007
HK$°000 HK$’000
Deferred tax assets - 430
Deferred tax liabilities - (1,412)

— (982)

The Company has no significant unprovided deferred tax for the year and at the balance sheet date.
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33. CONVERTIBLE NOTES

On 20 March 2006, the Company issued the interest free convertible notes with a nominal value of HK$9,300,000
to an independent noteholder. the Company shall repay such principal outstanding under the convertible notes to the
noteholder up to and including the date falling on the second anniversary of the date of issue of the convertible notes. The
noteholder has the right to convert the whole or any part of the principal amount of the convertible note into shares at any
time and from time to time after six months from the date of issue of the convertible notes up to the date immediately
prior to the maturity date.

The fair values of the liability component and the equity conversion component were determined at issuance of
the convertible notes. The fair value of the liability component was calculated using a market interest rate. The residual
amount, representing the value of the equity conversion component, has been included in the convertible notes reserve.

On 25 January 2007, convertible notes with a face value of HK$9,300,000 were converted into 48,945,000
ordinary shares of the Company of HK$0.05 each at a conversion price of HK$0.19 per share.

On 21 December 2007, the Company issued the convertible bonds in the principal amount of HK$3,200,000.
These bonds were interest free. The Company shall repay such principal amount outstanding under the convertible bonds
in the principal amount to the holders of convertible bonds on the respective maturity dates of the convertible bonds.
The holders of convertible bonds will have the right to convert the whole or any part of the principal amount of the
convertible bonds into shares at any time and from time to time at conversion price of HK$0.55 except for the convertible
bond which is subject to achievement of the profit guarantee under the sale and purchase agreements in respect of the
audited consolidated net profit after tax and exceptional items of Media Magic Technology Limited and its subsidiaries
for the year ended 31 March 2009 which will not be less than HK$33,000,000. The fair value of the liability component
and the equity conversion component were determined at the date of issuance of the convertible bonds based on the
discounted rate 5% per annum.

By taking the discount rate at 5% per annum, the present value of the liability component is HK$2,791,000
and the difference between the liability component and the face value of the convertible bonds, being HK$443,000 is
accounted for as a component of equity.

The convertible notes recognised in the balance sheet date are calculated as follows:

Group and Company

HK$’000
Liability component at 1 April 2006 8,415
Interest expense 885
Conversion during the year (9,300)
Liability component at 31 March 2007 and at 1 April 2007 -
Face value of convertible notes at the date of issue 3,200
Interest expense 34
Amount classified as equity component (443)
Liability component at 31 March 2008 2,791
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34. OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS

During the year, the Group leases certain of its office properties under operating lease commitments which are

negotiated for terms from 1 to 5 years.

At 31 March 2008, the Group had total future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases

falling due as follows:

Group
2008 2007
HK$°000 HK$’000
Within one year 731 671
In the second to fifth years, inclusive 921 1,461
1,652 2,132

35. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS

On 18 October 2007 and 21 December 2007, the Company acquired additional 4% and 24% equity interest in
PalmPay Technology Co. Ltd. and Media Magic Technology Limited, respectively. At the date of acquisition, Palmpay
Technology Co. Ltd. and Media Magic Technology Limited had net carrying amounts of approximately HK$5,469,000.
An excess of the cost of the further acquisition over the carrying amounts of the net assets acquired of approximately
HK$199,034,000 is recognised as goodwill in the consolidated balance sheet.

Details of net assets acquired and goodwill are as follows:

HK$’000
Total purchase consideration discharged by:
— Cash paid 50,983
— Shares issued 73,520
— Convertible bonds — note (i) 80,000
Total purchase consideration of acquisition 204,503
Share of net assets acquired (5,469)
Goodwill 199,034

Note:

(i) The Company will issue the convertible bonds in the principal amount of HK$76,800,000, if the vendor
can fulfill the earn out amount of HK$43,000,000 and HK$53,000,000. As such convertible bonds are not
issued currently; so treat as other payables, after issue of such convertible bonds, will treat as convertible
bonds.
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36. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

On 20 April 2007, the Company disposed of its entire interest in Sunny Sky Investments Management Limited,
an indirectly wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, to an independent third party at a consideration of HK$150,000.
Moreover, on 29 September 2007, the Company entered into a sale and purchase agreement with a third party to dispose
of its entire equity interest in Smart Time Development Limited, a directly wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, at
a total consideration of HK$1. The disposal of the subsidiaries was completed on 29 September 2007.

On 11 January 2008, Great Plan Group Limited, a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, has entered into two
agreements in relation to the disposal of the entire issued share capital of Union Bridge Group Limited for an aggregate
consideration of HK$10,500,000. The disposal of the subsidiaries was completed on 12 March 2008.

HK$’000
Net assets disposal of:
Property, plant and equipment 32,266
Available-for-sale financial assets 150
Intangible assets 29,864
Inventories 54,623
Trade receivables 10,615
Prepayment, deposit and receivables 8,423
Derivative financial instruments 3,226
Tax prepaid 121
Pledged time deposit 11,309
Cash and cash equivalents 1,953
Trade payables (29,028)
Interest-bearing bank borrowings (29,770)
Bank overdraft, secured (28,494)
Finance lease payables (4,811)
Other loans (1,004)
Accruals and other payables (24,116)
Tax payable (391)
Deferred tax liabilities (1,135)
Provision for long service payment (171)
Net assets value 33,130
Exchange fluctuation reserve released on disposal (2,518)
Minority interests (1,987)
Loss on disposal (17,975)
Consideration 10,650
Satisfied by:
Cash 10,650
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follows:

37.

An analysis of the net inflow of cash and cash equivalents in respect of the disposal of the subsidiaries is as

Cash consideration

Cash and bank balances in subsidiaries disposed of

Net inflow of cash and cash equivalents on disposal

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

HK$°000

10,650

26,541

37,191

The Group had no contingent liability as at 31 March 2008. The Group had a contingent liability in respect

of possible future long service payment to employees under the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance, with a maximum
possible amount of HK$1,144,000 as at 31 March 2007. The contingent liability has arisen because, at the balance sheet
date, a number of current employees have achieved the required number of years of service to the Group in order to be

eligible for long service payment under the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance if their employment is terminated under

certain circumstances. A provision has not been recognised in respect of such possible payments, as it is not considered

probable that the situation will result in a material future outflow of resources from the Group.

38.

39.

COMMITMENTS

The Group had the following capital commitment at the balance sheet date.

Group
2008 2007
HK$°000 HK$’000
Contracted but not provided for in respect of
acquisition of property, plant and equipment — 700
RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(a) During the year, the Company had the following transactions with related parties:
Group
2008 2007
HK$°000 HK$’000
Management fee received from a subsidiary 199 302

Management fee was charged at rates mutually agreed between both parties.
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(b) Disposal of Union Bridge Group Limited

As disclosed in note 36, the Group disposed 100% equity interest in Union Bridge Group Limited to
Lo Ka Tong and Cheng Pui Ping, being director of the Company and director of subsidiary of the Company
respectively, immediately before the disposal.

(c) By a revolving facility letter signed between the Company and a subsidiary, the Company agreed to
conditionally grant the subsidiary a revolving facility up to a maximum amount of HK$22 million at
any time during each of the three financial years ending 31 March 2010.

(d) In prior year, the Group’s banking facilities are secured by personal guarantees executed by a director
of the Company and a director of certain subsidiaries of the Group.

40. POST BALANCE SHEET EVENTS

On 30 April 2008, Beaming Investments Limited (“Beaming Investments”), an indirectly wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company, completed the shares purchase agreement, pursuant to which, iPeer Multimedia International Ltd. (“iPeer
Multimedia”), as issuer, had agreed to allot and issue, and Beaming Investments, as subscriber, had agreed to subscribe
for 1,500,000 iPeer Multimedia series A Preferred Shares for a total subscription price of USD1,500,000 which has
been settled in cash.

On 30 May 2008, the Company completed the share exchange agreement, pursuant to which, the Company had
agreed to purchase 2,000,000 ordinary shares of iPeer Multimedia at a price of USDI1 per iPeer Multimedia’s share,
which has been settled by the Company allotment and issurance of 22,967,646 new shares of the Company at a price of
HK$0.68 per Company’s share as the consideration.

On 25 June 2008, the directors of the Company proposed to make a bonus issue of share on the basis of one
new ordinary share of HK$0.05, credited as fully paid, for every five existing shares held by the shareholders of the
Company.

41. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial liabilities comprise interest-bearing bank loans, finance leases and trade payables.
The main purpose of these financial instruments is to raise finance for the Group’s operations. The Group has various
financial assets such as trade receivables as well as deposits, prepayments and other receivables, which arise directly
from its operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are interest rate risk, foreign currency risk,
liquidity risk and credit risk. The board of directors reviews and agrees policies for managing each of the risks which
are summarized below.

Interest rate risk
The Group does not have material exposure to interest rate risk, as the Group has no financial assets and
liabilities of material amount with floating interest rates as at 31 March 2008. A reasonable change in interest rate

in the next twelve months is assessed to result in immaterial change in the Group’s results and retained earnings.
Changes in interest rates have no impact on the Group’s other components of equity.
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Foreign currency risk

The Group has transactional currency exposures. Such exposures arise from sales or cost of sales by
operating units in currencies other than the units’ functional currency. Approximately 20% (2007: 17%) of the
Group’s cost of sales are denominated in currencies other than the functional currency of the operating units,
whilst approximately 26% (2007: 3%) of sales are denominated in the units’ functional currency. The management
monitors foreign exchange exposure closely and will consider hedging significant foreign currency exposure
should the need arise.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in Renminbi (“RMB”)
exchange rate, with all other variables held constant, of the Group’s loss before tax and the Group’s equity.

Increase/
(decrease) in Increase/ Increase/
foreign (decrease) in (decrease) in
exchange rate loss before tax equity
% HK$°000 HK$°000
2008
RMB 10 (692) 692
RMB (10) 692 (692)
2007
RMB 10 1,460 (1,460)
RMB (10) (1,460) 1,460

Liquidity risk
The Group monitors its risk to a shortage of funds using a recurring liquidity planning tool. This tool
considers the maturity of both its financial investments and financial assets (e.g. trade receivables) and projected

cash flows from operations.

The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between continuity of funding and flexibility through the
use of bank overdrafts, bank loans, finance leases and other interest-bearing loans.
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The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as at the balance sheet date, based on the contracted
undiscounted payments, was as follows:

Less
On than Jto12 1to5 Over
demand 3 months months years 5 years Total

HK$°000 HKS$°000 HKS$°000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000

2008
Interest-bearing

bank borrowings - - - - - -
Finance lease payables - - - - - —
Other loans - - - - - -

Trade payables - - - - - -
Accrued expenses and
other payables 6,730 - - 76,800 - 83,530
6,730 — — 76,300 — 83,530
2007
Interest-bearing
bank borrowings 29,107 33,101 2,309 1,153 - 65,670
Finance lease payables - 745 2,033 4,005 - 6,783
Other loans 1,044 - - - - 1,044
Trade payables 7,466 1,270 11,351 - - 20,087
Accrued expenses and
other payables 7,886 - - - - 7,886
45,503 35,116 15,693 5,158 — 101,470

Credit risk

The Group’s maximum credit exposure of the financial assets as at 31 March 2008 equals to their carrying
amounts. The Group limits its exposure to credit risk by prudently selecting its customers. The Group’s trade
and other receivables are actively monitored to avoid significant concentrations of credit risk. The Group also
continually evaluates the credit risk of its customers to ensure appropriateness of the amount of credit granted.
Credit is extended to customers based on the evaluation of individual customer’s financial conditions. In addition,
the Group reviews the recoverable amount of each individual trade debt at each balance sheet date to ensure that
adequate impairment losses are made for irrecoverable amounts. In this regard, the directors of the Company
consider that Group’s credit risk is significantly reduced. There is no requirement for collaterals by the Group.

The Group has deposited its cash with various banks. The credit risk on cash and bank balances is limited
because most of the Group’s bank deposits are deposited with major banks and financial institutions located in

Hong Kong and the PRC.

Further quantitative data in respect of the Group’s exposure to credit risk arising from trade receivables
are disclosed in note 21 to the financial statements.
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42. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The primary objective of the Group’s capital management is to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern and to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to support its business and maximise shareholder value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it in the light of changes in economic conditions
and the risk characteristics of the underlying assets. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust
the dividend payment to shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue new shares, or sell assets to reduce debt. No
changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes during the years ended 31 March 2008 and 31 March 2007.

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is borrowings divided by the total of borrowings and
equity. Borrowings include interest-bearing borrowings, financing lease payables, other loans and convertible notes.
Equity includes total equity less equity components of convertible notes. The gearing ratios as at the balance sheet dates
were as follows:

2008 2007
HK$°000 HK$°000

Borrowings:
Interest-bearing bank borrowings - 65,670
Finance lease payables - 6,783
Other loans - 1,044
Convertible notes — equity and liability components 3,234 -
3,234 73,497

Equity:

Total equity 218,715 92,928
Convertible notes — equity components (443) -
218,272 92,928
Borrowings and equity 221,506 166,425
Gearing ratio 1% 44%

43. COMPARATIVE

Certain comparatives are reclassified during the year to conform current year’s presentation.

44. APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 25 June 2008.
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The following are the unaudited financial statements of the Group for the six months ended
30 September 2008 together with accompanying notes extracted from the 2008/09 Interim Report of
the Company. References to page numbers in this appendix are to the pages numbers of the 2008/09
Interim Report of the Company.

Unaudited Consolidated Income Statement
For the three months and six months ended 30 September 2008

Six months ended Three months ended
30 September 30 September

2008 2007 2008 2007

(Unaudited) (Unaudited) (Unaudited) (Unaudited)

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Turnover 3 25,702 69,890 12,625 37,971

Cost of sales (3,743) (50,135) (1,923) (29,225)

Gross profit 21,959 19,755 10,702 8,746

Other revenue 453 2,134 405 1,210

Distribution costs (2,970) (2,598) (1,453) (2,412)

Administrative expenses (5,623) (9,704) (3,175) (3,993)

Profit from operating activities 13,819 9,587 6,479 3,551

Gain on disposal of subsidiaries - 2,850 - 2,850

Finance costs (70) (3,674) (35) (1,874)

Profit before income tax 4 13,749 8,763 6,444 4,527

Income tax 5 (4,092) (1,489) (2,016) (773)

Profit for the period 9,657 7,274 4,428 3,754

Attributable to:

Equity holders of the company 6,345 3,545 2,443 1,835

Minority interests 3,312 3,729 1,985 1,919

Dividends 7 - - - -
Earnings per share 6

— Basic (cent) 0.47 0.32 0.17 0.16

— Diluted (cent) N/A N/A N/A N/A
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Unaudited Consolidated Balance Sheet
As at 30 September 2008

NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Property, plant and equipment
Available-for-sale investments
Intangible assets

Total non-current assets

CURRENT ASSETS

Trade receivables

Prepayments, deposits and
other receivables

Cash and cash equivalents

Total current assets

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Accrued expenses and other payables
Amount due to a director

Amount due to a director of a subsidiary
Tax payable

Total current liabilities

NET CURRENT ASSETS

TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT
LIABILITIES

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Convertible notes
Other payables

Total non-current liabilities

NET ASSETS

EQUITY
Issued capital
Reserves

MINORITY INTERESTS

TOTAL EQUITY
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As at As at

30 September 31 March

2008 2008

(Unaudited) (Audited)

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
14,244 16,045

28,057 -

232,973 232,931

275,274 248,976

8 49,102 28,739
6,631 3,494

16,359 31,752

72,092 63,985

6,797 6,730

6,255 253

- 5,859

9,090 1,813

22,142 14,655

49,950 49,330

325,224 298,306

9 2,862 2,791
10 76,800 76,800
79,662 79,591

245,562 218,715

78,318 64,117

156,632 147,748

234,950 211,865

10,612 6,850

245,562 218,715
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Unaudited Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
For the six months ended 30 September 2008

Issued Convertible
share Share Contributed  Exchange notes Share option  Warrant Accumulated Minority
capital  premium surplus reserve reserve reserve reserve losses ~ Sub-total interests Total

(Unaudited) ~ (Unaudited) (Unaudited) (Unaudited) (Unaudited) (Unaudited) (Unaudited) (Unaudited) ~(Unaudited) (Unaudited) —(Unaudited)
HKS'000  HKS$'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS$'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HKS'000

At 1 April 2007 48471 57,163 6,015 1,205 - 2,480 - (26973) 88,361 4,567 92,928

Issue of shares

under placing 5,500 46,200 - - - - - - 51,700 - 51,700
Share issue expenses - (1,853) - - - - - - (1,853) - (1,853)
Exercise of share options 1,977 12,763 - - - (2480) - - 12,260 - 12,260
Issue of warrants - - - - - - 1,441 - 1,441 - 1,441
Disposal of subsidiaries - - - (96) - - - - (96) (1,987) (2,083)

Arising on consolidation

of subsidiaries - - - (77) - - - - (17) 92 15
Net profit for the period - - - - - - - 3,345 3,545 319 1,274
At 30 September 2007 55,948 114,273 6,015 1,032 - - 1441 (23428) 15581 6,401 161,682
At 1 April 2008 04,117 179,624 6,015 2314 43 3736 1,340 @5,724) 211,865 60,85 218715

Issue of consideration

shares 1,148 14,470 - - - - - - 15,618 - 15,618
Issue of bonus shares 13,053 (13,053) - - - - - - - - -
Disposal of subsidiaries - - - - - - - - - 450 450
Arising on consolidation

of subsidiaries - - - 1,122 - - - - 1,122 - 1,122
Net profit for the period - - - - - - - 6,345 6,345 3312 9,657
At 30 September 2008 78,318 181,041 6,015 3,436 443 3,736 1,340 (39.379) 234950 10,612 245,502

On 25 June 2008, the director recommended a bonus issue of share (“Bonus Issue”) and approved
in Company’s annual general meeting held on 1 August 2008. The Bonus Issue has been completed
on 12 August 2008 on the basis of 1 share, credited as fully paid, for every 5 existing shares.
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Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Cash Flow Statement
For the six months ended 30 September 2008

Six months

Six months

ended ended
30 September 30 September
2008 2007
(Unaudited) (Unaudited)
HK$’000 HK$’000
Net cash (outflow)/inflow from
operating activities (4,958) 17,304
Net cash outflow from investing activities (11,557) (10,805)
Net cash inflow from financing activities - 53,046
(DECREASE)/INCREASE IN CASH AND
CASH EQUIVALENTS (16,515) 59,545
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
AT BEGINNING OF PERIOD 31,752 4,677
15,237 64,222
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes 1,122 15
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
AT END OF PERIOD 16,359 64,237
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH AND
CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and bank balances 16,359 93,689
Bank overdrafts - (29,452)
16,359 64,237
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Notes to the Financial Statements

1. GENERAL

The Company was incorporated in Bermuda as an exempted company with limited liability. The shares of the
Company are listed on GEM.

The Group is principally engaged in the provision of mobile payment gateway services.

2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION

The unaudited consolidated results have been prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”), accounting
principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
They have been prepared under the historical cost convention, except for available-for-sale investments which have been
measured at fair value and promissory notes which have been measured at amortised cost. The accounting policies adopted
are consistent with those set out in the annual financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2008.

3. TURNOVER

Turnover represents the net invoiced services rendered. All significant intra-group transactions have been
eliminated on consolidation.
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An analysis of the Group’s turnover and segment results by business and geographical segments is as follows:

(a) Business segments

The following tables present revenue, results and certain assets, liabilities and expenditure information
for the Group’s business segments.

Six months ended 30 September
Discontinued operations

Continuing operation ~ Internet appliances Electronic Design and
Mobile payment and devices and engineering
gateway services related products components services Consolidated

2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007
(Unaudited) (Unaudited) (Unaudited) (Unaudited) (Unaudited) (Unaudited) (Unaudited) (Unaudited) (Unaudited) (Unaudited)
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS$'000  HK$'000  HKS$'000  HK$'000  HKS$'000  HKS$'000

Turnover 25,702 13,603 - - - - 25,702 69,890
Segment

results 21,959 12,042 - 21,959 19,755
Other revenue 453 2,134
Net unallocated

expenses (8,593)  (12,302)
Profit from

operating

activities 13,819 9,587
Gain on

disposal of

subsidiaries - 2,850
Finance costs (70) (3,674)
Profit before

income tax 13,749 8,763
Income tax (4,092) (1,489)
Profit for

the period 9,657 7274
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Continuing operation

Mobile payment

gateway services

2008

(Unaudited)

Assets

Segment assets

Unallocated
assets

Total assets

Liabilities

Segment
liabilities

Unallocated
liabilities

Total liabilities

Other segment
information:
Depreciation
Depreciation
- unallocated
Capital
expenditure
- unallocated

HKS000

63,346

1822

2007

(Unaudited)
HK$'000

21418

594

As at 30 September
Discontinued operations
Internet appliances Electronic
and devices and
related products components
2008 2007 2008 2007
(Unaudited) ~ (Unaudited) ~ (Unaudited) ~ (Unaudited)
HKS'000  HKS$'000  HKS'000  HK$'000
- - - 67,310
- - - 33419
- 17 - 1,830

Design and
engineering
services Consolidated
2008 2007 2008 2007
(Unaudited) ~ (Unaudited) ~ (Unaudited)  (Unaudited)
HKS'000  HKS$'000  HKS'000  HK$'000
- 15,592 63,346 110,320
284,020 194,545
347,366 304,865
- - - 33419
101,804 109,764
101,804 143,183
- - 1822 2441
- 4
21 6,716

(b) Geographical segments

A summary of the geographical segments for the six months ended 30 September 2008 and the corresponding
period in 2007 is as follows:

United State of
China Middle East America United Kingdom Europe Others Consolidated
2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007

(Unaudited) (Unaudited) (Unaudited) (Unaudited) (Unaudited) (Unaudited) (Unaudited) (Unaudited) (Unaudited) (Unaudited) (Unaudited) (Unaudited) (Unaudited) (Unaudited)

HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS$'000  HKS'000 HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000

Turnover
External sales 5700 13925 -5 - 3410 - 3% - 15018 - 260 5700 69,890
— —
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4. PROFIT BEFORE INCOME TAX

The Group’s profit before taxation is arrived at after charging the following:

Six months ended Three months ended
30 September 30 September
2008 2007 2008 2007
(Unaudited) (Unaudited) (Unaudited) (Unaudited)
HKS$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
Interest on overdrafts and
bank loans - 3,132 - 1,603
Amortisation of product
development costs 540 1,072 270 537
Depreciation of property,
plant and equipment 1,822 3,165 911 1,597
5. INCOME TAX

Hong Kong profits tax has not been provided (2007: 17.5%) as there was no assessable income in Hong Kong
during the period. Taxes on profits assessable elsewhere have been calculated at the rates of tax prevailing in the countries
in which the Group operates, based on existing legislation, interpretation and practices in respect thereof.

Six months ended Three months ended
30 September 30 September
2008 2007 2008 2007
(Unaudited) (Unaudited) (Unaudited) (Unaudited)
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
Current tax 4,092 1,051 2,016 335
Deferred tax - 438 - 438
Tax charge for the period 4,092 1,489 2,016 773

Deferred tax is calculated in full on temporary differences under the liability method using applicable tax rates
prevailing in the countries in which the Group operates.

6. EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of basic earnings per share is based on the unaudited net profit attributable to equity holders
of the Company for the three months and six months ended 30 September 2008 of approximately HK$2,443,000 and
HK$6,345,000 respectively (three months and six months ended 30 September 2007: unaudited net profit of approximately
HK$1,835,000 and HK$3,545,000 respectively) and the weighted average number of 1,441,519,490 and 1,359,125,123
ordinary shares of the Company (three months and six months ended 30 September 2007: 1,117,866,957 and 1,093,510,779
shares).

No diluted earnings per share had been presented for the three months and six months ended 30 September 2008

and the corresponding period in 2007 as the exercise price of the Company’s share options, warrants and convertible
bonds were higher than the average market price for the share.

-122 -



APPENDIX 1 FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE GROUP

7. DIVIDENDS

The directors do not recommend the payment of an interim dividend for the six months ended 30 September
2008 (2007: Nil).

8. TRADE RECEIVABLES

The aging analysis of trade receivables (net of impairment allowances for bad and doubtful debts) at the balance

sheet date, based on date of services rendered, is as follows:

As at As at

30 September 31 March

2008 2008

(Unaudited) (Audited)

HK$°000 HK$°000

Within 30 days 5,017 4,490
31 to 60 days 4,058 4,453
61 to 90 days 4,454 4,722
91 to 120 days 6,174 3,971
Over 120 days 29,399 11,103
49,102 28,739

9. CONVERTIBLE NOTES

On 21 December 2007, the Company issued the convertible bonds in the principal amount of HK$3,200,000.
These bonds were interest free. The Company shall repay such principal amount outstanding under the convertible bonds
to the holders of convertible bonds on the respective maturity dates of the convertible bonds. The holders of convertible
bonds will have the right to convert the whole or any part of the principal amount of the convertible bonds into shares
at any time and from time to time at conversion price of HK$0.55 except for the convertible bond which is subject to
achievement of the profit guarantee under the sale and purchase agreements in respect of the audited consolidated net
profit after tax and exceptional items of Media Magic Technology Limited and its subsidiaries for the year ending 31
March 2009 which will not be less than HK$33,000,000. As a result of the bonus issue of Share of the Company in
August 2008, the conversion price has been adjusted to HK$0.458 per Share. The fair value of the liability component
and the equity conversion component were determined at the date of issuance of the convertible bonds based on the

discounted rate of 5% per annum.
10. OTHER PAYABLES

Other payables represent the amount of convertible bonds to be issued by the Company if the vendor can fulfill
the profit requirements of the Earned Out Periods for the years ending 31 March 2009 and 2010.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
Review and Prospect
Overview

The mobile payment gateway business of the Group continued to grow in the first half of
the financial year ending 2009. The Group recorded an increase of turnover on mobile payment
gateway business of approximately 88% as compared to the same in the previous corresponding
period. The Group has consolidated itself as one of the leading providers of mobile payment
gateway in the PRC with high profitability and strong growth. Net profit of approximately
HK$6,345,000 was recorded and represents an increase of 79% as compared to the previous
corresponding period. During the first half of the financial year ending 2009, the Group has
established a strong financial position with no bank borrowings and achieved substantial decrease
of finance costs and administrative expenses.

Financial review

For the six months ended 30 September 2008, the Group’s turnover, which represents
revenue from its mobile payment gateway business increased from approximately HK$13,663,000
of previous corresponding period to approximately HK$25,702,000. Such substantial increase
was in line with the consolidation of the Group as one of the leading providers of mobile
payment gateway in the PRC.

The gross profit margin of the Group increased from approximately 28% in the previous
corresponding period to approximately 85% in the current period, which was mainly due to
the focus of the Group on mobile payment gateway business with higher profit margin during
the period.

For the six months ended 30 September 2008, the Group’s net profit attributable to
equity holders, increased from approximately HK$3,545,000 of previous corresponding period
to approximately HK$6,345,000. Administrative expenses decreased by approximately 42% as
compared to the previous corresponding period as a result of the cessation of the electronic
devices business in March 2008.

Operation review

The Group is authorized by China Unicom ("' [Ed¥#%#), on an exclusive basis, for the provision of
the Company’s mobile payment gateway system to the subscribers of China Unicom (' [E¥#%H) in over
20 major provinces/municipal cities in the PRC through which a variety of virtual and service products,
including the TP Cards of China Unicom (* B }##), virtual game cards of Baidu (71 /) and Shanda (/&
K), accident insurance products of PICC Life Insurance Company Limited (" A R AFF{RBR DA
FRZ3 ), could be purchased by the subscribers of China Unicom (' EJl%i) through mobile phone.
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The Group has achieved significant progress on its mobile payment gateway business
during the period. As at 30 September 2008, the Group has commenced operation of such
business in 14 provinces/municipal cities whilst the same in 5 provinces/municipal cities as at
30 September 2007. In particular, the IP card product has penetrated from 5 provinces/municipal
cities into 12 provinces/municipal cities, the virtual game card product has penetrated from
4 provinces/municipal cities into 9 provinces/municipal cities and the insurance product has
penetrated from nil province/municipal cities into 10 provinces/municipal cities, for the previous
corresponding period up to 30 September 2008.

As stated in the first quarterly report of the Group, the growth of the mobile payment
business of the Group during the financial year ending 2009 has been affected by the occurrence
of several events in the PRC, i.e. the restructuring of the telecommunication industry, the
earthquake of Sichuan (P4)I]) and the implementation of stringent restrictions on marketing and
promotion activities of the telecommunication and Internet industries in view of the Beijing
Olympic Games.

As a result, the turnover of the Group for the three months ended 30 September 2008
recorded a slight decrease of approximately 3% as compared to the same for the three months
ended 30 June 2008.

With all the aforesaid one-off incidents taken place, the Board anticipates resumption of
strong growth of the Group’s business in the second half of the financial year ending 2009.

Prospects

In an effort to establish a complete payment gateway solution in the PRC, the Group is
developing another advanced form of payment gateway based on the Near Field Communication
Technology (“NFC”). The Group has entered into a preliminary agreement with China Network
Communications Group Corporation (71 [E#8#% 7815 4 A 7) for the introduction and operation
of such NFC payment gateway in Jiangsu (YL#£), the PRC and the trial run of which is expected
to commence next quarter.

The development of such NFC payment gateway will compliment the mobile payment
gateway business of the Group and consolidate the Group’s leading position in the payment
gateway industry in the PRC. Hence, the Board is optimistic that the Group will achieve good
performance in the medium to long terms.

Liquidity, financial resources and capital structure
As at 30 September 2008, the Group had total assets of approximately HK$347 million (31

March 2008: approximately HK$313 million), including cash and bank balances of approximately
HK$16 million (31 March 2008: approximately HK$32 million).
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For the period ended 30 September 2008, the Group financed its operations mainly with
its own working capital and there were no general banking facilities. There was no charge on
the Group’s assets as at 30 September 2008 (31 March 2008: Nil).

As at 30 September 2008, the gearing ratio (defined as the ratio between total bank
borrowings and total assets) was zero (31 March 2008: zero). The Group had no bank borrowings
as at 30 September 2008 (31 March 2008: Nil).

Most of the transactions of the Group are denominated in Hong Kong Dollars and Renminbi.
As the exchange rate of Renminbi to Hong Kong Dollars are fairly stable, the Board is of the
view that the exposure to foreign currency exchange risk is limited. Hence, no hedging or other
arrangements to reduce the currency risk have been implemented.

Material acquisitions or disposal of subsidiaries and affiliated companies

There was no material acquisition or disposal of subsidiaries and affiliated companies
for the six months ended 30 September 2008.

Contingent liabilities
The Group had no contingent liability as at 30 September 2008 (31 March 2008: Nil)
Employees and remuneration policies

As at 30 September 2008, the Group had 51 (31 March 2008: 51) employees including
directors. Total staff-costs (excluding directors’ emoluments) amounted to approximately
HK$2,815,000 for the six months ended 30 September 2008, as compared to approximately
HK$5,825,000 in the previous corresponding period. Remuneration is determined with reference
to market terms and the performance, qualification and experience of individual employees.
Year-end bonus based on individual performance will be paid to employees as recognition of
and reward for their contributions. Other benefits include contributions to statutory mandatory
provident fund scheme for its employees in Hong Kong and basic insurance for the elderly,
basic medical insurance, work injury insurance and unemployment insurance to the employees
in the PRC.
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Directors’ And Chief Executive’s Interests In Shares, Underlying Shares And Debentures

As at 30 September 2008, the interests and short position of the directors and chief

executive of the Company in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or

any of its associated corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures

Ordinance (“SFO”)), which were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange

pursuant to the provisions of Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO, including interests or

short positions which they were deemed or taken to have under such provisions of the SFO,

or which were required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register to

therein, or which were required, pursuant to the rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules

relating to securities transactions by directors, to be notified to the Company and the Stock

Exchange, were as follows:

(i) Interests in shares:

Nature of
Name of director interests

Number of
the shares held

Approximate
percentage
of issued
share capital

Hsu Tung Chi (Note 1) Beneficial 162,176,183 (L) 10.35%
Hsu Tung Sheng Beneficial 1,400,000 (L) 0.09%
Ho Hoi Lap Beneficial 2,544,000 (L) 0.16%
(L) denotes long position

Note:

1. Mr. Hsu Tung Chi (“Mr. Hsu”) is interested in 96,674,000 shares. According to the sale and

purchase agreement entered into between Upper Power Limited (“Upper Power”), a wholly-

owned subsidiary of the Company and Mr. Hsu on 5 November 2007, the Company has allotted
2,181,818 convertible bonds to Mr. Hsu on 21 December 2007; subject to fulfillment of certain
conditions, the Company will further allot 52,363,636 convertible bonds to Mr. Hsu. The Company

has made the adjustment to the convertible bonds in accordance with the bonus issue approved

by the shareholders of the Company on 1 August 2008. The numbers of convertible bonds are
adjusted to 2,620,087 and 62,882,096 respectively. As at 30 September 2008, Mr. Hsu has not

converted any convertible bonds.
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(ii)  Interests in share options:

Approximate

percentage

Number of share of issued

Name of director options outstanding share capital

Hsu Tung Sheng 3,840,000* 0.25%

Hsu Tung Chi 3,840,000% 0.25%

Ho Hoi Lap 13,200,000" 0.84%

Chan Hin Wing, James 3,840,000* 0.25%

Chan Francis Ping Kuen 13,200,000 0.84%

2,160,000% 0.14%

* The exercise price of the share options is HK30.4333 per share with exercise period commencing
from 14 August 2007 and ending on 13 August 2017.

# The exercise price of the share options is HK30.3875 per share with exercise period commencing

from 21 December 2007 and ending on 20 December 2017.

Save as disclosed above, as at 30 September 2008, none of the directors nor the chief
executive of the Company had any interests or short positions in any shares, underlying shares
or debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporation (within the meaning of Part
XV of the SFO) which are required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short positions
which he is taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO); or are required, pursuant
to Section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein; or are required,
pursuant to Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules relating to the securities transactions
by directors to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange.
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Share Option Scheme

The Company adopted a share option scheme (the “Scheme”) on 18 October 2001 pursuant
to a written resolution of the Company. The Company has made the adjustment to the outstanding
share options in accordance with the bonus issue. Details of the movements in the number of
share options during the year under the scheme were as follows:

Exercise Outstanding  Granted Exercised Outstanding

Categories of Exercisable price per as at during during as at
grantees Date of grant  period share 31/3/2008 the period the period  30/9/2008
HK$
Directors

Mr. Chan Hin Wing, ~ 21/12/2007 2171212007 - 0.3875 3,840,000 - - 3,840,000
James 2011212017

Mr. Chan Francis 14/08/2007 14/08/2007 - 0.4333 13,200,000 - - 13,200,000
Ping Kuen 13/08/2017

2171212007 2171212007 - 0.3875 2,160,000 - - 2,160,000
20/12/2017

Mr. Hsu Tung Sheng ~ 21/12/2007 2171212007 - 0.3875 3,840,000 - - 3,840,000
20/12/2017

Mr. Hsu Tung Chi 2171212007 2171212007 - 0.3875 3,840,000 - - 3,840,000
20/12/2017

Dr. Ho Hoi Lap 14/08/2007 14/08/2007 - 0.4333 13,200,000 - - 13,200,000
13/08/2017

Employees 17/1212007 17/122007 - 0.3775 22,800,000 - - 22,800,000
16/12/2017

2171212007 2171212007 - 0.3875 7,680,000 - - 7,680,000
20/12/2017

Consultants 17/1212007 17/122007 - 0.3775 24,000,000 - - 24,000,000
16/12/2017

94,560,000 - - 94,560,000
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Substantial Shareholders’ Interests And Short Positions In Shares And Underlying
Shares

As at 30 September 2008, other than the interests of a director of the Company as
disclosed under the heading “Directors’ and chief executive’s interests in shares, underlying
shares and debentures” above, the interests and short positions of persons, in the shares and
underlying shares of the Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under
the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or, who is, directly or indirectly,
interested 10% or more of the nominal value of any class of share capital carrying rights to
vote in all circumstances at general meetings of any other members of the Group, or substantial
shareholders as recorded in the register of substantial shareholders required to be kept by the
Company under Section 336 of the SFO were as follows:

Approximate
percentage
Nature of Number of of issued
Name interests the shares held share capital
Starryland Profits Beneficial 351,354,000 (L) 22.43%
Limited (Note 1)
Lau Kim Hung, Jack (Note 1) Interests in 351,354,000 (L) 22.43%
controlled

corporation
Beneficial 11,208,000 (L) 0.72%
Deemed 1,200,000 (L) 0.08%
Chan Yiu Kan, Katie (Note 1) Deemed 362,562,000 (L) 23.15%
Beneficial 1,200,000 (L) 0.08%
Big Well Investments Beneficial 267,304,635 (L) 17.07%

Limited (Note 2) owner
Chong Tin Lung (Note 2) Interests in 267,304,635 (L) 17.07%
controlled

corporation
Lo Yee Man (Note 2) Deemed 267,304,635 (L) 17.07%
Pang Hong Tao (Note 3) Beneficial 214,387,639 (L) 13.69%
Wang Jing (Note 3) Deemed 214,387,639 (L) 13.69%
Hsu Tung Chi (Note 4) Beneficial 166,016,183 (L) 10.60%
Chuang Meng Hua (Note 4) Deemed 166,016,183 (L) 10.60%

(L) denotes long position
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Notes:

Starryland Profits Limited, a company incorporated in BVI, is wholly and beneficially owned by Mr.
Lau Kim Hung, Jack (“Mr. Lau”). Mr. Lau is deemed to be interested in 351,354,000 shares held by
Starryland Profits Limited. In addition, by virtue of being the spouse of Ms. Chan Yiu Kan Katie, he is
also deemed to be interested in 1,200,000 shares held by Ms. Chan Yiu Kan Katie.

Ms. Chan Yiu Kan Katie, being the spouse of Mr. Lau, is deemed to be interested in 351,354,000 shares
held by Starryland Profits Limited and 11,208,000 shares held by Mr. Lau.

Big Well Investments Limited (“Big Well”) is a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands which
is a subscriber of 223,000,000 non-listed warrants under the private placing of non-listed warrants as
disclosed in the announcements of the Company dated 27 August 2007 and 1 September 2007 conferring
rights to Big Well to subscribe for 223,000,000 shares. After the bonus issue adjustment, the number of
non-listed warrants is adjusted to 267,304,635. Big Well is wholly-owned by Mr. Chong Tin Lung and
he is therefore deemed to be interested in those shares. By virtue of Ms. Lo Yee Man being the spouse
of Mr. Chong Tin Lung, she is also deemed to be interested in those 267,304,635 shares as well.

Mr. Pang Hong Tao (“Mr. Pang”) is interested in 105,217,333 shares. According to the sale and purchase
agreement entered into between Upper Power and Mr. Pang on 5 November 2007, the Company has
allotted 3,636,364 convertible bonds to Mr. Pang on 21 December 2007. Subject to fulfillment of certain
conditions, the Company will further allot 87,272,727 convertible bonds to Mr. Pang. After the bonus
issue adjustment, the number of convertible bonds are adjusted to 4,366,812 and 104,803,494 respectively.
As at the Latest Practicable Date, Mr. Pang has not converted any convertible bonds. Ms. Wang Jing is
deemed to be interested in 105,217,333 shares and 109,170,306 convertible bonds of the Company by
virtue of her being the spouse of Mr. Pang.

Mr. Hsu Tung Chi (“Mr. Hsu”) is interested in 96,674,000 shares. According to the sale and purchase
agreement entered into between Upper Power and Mr. Hsu on 5 November 2007, the Company has
allotted 2,181,818 convertible bonds to Mr. Hsu Tung Chi on 21 December 2007. Subject to fulfillment
of certain conditions, the Company will further allot 52,363,636 convertible bonds to Mr. Hsu. After
the bonus issue adjustment, the number of convertible bonds are adjusted to 2,620,087 and 62,882,096
respectively. Mr. Hsu is also interested in 3,840,000 share options. As at the Latest Practicable Date, Mr.
Hsu Tung Chi has not converted any convertible bonds nor exercised any share options.

Ms. Chuang Meng Hua is deemed to be interested in 96,674,000 shares, 65,502,183 convertible bonds
and 3,840,000 share options of the Company by virtue of her being the spouse of Mr. Hsu.

Save as disclosed above, as at 30 September 2008, the directors of the Company were

not aware of any other person (other than the directors of the Company) who had an interest

or short position in the shares or underlying shares of the Company which would fall to be

disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Division 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or,

who is directly or indirectly, interested in 10% or more of the nominal value of any class of share

capital carrying rights to vote in all circumstances at general meetings of any other members of

the Group, or any other substantial shareholders whose interests or short positions were recorded

in the register required to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO.
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Directors’ Rights To Acquire Securities

Apart from as disclosed under the section headed “Directors’ and chief executive’s
interests in shares, underlying shares and debentures” above, at no time since incorporation
of the Company were rights to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in or
debentures of the Company or of any other body corporate granted to any directors or their
respective spouse or children under 18 years of age, or were any such rights exercised by them;
or was the Company, its holding company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement
to enable the directors, their respective spouse or children under 18 years of age to acquire
such rights in any other body corporate.

Purchase, Sale Or Redemption Of The Company’s Listed Shares

During the six months ended 30 September 2008, there were no purchases, sales or
redemptions of the Company’s listed shares by the Company or any of its subsidiaries.

Competing Interests

None of the directors or the management shareholders of the Company and their respective
associates (as defined in the GEM Listing Rules) had an interest in a business which competes
or may compete with the business of the Group.

Pre-Emptive Right

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Bye-laws of the Company, or
the Bye-laws of Bermuda, which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro rate
basis to existing shareholders.

Code Of Conduct Regarding Securities Transactions By Directors

The Company has adopted the code of conduct for securities transactions by directors on
terms no less exacting than the required standard of dealings set out in Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of
the GEM Listing Rules. Throughout the period ended 30 September 2008, the Company was
not aware of any non-compliance with the required standard of dealings and its code of conduct
regarding securities transactions.

Code On Corporate Governance

The Company has adopted the code provisions set out in the Code on Corporate Governance
Practices (the “Code”) as set out in Appendix 15 of the GEM Listing Rules. The Company has
applied the principles in the Code and complied with the code provisions set out in the Code
for the period ended 30 September 2008 except that no nomination committee of the Board is
established.
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Remuneration Committee

A Remuneration Committee has been established with written terms of reference
in accordance with the requirements of the Code on Corporate Governance Practices. The
Remuneration Committee comprises three independent non-executive directors, namely Mr.
Kwok Chi Sun, Vincent, Mr. Yeung Kam Yan and Mr. Chan Kai Wing and one executive
director being Mr. Chan Francis Ping Kuen. Mr. Kwok Chi Sun, Vincent is the chairman of the
Remuneration Committee. The role and function of the Remuneration Committee include the
determination of the specific remuneration packages of all executive directors, including benefits
in kind, pension rights and compensation payments, including any compensation payable for
loss or termination of their office or appointment, and make recommendations to the Board of
the remuneration of non-executive directors.

Audit Committee

The Company set up an audit committee (the “Committee”) on 18th October 2001, with
written terms of reference in compliance with the GEM Listing Rules, for the purpose of
reviewing and providing supervision over the financial reporting process and internal control
of the Group. The Committee comprises the three independent non-executive directors of the
Company, namely, Mr. Kwok Chi Sun, Vincent, Mr. Yeung Kam Yan and Mr. Chan Kai Wing.
The unaudited financial statements of the Group for the period ended 30 September 2008
have been reviewed by the Committee, which is of the opinion that such statements comply
with the applicable accounting standards, the Stock Exchange requirements, and that adequate
disclosures have been made.
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3. INDEBTEDNESS
Borrowings

As at the close of business on 30 April 2009, being the latest practicable date for the
purpose of this statement of indebtedness prior to printing of this circular, the Enlarged Group
had outstanding borrowings of approximately HK$109,707,000, details of which are set out
below:

HK$’000
Current liabilities

Other payables (Unsecured and unguaranteed) 29,743
Amount due to a director (Unsecured and unguaranteed) 231
29,974

Non-current liabilities
Other payables (Unsecured and unguaranteed) 76,800
Convertible bonds (Unsecured and unguaranteed) 2,933
79,733
Total borrowings 109,707

Contingent liabilities

As at 30 April 2009, the Enlarged Group had no material contingent liabilities.
Commitments

As at 30 April 2009, the Enlarged Group had no commitments.
Disclaimer

Save as aforesaid and apart from intra-group liabilities, at the close of business on 30
April 2009, the Group had no other outstanding mortgages, charges, debentures or other loan
capital or bank overdrafts or loans or other similar indebtedness, finance lease or hire purchase
commitments, liabilities under acceptance or acceptance credits, debt securities, guarantees or
other contingent liabilities.

Save as aforesaid, the Directors confirm that there has been no material change to the

indebtedness and contingent liabilities of the Group since 30 April 2009 and up to the Latest
Practicable Date.
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4. WORKING CAPITAL

The Directors, after due and careful consideration, are of the opinion that, taking into
consideration of the financial resources of the Enlarged Group, the Enlarged Group will have
sufficient working capital for at least twelve months from the date of this circular.

5. MATERIAL ADVERSE CHANGE
As at the Latest Practicable Date, the Directors are not aware of any material adverse

change in the financial or trading position of the Group as at 31 March 2008, the date to which
the latest published audited financial statements of the Group were made up.
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The following is the text of a report, prepared for the sole purpose of inclusion in this circular,
received from the independent reporting accountants, Vision A. S. Limited.

Vision A. S. Limited Certified Public Accountants
T & EH AT A R 2 ]

27 May 2009

The Board of Directors

Palmpay China (Holdings) Limited
Unit 1601, 16/F.,

Ruttonjee House,

Ruttonjee Centre,

11 Duddell Street,

Central,

Hong Kong

Dear Sirs,

We set out below our report on the consolidated financial information (the “Financial Information™)
regarding Media Magic Technology Limited (“Media Magic”) and its subsidiaries (hereafter collectively
referred to as the “Media Magic Group”) for the three years ended 31 March 2008 and for the nine
months ended 31 December 2008 (the “Relevant Periods”) for inclusion in the circular of Palmpay
China (Holdings) Limited (the “Company”) dated 27 May 2009 (the “Circular”) in connection with
the proposed acquisition of the 25% issued share capital of Media Magic by Upper Power Limited,
a directly wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company (the “Acquisition”).

Media Magic was incorporated in the British Virgin Islands (“BVI”) on 5 January 2004 with
limited liability under the International Business Companies Act (Cap. 291) of the BVI and acted as an
investment holding company and provision of diversified mobile value-added services. The registered
office of Media Magic is located at P.O. Box 957, Offshore Incorporation Centre, Road Town, Tortola,
BVI and its principal place of business is situated at Unit 1601, 16/F., Ruttonjee House, Ruttonjee
Centre, 11 Duddell Street, Central, Hong Kong.
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As at the date of this report, Media Magic has interests in the following subsidiaries:

Issued and
Place and fully paid Attributable
date of capital/ equity interest
incorporation/ registered held by Principal
Name of subsidiary establishment capital Media Magic activities
Directly Indirectly
Multi Channel Hong Kong HK$100 100% - Investment
Technology 4 March 2004 holding
Limited
PalmPay Technology The People’s RMB21,000,000 - 100% Provision of
Co. Ltd. * Republic of mobile payment
A BH China gateway services
PR 20 March 2005
* English translation of company’s name is for identification purpose only.

For the purpose of this report, the directors of Media Magic have prepared the consolidated
financial statements of the Media Magic Group for the Relevant Periods (the “Underlying Financial
Statements”) in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”), which also
include all Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”). For the purpose of this report, we
have performed independent audit procedures on the Underlying Financial Statements in accordance
with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing issued by the HKICPA.

The Financial Information set out in Sections A to B below has been prepared by the directors
of Media Magic based on the Underlying Financial Statements. We have examined the Financial
Information and have carried out such additional procedures as are necessary in accordance with
the Auditing Guideline 3.340 “Prospectuses and the Reporting Accountant” as recommended by the
HKICPA.

The preparation of the Underlying Financial Statements and the Financial Information which give
a true and fair view is the responsibility of the directors of Media Magic. In preparing the Underlying
Financial Statements and the Financial Information, it is fundamental that appropriate accounting
policies are selected and applied consistently. The directors of Media Magic are responsible for the
contents of the Circular in which this report is included. It is our responsibility to form an independent
opinion, based on our examination, on the Financial Information and to report our opinion to you.

In our opinion, the Financial Information gives, for the purpose of this report, a true and fair
view of the state of affairs of the Media Magic Group and Media Magic as at 31 March 2006, 31
March 2007, 31 March 2008 and 31 December 2008 and of the consolidated results and cash flows
of the Media Magic Group for each of the Relevant Periods.
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The comparative consolidated income statement, consolidated statement of changes in equity
and consolidated cash flow statement of the Media Magic Group for the nine months ended 31
December 2007 together with notes thereon (the “2007 Comparative Financial Information™) have
been extracted from Media Magic’s consolidated financial information for the same period which was
prepared by the directors of Media Magic solely for the purpose of this report. We have reviewed
the financial information for the nine months ended 31 December 2007, in accordance with Hong
Kong Standard on Review Engagements 2410 “Review of Interim Financial Information Performed
by the Independent Auditor of the Entity” issued by the HKICPA. A review consists principally of
making enquiries of the management and applying analytical procedures to the financial information
and based thereon, assessing whether the accounting policies and presentation have been consistently
applied unless otherwise disclosed. A review excludes audit procedures such as tests of controls and
verification of assets, liabilities and transactions. It is substantially less in scope than an audit and
therefore provides a lower level of assurance than an audit. Accordingly, we do not express an audit
opinion on the 2007 Comparative Financial Information. On the basis of our review, which does not
constitute an audit, we are not aware of any material modifications that should be made to the 2007
Comparative Financial Information.

A. FINANCIAL INFORMATION

CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

Nine months ended

Year ended 31 March 31 December
2006 2007 2008 2007 2008
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HKS$’000
Notes (audited)  (audited) (audited) (unaudited) (audited)
TURNOVER 7 - 3,177 36,523 23,969 41,144
Cost of sales - - (3,192) (1,933) (4,895)
Gross profit - 3,177 33,331 22,036 36,249
Other revenues and gains 7 - 2 87 81 686
Distribution costs - - (3,834) (2,831) (3,779)
Administrative expenses (16) (1,751) (6,213) (4,393) (4,542)
PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE
TAX 8 (16) 1,428 23,371 14,893 28,614
Tax 10 - (497) (2,170) (456) (237)
PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE
MINORITY INTERESTS (16) 931 21,201 14,437 28,377
Minority interests - (40) (248) (248) -
NET PROFIT/(LOSS)
ATTRIBUTABLE TO
EQUITY HOLDERS
OF MEDIA MAGIC (16) 891 20,953 14,189 28,377
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Property, plant and equipment
Goodwill
Intangible assets
Deferred tax assets

Total non-current assets

CURRENT ASSETS
Trade receivables
Prepayment, deposits and
other receivables
Due from shareholders
Cash and bank balances

Total current assets

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Accruals and other payables
Due to ultimate holding company
Due to a fellow subsidiary
Due to directors
Tax payables

Total current liabilities

NET CURRENT
ASSETS/(LTIABILITIES)

Net assets

EQUITY
Issued capital
Reserves

Minority interests

Notes

11
12
13
20

15

16
17

18
19
19
19

21
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As at 31

As at 31 March December
2006 2007 2008 2008
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’ 000
(audited) (audited) (audited) (audited)
- 4,941 16,045 14,556

- 1,775 2,141 2,141

- 9,614 10,539 10,771

- 430 - -

- 16,760 28,725 27,468

- 2,992 28,739 62,766

1 602 3,494 20,279
390 - - -
- 955 1,039 659
391 4,549 33,272 83,704
39 14,405 5,934 26,292

- - 18,600 17,616

- - - 91

- 251 6,112 6,219

- - 1,813 2,232

39 14,656 32,459 52,450
352 (10,107) 813 31,254
352 6,653 29,538 58,722
390 433 433 433
(38) 5,851 29,105 58,289
352 6,284 29,538 58,722
- 369 - -
352 6,653 29,538 58,722
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

At 1 April 2005
Net loss for the year

At 31 March 2006
and at 1 April 2006
Issue of shares
Exchange realignment
Net profit for the year

At 31 March 2007
and at 1 April 2007
Acquired on acquisition
of additional interest
in a subsidiary
Exchange realignment
Net profit for the year

At 31 March 2008

and at 1 April 2008
Exchange realignment
Net profit for the period

At 31 December 2008

Attributable to equity holders of Media Magic

Retained

profits/

Issued Share Exchange (Accumu-

share premium fluctuation
capital account reserve
Notes  HK$’000 HK$'000 HKS$’000

lated
losses)

Total

Minority
interests

Total
equity

HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$000 HK$’000

(audited) (audited) (audited) (audited) (audited) (audited) (audited)

390 - - (22) 368 - 368
_ - - (16) (16) - (16)

390 - - (38) 352 - 352

21 43 4,957 - - 5,000 - 5,000
- - 41 - 41 - 41

- - - 891 891 369 1,260

433 4,957 41 853 6,284 369 0,653
23 - - - - - (617) (617)
- - 2,301 - 2,301 - 2,301

- - - 20,953 20,953 248 21,201

433 4,957 2,342 21,806 29,538 - 29,538

- - 807 - 807 - 807

- - - 28377 28,377 - 28,377

433 4,957 3,149 50,183 58,722 - 58,722

- 140 -



APPENDIX II ACCOUNTANTS’ REPORT OF THE MEDIA MAGIC GROUP

CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT

Nine months ended
Year ended 31 March 31 December
2006 2007 2008 2007 2008
HK$'000  HK$000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
(audited) (audited) (audited) (unaudited) (audited)

CASH FLOW FROM
OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Profit/(loss) before tax (16) 1,428 23,371 14,893 28,614
Adjustments for:
Depreciation - 266 2,211 1,319 2,935
Loss on disposal of property, plant
and equipment - - 9 9 -
Interest income - (2) (87) (81) 4)
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary - - - - (679)

Operating cash flows before

movements in working capital (16) 1,692 25,504 16,140 30,866
Increase in trade receivables - (2,302) (25,747) (13,073) (34,027)
Decrease/(increase) in prepayment,

deposits and other receivables 9 22 (2,892) (761) (16,819)
Decrease in amounts due from

shareholders - 390 - - -
Increase in amount due from

a fellow subsidiary - - - - (227)
Increase/(decrease) in accruals

and other payables 7 13,578 (8,471) (11,580) 20,557
Increase/(decrease) in amount due to

the ultimate holding company - - 18,600 6,500 (984)

Increase in amount due to

a fellow subsidiary - - - - 91
Increase/(decrease) in amounts

due to directors - (8,319) 5,861 17,548 130

Cash generated from/(used in)

operations - 5,061 12,855 14,774 (413)
Net cash inflow/(outflow) from
operating activities - 5,061 12,855 14,774 (413)
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Nine months ended
Year ended 31 March 31 December
2006 2007 2008 2007 2008
HK$’000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$000  HK$ 000
(audited) (audited) (audited) (unaudited) (audited)

CASH FLOW FROM
INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Interest received - 2 87 81 4
Purchases of property,

plant and equipment - (48) (12,314) (12,140) (1,402)
Sales proceeds from disposal

of property, plant and equipment - - 2 2 -
Acquisition of subsidiaries - (9,081) (983) (983) -
Proceeds from disposal of a subsidiary - - - - 942

Net cash outflow from
investing activities - (9,127) (13,208) (13,040) (456)

CASH FLOW FROM
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from issue of shares - 5,000 - - _

Net cash inflow from
financing activities - 5,000 - - -

NET INCREASE/(DECREASE)

IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS - 934 (353) 1,734 (869)
Cash and cash equivalents

at beginning of year/period - - 955 955 1,039
Effect of foreign exchange

rate changes, net - 21 437 (175) 489

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
AT END OF YEAR/PERIOD — 955 1,039 2,514 659

ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and bank balances - 955 1,039 2,514 659
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BALANCE SHEET

As at 31

As at 31 March December

2006 2007 2008 2008

Notes HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’ 000

(audited) (audited) (audited) (audited)

NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Investment in a subsidiary 14 - - - —

CURRENT ASSETS

Trade receivables 15 - - - 1,800
Other receivables 16 1 - - -
Due from a subsidiary 14 - 5,563 5,217 5,207
Due from shareholders 17 390 - - -
Cash and bank balances - 12 12 11
Total current assets 391 5,575 5,229 7,018

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Other payables 18 39 65 56 56
Due to a subsidiary 14 - - - 510
Due to a director 19 - 214 214 214
Total current liabilities 39 279 270 780
NET CURRENT ASSETS 352 5,296 4,959 6,238
Net assets 352 5,296 4,959 6,238

EQUITY
Issued capital 21 390 433 433 433
Reserves 22 (38) 4,863 4,526 5,805
352 5,296 4,959 6,238
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B. NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL INFORMATION

1. GENERAL INFORMATION

Media Magic is a limited liability company incorporated in the BVI. The registered office of Media Magic is
located at P.O. Box 957, Offshore Incorporation Centre, Road Town, Tortola, BVI and its principal place of business is
situated at Unit 1601, 16/F., Ruttonjee House, Ruttonjee Centre, 11 Duddell Street, Central, Hong Kong.

Media Magic acts as an investment holding company and provision of diversified mobile value-added services
and its subsidiaries are principally engaged in investment holding and provision of mobile payment gateway services
during the Relevant Periods.

Media Magic is a subsidiary of Upper Power Limited, a company incorporated in the BVI. The directors of
Media Magic consider Palmpay China (Holdings) Limited, a company incorporated in Bermuda, to be Media Magic’s
ultimate holding company.

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION

The Financial Information has been prepared in accordance with HKFRSs (which also include HKASs and
Interpretations) issued by the HKICPA, accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and the disclosure
requirement of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. It has been prepared under the historical cost convention. The
Financial Information is presented in Hong Kong dollars and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand except when
otherwise indicated.

3. IMPACT OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

The HKICPA has issued a number of new and revised HKFRSs which are effective for accounting periods
beginning on or after 1 April 2005, 1 April 2006, April 2007 and 1 April 2008.

For the purpose of preparing and presenting the Financial Information, the Media Magic Group has adopted all
these new and revised HKFRSs throughout the Relevant Periods.

3.1. IMPACT OF ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS

The Media Magic Group has not early applied the new and revised standards, amendments and interpretations that

have been issued but are not yet effective. The directors of Media Magic anticipate that the application of these standards,
amendments or interpretations will have no material impact on the Financial Information of the Media Magic Group.
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4. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Basis of consolidation

The Underlying Financial Statements incorporate the financial statements of Media Magic and its
subsidiaries for the Relevant Periods. The results of subsidiaries are consolidated from the date of acquisition,
being the date on which the Media Magic Group obtains control, and continue to be consolidated until the date
that such control ceases. All significant inter-company transactions and balances within the Media Magic Group
are eliminated on consolidation.

The acquisition of subsidiaries during the Relevant Periods has been accounted for using purchase method
of accounting. This method involves allocating the cost of the business combinations to the fair value of the assets
acquired, and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed at the date of acquisition. The cost of the acquisition is
measured at the aggregate of the fair value of the assets given, equity instruments issued and liabilities incurred
or assumed at the date of exchange, plus costs directly attributable to the acquisition.

Minority interests represent the interests of outside shareholders not held by the Media Magic Group in
the results and net assets of Media Magic’s subsidiaries.

Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an entity whose financial and operating policies Media Magic controls, directly or
indirectly, so as to obtain benefits from its activities.

The results of subsidiaries are included in Media Magic’s income statement to the extent of dividends
received and receivable. Media Magic’s investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost less any impairment
losses.

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on the acquisition of subsidiaries represents the excess of the cost of the business
combination over the Media Magic Group’s interest in the net fair value of the acquirees’ identifiable assets
acquired, and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed as at the date of acquisition.

Goodwill arising on acquisition is initially recognised in the consolidated balance sheet as an asset at
cost and is subsequently measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses.

The carrying amount of goodwill is reviewed for impairment annually or more frequently if events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be impaired.

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination, from the acquisition
date, allocated to each of the Media Magic Group’s cash generating units, or groups of cash-generating units, that
are expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination, irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities
of the Media Magic Group are assigned to those units or groups of units. Each unit or group of units to which
the goodwill is so allocated:

- represents the lowest level within the Media Magic Group at which the goodwill is monitored
for internal management purposes; and

- is not larger than a segment based on either the Media Magic Group’s primary or the Media

Magic Group’s secondary reporting format determined in accordance with HKAS 14 “Segment
Reporting”.
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Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit (group of
cash-generating units), to which the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit
(group of cash-generating units) is less than the carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised.

Where goodwill forms part of a cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) and part of the
operation within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the operation disposed of is included in
the carrying amount of the operation when determining the gain or loss on disposal of the operation. Goodwill
disposed of in this circumstance is measured based on the relative values of the operation disposed of and the
portion of the cash-generating unit retained.

An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent period.

Impairment of assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required
(other than inventories and financial assets), the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. An asset’s recoverable
amount is calculated as the higher of the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s value in use and its fair value less costs
to sell, and is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely
independent of those from other assets or groups of assets, in which case, the recoverable amount is determined
for the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount.
In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the
asset. An impairment loss is charged to the income statement in the period in which it arises, unless the asset is
carried at a revalued amount, in which case the impairment loss is accounted for in accordance with the relevant
accounting policy for that revalued asset.

An assessment is made at each reporting date as to whether there is any indication that previously
recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If such indication exists, the recoverable
amount is estimated. A previously recognised impairment loss of an asset other than goodwill is reversed only if
there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount of an asset, however not to an
amount higher than the carrying amount that would have been determined (net of any depreciation/amortisation),
had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is credited
to the income statement in the period in which it arises, unless the asset is carried at a revalued amount, when
the reversal of the impairment loss is accounted for in accordance with the relevant accounting policy for that
revalued asset.

Related parties
A party is considered to be related to the Media Magic Group if:
(a) directly, or indirectly through one or more intermediaries, the party (i) controls, is controlled
by, or is under common control with, the Media Magic Group; (ii) has an interest in the Media
Magic Group that gives it significant influence over the Media Magic Group; or (iii) has joint
control over the Media Magic Group;
(b) the party is an associate;

(c) the party is a jointly-controlled entity;

(d) the party is a member of the key management personnel of the Media Magic Group or its
parent;
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(e) the party is a close member of the family of any individual referred to in (a) or (d);

) the party is an entity that is controlled, jointly controlled or significantly influenced by or for
which significant voting power in such entity resides with, directly or indirectly, any individual
referred to in (d) or (e); or

(g) the party is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of the Media Magic
Group, or of any entity that is a related party of the Media Magic Group.

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses,
except that when an item of property, plant and equipment is classified as held for sale, it is not depreciated and is
measured at the lower of carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell. The cost of an item of property, plant
and equipment comprises its purchase price and any directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working
condition and location for its intended use. Cost may also include transfers from equity of any gains/losses on
qualifying cash flow hedges of foreign currency purchases of property, plant and equipment.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and equipment have been put into operation, such
as repairs and maintenance, is normally charged to the income statement in the period in which it is incurred.
In situations where it can be clearly demonstrated that the expenditure has resulted in an increase in the future
economic benefits expected to be obtained from the use of an item of property, plant and equipment and the
cost of the item can be measured reliably, the expenditure is capitalised as an additional cost of that asset or as
a replacement.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off the cost of each item of property, plant
and equipment to its residual value over its estimated useful life. The principal annual rates used for this purpose
are as follows:

Leasehold improvements 25%
Computer equipment 20%
Furniture and fixtures 20%
Office equipment 20%

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, the cost or valuation
of that item is allocated on a reasonable basis among the parts and each part is depreciated separately.

Residual values, useful lives and depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each
balance sheet date.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic
benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or retirement recognised in the income
statement in the Relevant Periods the asset is derecognised is the difference between the net sales proceeds and
the carrying amount of the asset.

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)
The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed to be either finite or indefinite. Intangible assets with
finite lives are amortised over the useful economic life and assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication

that the intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation period and the amortisation method for an intangible
asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at least at each balance sheet date.
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Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested for impairment annually either individually or at
the cash-generating unit level. Such intangible assets are not amortised. The useful life of an intangible asset with
an indefinite life is reviewed annually to determine whether indefinite life assessment continues to be supportable.
If not, the change in the useful life assessment from indefinite to finite is accounted for on a prospective basis.

Technical know-how

Technical know-how with indefinite useful lives is tested for impairment annually either individually
or at the cash-generating unit level and are not amortised. The useful life is reviewed annually to determine
whether indefinite life assessment continues to be supportable. If not, the change in the useful life assessment
form indefinite to finite is accounted for on a prospective basis.

Leases

Leases where substantially all the rewards and risks of ownership of assets remain with the lessor are
accounted for as operating leases. The rentals payable under the operating leases are charged to the income
statement on the straight-line basis over the lease terms.

Investment and other financial assets

Financial assets in the scope of HKAS 39 are classified as either financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss, loans and receivables, held-to-maturity investments, or available-for-sale financial assets, as appropriate.
When financial assets are recognised initially, they are measured at fair value, plus, in the case of investments
not at fair value through profit or loss, directly attributable transaction costs. The Media Magic Group determines
the classification of its financial assets after initial recognition and, where allowed and appropriate, re-evaluates
this designation at the balance sheet date.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on the trade date i.e., the date
that the Media Magic Group commits to purchase the asset. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or
sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the period generally established by regulation or
convention in the marketplace.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets classified as held for trading are included in the category “financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss”. Financial assets are classified as held for trading if they are acquired for the purpose
of selling in the near term. Gains or losses on investments held for trading are recognised in the income
statement.

Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not
quoted in an active market. Such assets are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Gains

and losses are recognised in the income statement when the loans and receivables are derecognised or impaired,
as well as through the amortisation process.
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Held-to-maturity investments

Non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturity are classified
as held-to-maturity when the Media Magic Group has the positive intention and ability to hold to maturity.
Held-to-maturity investments are subsequently measured at amortised cost less any allowance for impairment.
Amortised cost is computed as the amount initially recognised minus principal repayments, plus or minus the
cumulative amortisation using the effective interest method of any difference between the initially recognised
amount and the maturity amount. This calculation includes all fees and points paid or received between parties
to the contracts that are an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and all other premiums
and discounts. For investments carried at amortised cost, gains and losses are recognised in the income statement
when the investments are derecognised or impaired, as well as through the amortisation process.

Available-for-sale financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets are those non-derivative financial assets in listed and unlisted equity
securities that are designated as available-for-sale or are not classified in any of the other three categories.
After initial recognition available-for-sale financial assets are measured at fair value with gains or losses being
recognised as a separate component of equity until the investment is derecognised or until the investment is
determined to be impaired at which time the cumulative gain or loss previously reported in equity is included
in the income statement.

When the fair value of unlisted equity securities cannot be reliably measured because (a) the variability
in the range of reasonable fair value estimates is significant for that investment or (b) the probabilities of the
various estimates within the range cannot be reasonably assessed and used in estimating fair value, such securities
are stated at cost less any impairment losses.

Fair value

The fair value of investments that are actively traded in organised financial markets is determined by
reference to quoted market bid prices at the close of business on the balance sheet date. For investments where
there is no active market, fair value is determined using valuation techniques. Such techniques include using
recent arm’s length market transactions; reference to the current market value of another instrument, which is
substantially the same; a discounted cash flow analysis and option pricing models.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset and of
allocating interest income over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts
estimated future cash receipts (including all fees on points paid or received that form an integral part of the
effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the financial
asset, or, where appropriate, a shorter period.

Income is recognised on an effective interest basis for debt instruments other than those financial assets
designated as at financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, of which interest income is included in net
gains or losses.

Impairment of financial assets

The Media Magic Group assesses at each balance sheet date whether there is any objective evidence that
a financial asset or group of financial assets is impaired.
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Assets carried at amortised cost

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on loans and receivables or held-to-maturity
investments carried at amortised cost has been incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit
losses that have not been incurred) discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate (i.e., the
effective interest rate computed at initial recognition). The carrying amount of the asset is reduced either directly
or through the use of an allowance account. The amount of the impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss.

The Media Magic Group first assesses whether objective evidence of impairment exists individually for
financial assets that are individually significant, and individually or collectively for financial assets that are not
individually significant. If it is determined that no objective evidence of impairment exists for an individually
assessed financial asset, whether significant or not, the asset is included in a group of financial assets with similar
credit risk characteristics and that group is collectively assessed for impairment. Assets that are individually
assessed for impairment and for which an impairment loss is or continues to be recognised are not included in
a collective assessment of impairment.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related
objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss
is reversed. Any subsequent reversal of an impairment loss is recognised in the income statement, to the extent
that the carrying value of the asset does not exceed its amortised cost at the reversal date.

Assets carried at cost

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on an unquoted equity instrument that is not carried
at fair value because its fair value cannot be reliably measured, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows discounted at the current
market rate of return for a similar financial asset. Impairment losses on these assets are not reversed.

Available-for-sale financial assets

If an available-for-sale asset is impaired, an amount comprising the difference between its cost (net of
any principal payment and amortisation) and its current fair value, less any impairment loss previously recognised
in profit or loss, is transferred from equity to the income statement. Impairment losses on equity instruments
classified as available-for-sale are not reversed through profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar financial
asset) is derecognised where:

. the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired;

. the Media Magic Group retains the rights to receive cash flows from the asset, but has assumed
an obligation to pay them in full without material delay to a third party under a “pass-through”
arrangement; or

. the Media Magic Group has transferred its right to receive cash flows from the asset and either (a)
has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) has neither transferred
nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the
asset.
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Where the Media Magic Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset and has
neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the
asset, the asset is recognised to the extent of the Media Magic Group’s continuing involvement in the asset.
Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at the lower
of the original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that the Media Magic
Group could be required to repay.

Where continuing involvement takes the form of a written and/or purchased option (including a cash-
settled option or similar provision) on the transferred asset, the extent of the Media Magic Group’s continuing
involvement is the amount of the transferred asset that the Media Magic Group may repurchase, except that in
the case of a written put option (including a cash-settled option or similar provision) on an asset measured at fair
value, the extent of the Media Magic Group’s continuing involvement is limited to the lower of the fair value of
the transferred asset and the option exercise price.

Financial liabilities and equity

Financial liabilities and equity instruments are classified according to the substance of the contractual
arrangements entered into and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument.

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of the Media Magic
Group after deducting all of its liabilities. The Media Magic Group’s financial liabilities are generally classified
into financial liabilities at fair value through profit of loss and other financial liabilities.

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss has two subcategories, including financial liabilities
held for trading and those designated as at fair value through profit or loss on initial recognition.

A financial liability is classified as held for trading if:

- it has been incurred principally for the purpose of repurchasing in the near future; or

- it is a part of an identified portfolio of financial instruments that Media Magic manages together
and has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

- it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a hedging instrument.

A financial liability other than a financial liability held for trading may be designated as at fair value
through profit or loss upon initial recognition if:

- such designation eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or recognition inconsistency
that would otherwise arise; or

- the financial liability forms part of a group of financial assets or financial liabilities or both,
which is managed and its performance is evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance with
Media Magic’s documented risk management or investment strategy, and information about the
grouping is provided internally on that basis; or

- it forms part of a contract containing one or more embedded derivatives, and HKAS 39 permits

the entire combined contract (asset or liability) to be designated as at fair value through profit
or loss.
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At each balance sheet date subsequent to initial recognition, financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss are measured at fair value, with changes in fair value recognised directly in profit or loss in the
period in which they arise. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss includes any interest paid on the
financial liability.

Other financial liabilities

Other financial liabilities (including bank and other borrowings, trade payables and other payables) are
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest method.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial liability and of
allocating interest expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts
estimated future cash payments through the expected life of the financial liability, or, where appropriate, a
shorter period.

Interest expense is recognised on an effective interest basis other than those financial liabilities designated
as fair value through profit or loss, of which the interest expense is included in net gains or losses.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled
or expired.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different
terms, or the terms of an existed liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as
a derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new liability, and the difference in the respective
carrying amounts is recognised in profit or loss.

Derivative financial instruments and hedging

The Media Magic Group uses derivative financial instruments such as forward currency contracts and
interest rate swaps to hedge its risks associated with foreign currency and interest rate fluctuations. Such derivative
financial instruments are initially recognised at fair value on the date on which a derivative contract is entered
into and are subsequently remeasured at fair value. Derivatives are carried as assets when the fair value is positive

and as liabilities when the fair value is negative.

Any gains or losses arising from changes on fair value on derivatives that do not qualify for hedge
accounting are taken directly to net profit or loss for the Relevant Periods.

The fair value of forward currency contracts is calculated by reference to current forward exchange
rates for contracts with similar maturity profiles. The fair value of interest rate swap contracts is determined by
reference to market values for similar instruments.

For the purpose of hedge accounting, hedges are classified as:

. fair value hedges when hedging the exposure to changes in the fair value of a recognised asset
or liability; or

. cash flow hedges when hedging the exposure to variability in cash flows that is either attributable
to a particular risk associated with a recognised asset or liability or a forecast transaction.

A hedge of the foreign currency risk of a firm commitment is accounted for as a cash flow hedge.
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At the inception of a hedge relationship, the Media Magic Group formally designates and documents the
hedge relationship to which the Media Magic Group wishes to apply hedge accounting and the risk management
objective and strategy for undertaking the hedge. The documentation includes identification of the hedging
instrument, the hedge item or transaction, the nature of the risk being hedged and how the Media Magic Group
will assess the hedging instrument’s effectiveness in offsetting the exposure to changes in the hedged item’s fair
value or cash flows attributable to the hedged risk. Such hedges are expected to be highly effective in achieving
offsetting changes in fair value or cash flows and are assessed on an ongoing basis to determine that they actually
have been highly effective throughout the financial reporting periods for which they were designated.

Hedges which meet the strict criteria for hedge accounting are accounted for as follow:

Fair value hedges

Fair value hedges are hedges of the Media Magic Group’s exposure to changes in the fair value of a
recognised asset or liability or an unrecognised firm commitment, or an identified portion of such an asset, liability
or firm commitment, that is attributable to a particular risk and could affect profit or loss. For fair value hedges,
the carrying amount of the hedged item is adjusted for gains and losses attributable to the risk being hedged, the
derivative is remeasured at fair value and gains and losses from both are taken to profit or loss.

For fair value hedges relating to items carried at amortised cost, the adjustment to carrying value is
amortised through profit or loss over the remaining terms to maturity. Any adjustment to the carrying amount of
a hedged financial instrument for which the effective interest method is used is amortised to profit or loss.

Amortisation may begin as soon as an adjustment exists and shall begin no later than when the hedged
item ceases to be adjusted for changes in its fair value attributable to the risk being hedged.

When an unrecognised firm commitment is designated as a hedged item, the subsequent cumulative change
in the fair value of the firm commitment attributable to the hedged risk is recognised as an asset or liability with
a corresponding gain or loss recognised in profit or loss. The changes in the fair value of the hedging instrument
are also recognised on profit or loss.

The Media Magic Group discontinues fair value hedge accounting of the hedging instrument expires
or is sold, terminated or exercised, the hedge no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting or the Media
Magic Group revokes the designation. Any adjustment to the carrying amount of a hedged financial instrument
for which the effective interest method is used is amortised to profit or loss. Amortisation may begin as soon as
an adjustment exists and shall begin no later than when the hedged item ceases to be adjusted for changes in its
fair value attributable to the risk being hedged.

Cash flow hedges

Cash flow hedges are hedges of the Media Magic Group’s exposure to variability in cash flows that
is attributable to a particular risk associated with a recognised asset or liability or a highly probable forecast
transaction and could affect profit or loss. The effective portion of the gain or loss on the hedging instrument is
recognised directly in equity, while the ineffective portion is recognised in profit or loss.

Amounts taken to equity are transferred to the income statement when the hedged transaction affects
profits or loss, such as when the hedged financial income or financial expense is recognised or when a forecast
sale or purchase occurs. Where the hedged item is the cost if a non-financial asset or liability, the accounts taken
to equity are transferred to the initial carrying amount of the non-financial asset or liability.
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If the forecast transaction is no longer expected to occur, the amounts previously recognised in equity
are transferred to profit or loss. If the hedging instrument expires or is sold, terminated or exercised without
replacement or rollover, or if its designation as a hedge is revoked, the amounts previously recognised in equity
remain in equity until the forecast transaction occurs. If the related transaction is not expected to occur, the
amount is taken to profit or loss.

Hedges of a net investment

Hedges of a net investment in a foreign operation, including a hedge of a monetary item that is accounted
for as part of the net investment, are accounted for in a similar way to cash flow hedges. Gains or losses on the
hedging instrument relating to the effective portion of the hedge are recognised directly in equity while any gains
or losses relating to the ineffective portion are recognised in profit or loss. On disposal of the foreign operation,
the cumulative value of any such gains or losses recognised directly in equity is transferred to profit or loss.

Trade receivables

Trade receivables, which generally have credit terms of not more than 90 days, except for certain well
established customers, where the terms are extended to not more than 180 days, are initially recognised at fair
value and thereafter stated at amortised cost using the effective interest method unless the effect of discounting
would be immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost less impairment losses for bad and doubtful debts. A
provision of impairment of accounts receivable is established when there is objective evidence that the Media
Magic Group will not be able to collect all amounts due according to the original terms of receivables. The amount
of the provision is the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future
cash flows, discounted at the effective interest rate. The amount of the provision is recognised in the income
statement and bad debts are written off as incurred.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on
hand and demand deposits, and short term highly liquid investments which are readily convertible into known
amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, and have a short maturity of
generally within three months when acquired, less bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form an
integral part of the Media Magic Group’s cash management.

For the purpose of the balance sheets, cash and bank balances comprise cash on hand and at banks,
including term deposits, which are not restricted as to use.

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or constructive) has arisen as a result of a
past event and it is probable that a future outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation, provided
that a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount recognised for a provision is the present value at
the balance sheet date of the future expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation. The increase in
the discounted present value amount arising from the passage of time is included in finance costs in the income
statement.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax is recognised in the income statement or in
equity if it relates to items that are recognised in the same or a different period, directly in equity.
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Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount expected
to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all temporary differences at the balance sheet date
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences, except:

. where the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither
the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

. in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates
and interests in joint ventures, where the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can
be controlled and it is probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable
future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, carryforward of unused tax
credits and unused tax losses, to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which
the deductible temporary differences, and the carryforward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be
utilised except:

. where the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary differences arises from the
initial recognition of an asset or liability and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the
accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

. in respect of deductible temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries,
associates and interests in joint ventures, deferred tax assets are only recognised to the extent
that it is probable that the temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable
profit will be available against which the temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each balance sheet date and reduced to the extent
that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax
asset to be utilised. Conversely, previously unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at each balance sheet
date and are recognised to the extent that it is probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow
all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period
when the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted at the balance sheet date.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset, if a legally enforceable right exists to set off
current tax assets against current tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to the same taxable entity and the
same taxation authority.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised when it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Media Magic Group
and when the revenue can be measured reliably, on the following bases:

@) from the rendering of services, on the percentage of completion basis; and
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(i) interest income, on an accrual basis using the effective interest method by applying the rate that
discounts the estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial instrument
to the net carrying amount of the financial asset.

Employee benefits

Pension scheme

The employees of Media Magic’s subsidiaries which operate in Mainland China are required to participate
in central pension scheme operated by the local municipal government. These subsidiaries are required to contribute
certain percentage of their payroll costs to the central pension scheme. The contributions are charged to the income
statement as they become payable in accordance with the rules of the central pension scheme.

Foreign currencies

The Financial Information is presented in Hong Kong dollars, which is Media Magic’s functional and
presentation currency. Foreign currency transactions are initially recorded using the functional currency rates ruling
at the date of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated
at the functional currency rates of exchange ruling at the balance sheet date. All differences are taken to the
income statement. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are
translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was determined.

The functional currencies of certain overseas subsidiaries are currencies other than the Hong Kong dollar.
As at the balance sheet date, the assets and liabilities of these entities are translated into the presentation currency
of the Media Magic Group at exchange rates ruling at the balance sheet date and, their income statements are
translated into Hong Kong dollars at the weighted average exchange rates for the period. The resulting exchange
differences are included in a separate component of equity. On disposal of a foreign entity, the deferred cumulative
amount recognised in equity relating to that particular foreign operation is recognised in the income statement.

For the purpose of the consolidated cash flow statement, the cash flows of the overseas subsidiaries are
translated into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange rates ruling at the dates of the cash flows. Frequently recurring
cash flows of the overseas subsidiaries which arise throughout the Relevant Periods are translated into Hong
Kong dollars at the weighted average exchange rates for the Relevant Periods.

Contingent liabilities and contingent assets

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from past events and whose existence will only
be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within
the control of the Media Magic Group. It can also be a present obligation arising from past event that is not
recognised because it is not probable that outflow of economic resources will be required or the amount of
obligation cannot be measured reliably.

A contingent liability is not recognised but is disclosed in the notes to the Financial Information. When
a change in the probability of an outflow occurs so that outflow is probable, they will then be recognised as a
provision.

A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises from past events and whose existence will be confirmed
only by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain events not wholly within the control of the

Media Magic Group.

Contingent assets are not recognised but are disclosed in the notes to the Financial Information when an
inflow of economic benefits is probable. When inflow is virtually certain, an asset is recognised.
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Segment reporting

A segment is a distinguishable component of the Media Magic Group that is engaged either in providing
products or services (business segment), or in providing products or services within a particular economic
environment (geographical segment), which is subject to risks and rewards that are different form those of other
segments.

5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

Judgements

In the process of applying the Media Magic Group’s accounting policies, the management has made
the following judgements, apart from those involving estimations, which have the most significant effect on the
amounts recognised in the Financial Information.

Impairment of goodwill

The Media Magic Group tests annually whether goodwill has suffered any impairment. The recoverable
amounts of cash-generating units have been determined based on value-in-use calculations. These calculations
require the use of estimates, such as discount rates, future profitability and growth rates.

Useful lives of property, plant and equipment

Management determines the estimated useful lives and residual values for its property, plant and equipment.
Management will revise the depreciation charge where useful lives are different from previously estimated ones,
or it will write-off or write-down obsolete or non-strategic assets that have been abandoned or sold.

Income taxes

The Media Magic Group is subject to incomes taxes in a number of jurisdictions. Significant judgement
is required in determining the provision for income taxes for each entity in the Media Magic Group. There are
transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of
business. The Media Magic Group recognises liabilities for potential tax exposures based on estimates of whether
additional taxes will be due. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that
were initially recorded, such differences will impact the income tax and deferred tax provisions in the Relevant
Periods in which such determination is made.

Deferred tax is provided using the liability method, on all temporary differences at the balance sheet
date between the tax bases of assets and liabilities, and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.
Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses carried forward to the extent it is probable (i.e. more
likely than not) that future taxable profits will be available against which the unused tax losses can be utilised,
based on all available evidence. Recognition primarily involves judgement regarding the future performance of
the particular legal entity or tax group in which the deferred tax asset has been recognised. A variety of other
factors are also evaluated in considering whether there is convincing evidence that is probable that some portion
or all of the deferred tax assets and related financial models and budgets are reviewed at each balance sheet date
and to the extent that there is insufficient convincing evidence that sufficient taxable profits will be available
within the utilisation periods to allow utilisation of the carry forward tax losses, the asset balance will be reduced
and charged to the income statement.
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Impairment of assets

In determining whether an asset is impaired or whether the event previously causing the impairment no
longer exists, the management has to exercise judgement in the area of asset impairment, particularly in assessing:
(1) whether an event has occurred that may affect the asset value, or such an event affecting the asset value
has not been in existence; (2) whether the carrying value of an asset can be supported by the net present value
of future cash flows, which are estimated based upon the continued use of the asset or derecognition; and (3)
the appropriate key assumptions to be applied in preparing cash flow projections including whether these cash
flow projections are discounted using an appropriate rate. Changing the assumptions selected by management to
determine the level of impairment, including the discount rates or the growth rate assumptions in the cash flow
projections, could have a material effect on the net present value used in the impairment test.

6. SEGMENTAL INFORMATION

No business or geographical segment analysis is presented as all operations, assets and liabilities of the Media
Magic Group during the Relevant Periods are related to the provision of mobile payment gateway services and over 90%
of the assets and customers are located in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”).
7. TURNOVER, OTHER REVENUES AND GAINS

Turnover represents the value of services rendered for the Relevant Periods.

An analysis of the Media Magic Group’s turnover, other revenues and gains for the Relevant Periods is as

follows:
Nine months ended
Year ended 31 March 31 December
2006 2007 2008 2007 2008
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
(audited) (audited) (audited) (unaudited) (audited)
Turnover

Mobile payment gateway services - 3,177 36,523 23,969 39,344

Diversified mobile value-added
services - - - - 1,800
- 3,177 36,523 23,969 41,144

Other revenues and gains

Gain on disposal of a subsidiary - - - - 679
Interest income - 2 87 81 4
Sundry income - - - - 3
- 2 87 81 686
— 3,179 36,610 24,050 41,830
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8. PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAX

The Media Magic Group’s profit/(loss) before tax is arrived at after charging:

Nine months ended
Year ended 31 March 31 December
2006 2007 2008 2007 2008
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000
(audited) (audited) (audited) (unaudited) (audited)

Cost of sales - - 3,192 1,933 4,895
Depreciation - 266 2,211 1,319 2,935
Minimum lease payments under

operating leases on land and

buildings - 188 653 520 398
Loss on disposal of property, plant

and equipment - - 9 9 -
Auditors’ remuneration - - 91 68 -
Staff cost (excluding directors’

remuneration)
Salaries and allowances - 308 2,642 1,885 2,164
Pension scheme contribution — 67 147 95 243

Auditors’ remuneration is borned by Upper Power Limited, an immediate holding company of Media Magic for
the years ended 31 March 2006 and 31 March 2007 and nine months ended 31 December 2008.

9. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

Directors’ remuneration disclosed pursuant to the Listing Rules and Section 161 of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance is as follows:

Nine months ended
Year ended 31 March 31 December
2006 2007 2008 2007 2008
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$°000
(audited) (audited) (audited) (unaudited) (audited)

Fees - - - - -
Other emoluments:
Salaries and benefits in kind - - 1,237 920 960
Retirement scheme contributions - - - - -

— — 1,237 920 960
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Of the five individuals with highest emoluments, three (years ended 31 March 2006 and 31 March 2007: none;
year ended 31 March 2008 and nine months ended 31 December 2007: three) of them are directors. Details of the
remuneration of the five highest paid employees are as follows:

Nine months ended
Year ended 31 March 31 December
2006 2007 2008 2007 2008
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000
(audited) (audited) (audited) (unaudited) (audited)

Salaries and benefits in kind - 121 1,493 1,135 1,194
Retirement scheme contributions - 14 17 10 23
— 135 1,510 1,145 1,217

During the Relevant Periods, no emoluments were paid by Media Magic to the directors or any of the five highest
paid individuals as an inducement to join or upon joining Media Magic or as compensation for loss of office. No directors
waived any emoluments during the Relevant Periods.

10. TAX

Nine months ended
Year ended 31 March 31 December
2006 2007 2008 2007 2008
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000
(audited) (audited) (audited) (unaudited) (audited)

Current year provision

Hong Kong - - - - -
PRC - - 1,721 - 1,870
Overprovision in prior year - - - - (1,633)
Deferred tax - 497 449 456 -
Tax charge for the year/period — 497 2,170 456 237

No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made as the Media Magic Group did not generate any assessable
profits arising in Hong Kong for the nine months ended 31 December 2008 (years ended 31 March 2006, 31 March 2007
and 31 March 2008 and nine months ended 31 December 2007: Nil).

Taxes on profits of companies operating in the PRC have been calculated at the rates of taxes applicable in the
respective jurisdictions, based on existing legislation, interpretations and practices in respect thereof, during each of the

Relevant Periods.

There are no material unprovided deferred tax assets and liabilities at the respective balance sheet dates.

- 160 -



APPENDIX II ACCOUNTANTS’ REPORT OF THE MEDIA MAGIC GROUP

A reconciliation of the tax charge/(credit) applicable to profit/(loss) before tax using the statutory rate to the tax
charge/(credit) at the effective tax rate is as follows:

Nine months ended
Year ended 31 March 31 December
2006 2007 2008 2007 2008
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000
(audited) (audited) (audited) (unaudited) (audited)

Profit/(loss) before tax (16) 1,428 23,371 14,893 28,614

Tax at the statutory tax rate of 16.5%
(years ended 31 March 2006,
31 March 2007 and 31 March 2008
and nine months ended

31 December 2007: 17.5%) 3) 250 4,090 2,606 4,721
Effect of different tax

rate in other jurisdictions - 231 2,526 2,327 (347)
Tax effect of non-taxable income - (D) (13) (13) (409)
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses 3 17 219 128 59
Tax effect on unused tax losses

not recognised - - 5 4 -
Overprovision in prior year - - - - (1,633)
Tax concession - - (4,657) (4,596) (2,154)
Tax charge at effective rate - 497 2,170 456 237
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11. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Media Magic Group

Furniture
Leasehold Computer and Office
improvements equipment fixtures equipment Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
(audited) (audited) (audited) (audited) (audited)

Cost:
At 1 April 2006 - - - - -
Acquired on acquisition
of a subsidiary 383 5,047 14 13 5,457
Additions - 38 10 - 48

At 31 March 2007

and at 1 April 2007 383 5,085 24 13 5,505
Additions 201 12,025 65 23 12,314
Disposals - (13) - - (13)
Exchange realignment 48 1,128 5 2 1,183

At 31 March 2008

and at 1 April 2008 632 18,225 94 38 18,989
Additions - 1,402 - - 1,402
Disposal of a subsidiary - (315) - - (315)
Exchange realignment 14 401 2 1 418
At 31 December 2008 646 19,713 96 39 20,494

Accumulated depreciation:
At 1 April 2006 - - - - -

Acquired on acquisition
of a subsidiary 48 249 1 - 298
Provided for the year 24 240 1 1 266

At 31 March 2007

and at 1 April 2007 72 489 2 1 564
Provided for the year 139 2,054 12 6 2,211
Disposals - 2) - - 2)
Exchange realignment 14 157 - - 171

At 31 March 2008

and at 1 April 2008 225 2,698 14 7 2,944
Provided for the period 135 2,780 14 6 2,935
Disposal of a subsidiary - (8) - - (8)
Exchange realignment 5 61 1 - 67
At 31 December 2008 365 5,531 29 13 5,938

Net book value:

At 31 December 2008 281 14,182 67 26 14,556
At 31 March 2008 407 15,527 80 31 16,045
At 31 March 2007 311 4,596 22 12 4,941

At 31 March 2006 — — - _ _
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12. GOODWILL

The amounts of the goodwill capitalised by the Media Magic Group as an asset and recognised in the consolidated
balance sheet, arising from the acquisition of subsidiaries, are as follows:

HK$’000

(audited)
At 1 April 2006 -
Arising from acquisition of subsidiaries 1,775
At 31 March 2007 and at 1 April 2007 1,775
Arising from acquisition of additional interest in a subsidiary 366
At 31 March 2008 and at 31 December 2008 2,141

Goodwill is allocated to the Media Magic Group’s cash-generating units (“CGU”) identified according to the
country of operation and business segment as follows:

As at 31

As at 31 March December

2006 2007 2008 2008

HKS$’000 HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$°000

(audited) (audited) (audited) (audited)

Mobile payment gateway services — 1,775 2,141 2,141

These CGU are the provision of mobile payment gateway services in the PRC. The recoverable amounts of
the CGU are determined based on value-in-use calculations using cash flow projections based on the financial budgets
covering a five-year period for CGU as approved by the directors.

Key assumptions used for value-in-use calculations:

As at 31
As at 31 March December
2006 2007 2008 2008
% % % %
Growth rate - 10-50* 10-50* 10-50*
Discount rate — 10.5 10.5 10.5

* The turnover will increase by 50%, 40%, 30%, 20% and 10% in the coming five years.

The directors believe that the possible changes in any of these assumptions would not cause the aggregate carrying
amount of goodwill to exceed the recoverable amount.

The directors of the Media Magic Group are of the opinion that there is no impairment of goodwill.
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13. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Media Magic Group

At 1 April 2006
Arising from acquisition of a subsidiary

At 31 March 2007 and at 1 April 2007
Exchange realignment

At 31 March 2008 and at 1 April 2008
Exchange realignment

At 31 December 2008

14. INVESTMENT IN A SUBSIDIARY

Unlisted shares, at cost

Technical
know-how
HK$°000
(audited)

9,614

9,614
925

10,539
232

10,771

As at 31
December
2008
HK$°000
(audited)

As at 31 March
2007
HK$°000
(audited)

2006
HK$’000
(audited)

2008
HK$’000
(audited)

The amounts due from and to a subsidiary included in Media Magic’s current assets and current liabilities of
HK$5,207,000 (31 March 2006: Nil; 31 March 2007: HK$5,563,000; 31 March 2008: HK$5,217,000) and HK$510,000
(31 March 2006, 31 March 2007 and 31 March 2008: Nil), respectively, are unsecured, interest-free and have no fixed

terms of repayment.
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Particulars of Media Magic’s subsidiaries are as follows:

Name of
subsidiary

Multi Channel
Technology
Limited

PalmPay Technology
Co. Ltd. *
L EEE
BHA R ]

Beijing Hu Lian
Hui Zhong
Technology
Company
Limited *

e LI I AR
FHEAIRAT

(formerly known as
Beijing Dong Fang

Hui Zhong
Enterprise
Management
Limited *

JEATHTT MR AR

EHARAF)

Place and
date of
incorporation/
establishment

Hong Kong
4 March 2004

PRC
20 March 2005

PRC
17 November 2006

Issued and
fully paid
capital/
registered
capital

HK$100

RMB21,000,000

HK$1,000,000

Attributable
equity interest
held by
Media Magic

Directly  Indirectly

100% -

- 100%

- 100%

* English translation of companies’ names is for identification purpose only.

wk The company was disposed during the nine months ended 31 December 2008.
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15.

16.

TRADE RECEIVABLES

The aged analysis of the Media Magic Group’s trade receivables is as follows:

0 — 30 days
31 — 60 days
61 — 90 days
91 — 120 days
Over 120 days

The aged analysis of Media Magic’s trade receivables is as follows:

0 — 30 days
31 - 60 days

PREPAYMENT, DEPOSITS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Media Magic Group

Prepayment
Deposits
Other receivables
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As at 31

As at 31 March December

2006 2007 2008 2008
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$’000
(audited) (audited) (audited) (audited)
- 1,421 4,490 5,935

- 1,259 4,453 5,844

- 262 4,722 4,776

- 50 3,971 4,427

- - 11,103 41,784

— 2,992 28,739 62,766

As at 31

As at 31 March December

2006 2007 2008 2008
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$’000
(audited) (audited) (audited) (audited)
- - - 900

- - - 900

— — — 1,800

As at 31

As at 31 March December

2006 2007 2008 2008
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$’000
(audited) (audited) (audited) (audited)
- 8 132 73

- 314 449 562

1 280 2,913 19,644

1 602 3,494 20,279
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Media Magic

As at 31

As at 31 March December

2006 2007 2008 2008
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000
(audited) (audited) (audited) (audited)

Other receivables 1 _ _ _

17. DUE FROM SHAREHOLDERS

Media Magic Group and Media Magic

The amounts due from shareholders are unsecured, interest-free and have been fully settled during the year
ended 31 March 2007.

18. ACCRUALS AND OTHER PAYABLES

Media Magic Group

As at 31
As at 31 March December
2006 2007 2008 2008
HKS$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
(audited) (audited) (audited) (audited)
Accruals - 444 2,486 1,103
Other payables 39 13,961 3,448 25,189
39 14,405 5,934 26,292

Media Magic
As at 31
As at 31 March December
2006 2007 2008 2008
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
(audited) (audited) (audited) (audited)
Accruals - - 10 10
Other payables 39 65 46 46
39 65 56 56
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19. DUE TO ULTIMATE HOLDING COMPANY/A FELLOW SUBSIDIARY/DIRECTORS

Media Magic Group

The amounts due to ultimate holding company/a fellow subsidiary/directors are unsecured, interest-free

and have no fixed terms of repayment.

Media Magic

The amount due to a director is unsecured, interest-free and has no fixed terms of repayment.

20. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS

Media Magic Group

At 1 April 2006
Acquired on acquisition of a subsidiary
Charge to income statement for the year

At 31 March 2007 and at 1 April 2007
Charge to income statement for the year
Exchange realignment

At 31 March 2008 and at 31 December 2008

Losses
available
for offset

against future
taxable profit
HK$°000
(audited)

927
(497)

430
(449)
19

Media Magic has no significant unprovided deferred tax for the Relevant Periods and at the balance sheet

dates.

21. SHARE CAPITAL

Authorised:
100,000 ordinary shares of US$1 each

Issued and fully paid:
55,556 ordinary shares
(31 March 2008 and 31 March 2007:
55,556 ordinary shares; 31 March 2006:
50,000 ordinary shares) of US$1 each
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As at 31

As at 31 March December

2006 2008 2008
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
(audited) (audited) (audited)
780 780 780

390 433 433
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capital and share premium account are as follows:

22.

A summary of the transactions with reference to the above movements in Media Magic’s issued ordinary share

At 1 April 2005, at 31 March 2006
and at 1 April 2006
Issue of shares

At 31 March 2007, at 31 March 2008
and at 31 December 2008

Note:

Issued Share
share premium
capital account Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
(audited) (audited) (audited)
390 - 390
43 4,957 5,000
433 4,957 5,390

@) On 10 August 2006, 5,556 new shares of US$1 each were issued for additional working capital of Media
Magic. The premium of HK$4,957,000 over the par value of the shares has been credited to the share

premium account.
RESERVES

Media Magic

At 1 April 2005
Net loss for the year

At 31 March 2006 and at 1 April 2006
Issue of shares
Net loss for the year

At 31 March 2007 and at 1 April 2007
Net loss for the year

At 31 March 2008 and at 1 April 2008
Net profit for the period

At 31 December 2008
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Retained
profits/
Share (Accumu-
premium lated
account losses) Total
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000
(audited) (audited) (audited)
- (22) (22)
- (16) (16)
- (38) (38)
4,957 - 4,957
- (56) (56)
4,957 %94) 4,863
- (337) (337)
4,957 (431) 4,526
- 1,279 1,279
4,957 848 5,805
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23. BUSINESS COMBINATION

On 27 June 2006 and 5 January 2007, the Media Magic Group acquired 100% and 96% equity interests in Multi
Channel Technology Limited and PalmPay Technology Co. Ltd. respectively. These transactions have been accounted

for by the purchase method.
The net assets acquired, being the fair value, in the transactions, and goodwill on acquisition, are as follows:
Carrying

amount of Fair value Fair value of
the acquirees  adjustment the acquirees

HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$°000
(audited) (audited) (audited)

Net assets acquired comprised:
Property, plant and equipment 5,159 - 5,159
Intangible assets 9,614 - 9,614
Deferred tax assets 927 - 927
Trade receivables 690 - 690
Prepayment, deposits and other receivables 623 - 623
Cash and bank balances 519 - 519
Accruals and other payables (788) - (788)
Due to a director (8,570) - (8,570)
Exchange reserve (20) - (20)
8,154 — 8,154
Net assets acquired 7,825
Goodwill arising on acquisition 1,775
Cash consideration 9,600

An analysis of the net outflow of cash and cash equivalents in respect of the acquisition of the subsidiaries is

as follows:
HK$’000
(audited)
Cash consideration (9,600)
Cash and bank balances acquired 519
Net outflow of cash and cash equivalents in respect
of the acquisition of the subsidiaries (9,081)

On 18 October 2007, the Media Magic Group acquired additional 4% equity interest in PalmPay Technology Co.
Ltd. At the date of acquisition, PalmPay Technology Co. Ltd. had net carrying amounts of approximately HK$617,000.
An excess of the cost of the further acquisition over the carrying amounts of the net assets acquired of approximately
HK$366,000 is recognised as goodwill in the consolidated balance sheet.
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24.

Details of net assets acquired and goodwill are as follows:

Total purchase consideration discharged by:

— Cash paid

Share of net assets acquired

Goodwill

DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY

HK$’000
(audited)

983

617)

366

On 17 July 2008, the Media Magic Group disposed of its entire interest in Beijing Hu Lian Hui Zhong Technology

Company Limited, an indirectly wholly-owned subsidiary of Media Magic, to Victory Tech Limited, a fellow subsidiary

of Media Magic, at a consideration of HK$1,000,000. The disposal of the subsidiary was completed on 3 September

2008.

Net assets disposal of:

Property, plant and equipment

Prepayment, deposit and other receivables

Due from a fellow subsidiary
Cash and cash equivalents
Accruals and other payables
Due to a director

Net assets value

Exchange fluctuation reserve released on disposal

Gain on disposal

Consideration

Satisfied by:
Cash

HK$’000
(audited)

307
34
227
58

(199)

(23)

404

(83)
679

1,000

1,000

An analysis of the net inflow of cash and cash equivalents in respect of the disposal of the subsidiary is as

follows:

Cash consideration

Cash and bank balances in subsidiary disposed of

Net inflow of cash and cash equivalents on disposal
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HK$’000
(audited)

1,000

(58)

942
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25.

26.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(a) The Media Magic Group had the following transactions with related parties:

As disclosed in note 24, the Media Magic Group disposed 100% equity interest in Beijing Hu Lian Hui
Zhong Technology Company Limited to Victory Tech Limited, a fellow subsidiary of Media Magic.

(b) Media Magic had the following transactions with related parties:

Nine months ended
Year ended 31 March 31 December
2006 2007 2008 2007 2008
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000
(audited) (audited) (audited) (unaudited) (audited)

Service fee paid
to a subsidiary — — — — 510

OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS

The Media Magic Group leases certain of its office properties under operating lease arrangements which are

negotiated for terms from 1 to 5 years.

At the balance sheet dates, the Media Magic Group had total future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable

operating leases falling due as follows:

As at 31

As at 31 March December

2006 2007 2008 2008

HKS$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

(audited) (audited) (audited) (audited)

Within one year - 671 731 725
In the second to fifth years, inclusive - 1,461 921 409
— 2,132 1,652 1,134

27. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

At each of the balance sheet dates, neither the Media Magic Group nor Media Magic had any significant capital
commitments.
28. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

At each of the balance sheet dates, neither the Media Magic Group nor Media Magic had any significant

contingent liabilities.
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29.

30.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

As at 31
As at 31 March December
Categories of financial instruments 2006 2007 2008 2008
HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000
(audited) (audited) (audited) (audited)
Financial assets
Loan and receivables (including cash
and cash equivalents) 391 4,549 33,272 83,704
Financial liabilities
Amortised cost 39 14,656 30,646 50,218

FINANCIAL RISKS AND MANAGEMENT

The Media Magic Group is exposed to credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk arising in the normal course of

its business and financial instruments. The Media Magic Group’s risk management objectives, policies and processes

mainly focus on minimizing the potential adverse effects of these risks on its financial performance and position by

closely monitoring the individual exposure.

(a) Credit risk

The Media Magic Group’s maximum exposure credit risk is represented by the carrying amount of the
respective recognised financial assets as stated in the consolidated balance sheet. The Media Magic Group’s credit
risk is primarily attributable to trade and other receivables, bank balances and the amounts due from shareholders.
The management of the Media Magic Group reviews the recoverable amount regularly at each balance sheet
date to ensure that adequate allowances are made for irrecoverable amounts. In this regards, the management
considers that the Media Magic Group’s credit risk is significantly reduced.

The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because the counterparties are banks with high credit-ratings.

Credit risk is concentrated to a number of debtors principally located in the PRC. The management has
considered the good creditability of the debtors and is of the view that, there is no significant credit risk on
these receivables.

(b) Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the management monitors and maintains a level of cash and
cash equivalents deemed adequate to finance the Media Magic Group’s operations and mitigate the effects of
fluctuation in cash flows.

The maturity of the Media Magic Group’s financial liabilities at each of balance sheet dates is less than
one year.

(c) Market risk

(i) Interest rate risk

The Media Magic Group’s exposure to cash flow interest rate risk mainly arises from the fluctuation
of the prevailing market interest rate on the bank balances. However, the management considers the Media
Magic Group’s exposure to such interest rate risk is not significant as bank balances are all short-term in
nature. No sensitivity analysis is prepared as the fluctuation and impact is considered immaterial.
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(ii) Currency risk

The Media Magic Group sells in mainly Renminbi, that exposes it to currency risk arising from

such sales and the resulting receivables.

The Media Magic Group currently does not have a foreign currency hedging policy. The

management monitors foreign exchange exposure closely and will consider hedging significant foreign

currency exposure when the need arises.

Summary of quantitative data

31 December 2008

Financial assets

— Trade receivables

— Deposits and other receivables
— Cash and bank balances

Financial liabilities

— Accruals and other payables
— Due to fellow subsidiary

— Due to directors

31 March 2008

Financial assets

— Trade receivables

— Deposits and other receivables
— Cash and bank balances

Financial liabilities
— Accruals and other payables
— Due to directors

31 March 2007

Financial assets

— Trade receivables

— Deposits and other receivables
— Cash and bank balances

Financial liabilities
— Accruals and other payables
— Due to a director

31 March 2006
Financial assets
— Cash and bank balances

Financial liabilities
— Accruals and other payables
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Renminbi
HK$°000
(audited)

60,966
20,279
510

81,755

26,237
91
5,988

32,316

28,739
3,494
879

33,112

5,863
5,881

11,744

2,992
602
928

4,522

14,340
20

14,360
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The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in Renminbi (“RMB”)
exchange rate, with all other variables held constant, of the Media Magic Group’s profit/loss before tax and the
Media Magic Group’s equity.

Increase/
(decrease) in Increase/ Increase/
foreign (decrease) in (decrease) in
exchange rate profit before tax equity
% HK$°000 HK$°000
(audited) (audited)
31 December 2008
RMB 10 2,615 2,615
RMB (10) (2,615) (2,615)
31 March 2008
RMB 10 2,366 2,366
RMB (10) (2,366) (2,366)
31 March 2007
RMB 10 149 149
RMB (10) (149) (149)
31 March 2006
RMB 10 - -
RMB (10) - -

(d) Fair value

The management considers that the carrying amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded
at amortised cost in the Financial Information approximate to their fair values.

31. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The primary objective of the Media Magic Group’s capital management is to safeguard the Media Magic Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern and to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to support its business and maximise
shareholder value.

The capital structure of the Media Magic Group consists of debts, cash and cash equivalents and equity attributable
to the shareholders of the Media Magic Group, comprising issued share capital and retained profits as disclosed in the
financial statements.

The Media Magic Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it in the light of changes in
economic conditions and the risk characteristics of the underlying assets. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the
Media Magic Group may adjust the dividend payment to shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue new shares,
or sell assets to reduce debt. No change was made in the objectives, policies or processes during the Relevant Periods.

The Media Magic Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is the Media Magic Group’s total liabilities
over its total assets. The Media Magic Group’s policy is to keep the gearing ratio at a reasonable level. The Media Magic
Group’s gearing ratio as at 31 December 2008 was 0.47 (31 March 2008: 0.52; 31 March 2007: 0.68; 31 March 2006:
0.1).
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C. SUBSEQUENT FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

No audited financial statements have been prepared for the Media Magic Group in respect of
any period subsequent to 31 December 2008.

Yours faithfully,
Vision A. S. Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong

Cheung Man Yau, Timothy
Practising Certificate No.: P01417
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APPENDIX III UNAUDITED PRO FORMA FINANCIAL
INFORMATION OF THE ENLARGED GROUP

The following is the text of a report, prepared for the sole purpose of inclusion in this circular,
received from the independent reporting accountants, Vision A. S. Limited.

Vision A. S. Limited Certified Public Accountants
A & EH AT A PR A ]

27 May 2009

The Board of Directors

Palmpay China (Holdings) Limited
Unit 1601, 16/F,

Ruttonjee House,

Ruttonjee Centre,

11 Duddell Street,

Central,

Hong Kong.

Dear Sirs,

We report on the unaudited pro forma financial information (the “Unaudited Pro Forma Financial
Information™) of Palmpay China (Holdings) Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (hereinafter
collectively referred to as the “Group”), which has been prepared by the directors of the Company for
illustrative purposes only, to provide information about how the proposed acquisition of 25% equity
interests in Media Magic Technology Limited might have affected the financial information presented,
for inclusion as Appendix III to the circular of the Company dated 27 May 2009 (the “Circular”).
The basis of preparation of the Unaudited Pro Forma Financial Information is set out on pages 179
to 181 to the Circular.

Respective Responsibilities of Directors of the Company and Reporting Accountants

It is the responsibility solely of the directors of the Company to prepare the Unaudited Pro
Forma Financial Information in accordance with rule 7.31 of the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Growth Enterprise Market of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “GEM
Listing Rules”) and with reference to Accounting Guideline 7 “Preparation of Pro Forma Financial
Information for Inclusion in Investment Circulars” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants.

It is our responsibility to form an opinion, as required by rule 7.31(7) of the GEM Listing
Rules, on the Unaudited Pro Forma Financial Information and to report our opinion to you. We do
not accept any responsibility for any reports previously given by us on any financial information used
in the compilation of the Unaudited Pro Forma Financial Information beyond that owed to those to
whom those reports were addressed by us at the dates of their issue.
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Basis of Opinion

We conducted our engagement in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Investment Circular
Reporting Engagements (“HKSIR”) 300 “Accountants’ Reports on Pro Forma Financial Information
in Investment Circulars” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Our
work consisted primarily of comparing the unadjusted financial information with source documents,
considering the evidence supporting the adjustments and discussing the Unaudited Pro Forma Financial
Information with the directors of the Company. This engagement did not involve independent examination
of any of the underlying financial information.

We planned and performed our work so as to obtain the information and explanations we
considered necessary in order to provide us with sufficient evidence to give reasonable assurance
that the Unaudited Pro Forma Financial Information has been properly compiled by the directors of
the Company on the basis stated, that such basis is consistent with the accounting policies of the
Group and that the adjustments are appropriate for the purpose of the Unaudited Pro Forma Financial
Information as disclosed pursuant to rule 7.31(1) of the GEM Listing Rules.

The Unaudited Pro Forma Financial Information is for illustrative purpose only, based on the
judgements and assumptions of the directors of the Company, and, because of its hypothetical nature,
does not provide any assurance or indication that event will take place in the future and may not be
indicative of the financial position of the Group as at 30 September 2008 or any future date.
Opinion

In our opinion:

° the Unaudited Pro Forma Financial Information has been properly compiled by the
directors of the Company on the basis stated;

. such basis is consistent with the accounting policies of the Group; and

N the adjustments are appropriate for the purpose of the Unaudited Pro Forma Financial
Information as disclosed pursuant to rule 7.31(1) of the GEM Listing Rules.

Yours faithfully,
Vision A. S. Limited
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

Cheung Man Yau, Timothy
Practising Certificate No.: PO1417
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INTRODUCTION TO THE UNAUDITED PRO FORMA FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE
ENLARGED GROUP

The following unaudited pro forma financial information of the Enlarged Group has been
prepared based on the unaudited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the period ended
30 September 2008, extracted from the Company’s 2008/2009 Interim Report as set out in Appendix I
to this circular and the unaudited financial information of the Target Group for the period ended 30
September 2008. The accompanying unaudited pro forma financial information of the Enlarged Group
has been prepared to illustrate the effect of the proposed acquisition of 25% equity interests in the
Target at a consideration of HK$82,335,000 which shall be satisfied by deposit already paid, cash and
allotment and issue of the shares of the Company and issue of convertible bonds by the Company.

The accompanying unaudited pro forma financial information of the Enlarged Group is based on
a number of assumptions, estimates, uncertainties and currently available information, and is provided
for illustrative purposes. Accordingly, as a result of the uncertain nature of the accompanying unaudited
pro forma financial information of the Enlarged Group, it may not give a true picture of the actual
financial position or results of the Enlarged Group’s operations that would have been attained had
the Proposed Acquisition actually occurred on 30 September 2008 or any future period. Further, the
accompanying unaudited pro forma financial information of the Enlarged Group does not purport to
predict the Enlarged Group’s future financial position or results of operations.

The unaudited pro forma financial information of the Enlarged Group should be read in

conjunction with the Accountants’ Report on the Target Group as set out in Appendix II and other
financial information included elsewhere in this Circular.
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Unaudited Pro Forma Financial Information of the Enlarged Group

As at 30 September 2008

NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Property, plant and equipment
Available-for-sale investments
Intangible assets

Total non-current assets

CURRENT ASSETS

Trade receivables

Prepayments, deposits and other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents

Total current assets

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Accrued expenses and other payables
Amount due to a director

Tax payable

Total current liabilities
NET CURRENT ASSETS

TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT
LIABILITIES

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Convertible notes
Other payables

Total non-current liabilities

NET ASSETS

EQUITY
Issued capital
Reserves

MINORITY INTERESTS

TOTAL EQUITY

The Group
as at

30 September
2008
HK$°000

14,244
28,057

232,973

275,274

49,102
6,631

16,359

72,092

6,797
6,255
9,090

22,142

49,950

325,224

2,862

76,800
79,662

245,562

78,318
156,632

234,950

10,612

245,562
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Acquisition
of additional Unaudited
25% Media Pro forma
Magic of the
Technology Enlarged
Limited Group
Notes HKS$’000 HKS$’000
14,244
28,057
72,033 305,006
347,307
49,102
6,631
(2a) (7,000) 9,359
65,092
6,797
6,255
9,090
22,142
42,950
390,257
(2¢) 43,973 46,835
76,800
123,635
266,622
(2b) 11,818 90,136
(2b) 14,182 176,176
(2¢c) 5,362
266,312
(10,302) 310

266,622
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Notes:

H

(©))

For acquisition of additional 25% equity interests in Media Magic Technology Limited, the adjustment reflects
the excess of the Group’s interest in the net fair value of Media Magic Group’s identifiable assets, liabilities and
contingent liabilities over cost arising from the acquisition of 25% equity interests in the Media Magic Group
for the consideration HK$82,335,000 with the assumption that the fair value of the Media Magic Group is the
same as the carrying amount of net assets of approximately HK$43,625,000 as at 30 September 2008 (being the
net assets value of the Media Magic Group as at 30 September 2008 before minority interests). Based on the
information provided to us, we are not aware of any significant provision for the impairment loss on goodwill
is required.

The adjustment reflects the acquisition at the purchase price of HK$82,335,000, which will be satisfied by cash
of HK$7,000,000, the allotment and issue of 236,363,636 Consideration Shares in the amount of HK$26,000,000
credited as fully paid and issue of Convertible Bonds in the principal amount of HK$49,335,000.

(a) Cash of HK$7,000,000 has to be paid to the Vendors under the Sale and Purchase Agreement.

(b) The Consideration Shares are recorded at the issue price of HK$0.11 per share. 236,363,636 Consideration
Shares of par value HK$0.05 each, totally HK$11,818,181 is accounted for as an issued capital and the
premium of HK$14,181,818 over the par value of the shares is credited to the reserves account.

(c) The Company will issue the Completion Convertible Bonds in the principal amount of HK$49,335,000.
The Company shall repay such principal amount outstanding under the Completion Convertible Bonds in
the principal amount to the Bondholder(s) on the respective maturity dates of the Completion Convertible
Bonds. The Bondholder(s) will have the right to convert the whole or any part of the principal amount
of the Convertible Bonds into Shares at any time and from time to time at conversion price of HK$0.13
except for the Completion Convertible Bond which is subject to achievement of the Profit Guarantee.
The Convertible Bonds will carry interest of 1% payable semi-annually.

Under Hong Kong Accounting Standard 32 and 39, convertible bonds that are convertible to shares are
accounted for as compound instruments with both liability and equity element. The liability component
is calculated at the discounted present value of the cash flows of future principal and interest payments
at the market rate of interest applicable to similar liabilities that do not have a conversion option. The
equity component is calculated at the excess of the issued proceeds over the liability component.

By taking the discount rate at 5% per annum, the present value of the liability component is HK$43,972,973

and the difference between the liability component and the face value of the Convertible Bonds, being
HK$5,362,027 is accounted for as an equity component.
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1. RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT

This circular, for which the Director collectively and individually accept full responsibility,
includes particulars given in compliance with the GEM Listing Rules for the purpose of giving
information with regard to the Company. The Director, having made all reasonable enquiries, confirm
that, to the best of their knowledge and belief:

(a)  the information concerned in this circular is accurate and complete in all material respects
and not misleading;

(b)  there are no other matters the omission of which would make any statement in this circular
misleading; and

(c)  all opinions expressed in this circular have been arrived at after due and careful consideration
and are founded on bases and assumptions that are fair and reasonable.

2. SHARE CAPITAL
Authorised HK$
4,000,000,000 Shares 200,000,000.00
Issued and to be issued, fully paid or credited as fully paid

1,566,375,508 Shares in issue as at the Latest 78,318,775.40
Practicable Date

236,363,636 Consideration Shares to be allotted 11,818,181.80
and issued under the Sale
and Purchase Agreement

379,500,000 Shares to be allotted and issued 18,975,000.00
pursuant to the Bondholder(s)
upon conversion of the
Convertible Bonds under
the Sale and Purchase Agreement

2,182,239,144  Shares 109,111,957.20
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3.

DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS

(a) Director’s interests and short positions in the securities of the Company and its
associated corporations

As at the Latest Practicable Date, the interests and short positions of the Directors and the
chief executive of the Company in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company
and its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) (i) which were
required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8
of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short positions which they were taken or deemed
to have under such provisions of the SFO); or (ii) which were required, pursuant to section
352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein; or (iii) which were required
to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Rules 5.46 and 5.47 of the
GEM Listing Rules for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Companies contained in
the Listing Rules, were as follows:

(i) Interests in Shares:

Approximate

percentage or

attributable

Number of the Nature of percentage of

Name of Director Shares held interests shareholding

(%)

Hsu Tung Chi 130,576,183 (L) Beneficial 8.34

(Note 1)

Hsu Tung Sheng 900,000 (L) Beneficial 0.06

Ho Hoi Lap 2,544,000 (L) Beneficial 0.16
(L) denotes long position

Notes:
1. Mr. Hsu Tung Chi (“Mr. Hsu”) is interested in 65,074,000 Shares. According to the sale and

purchase agreement entered into between Upper Power Limited (“Upper Power”), a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company and Mr. Hsu on 5 November 2007, the Company has allotted
2,181,818 convertible bonds to Mr. Hsu on 21 December 2007; subject to fulfillment of certain
conditions, the Company will further allot 52,363,636 convertible bonds to Mr. Hsu. The Company
has made the adjustment to the convertible bonds in accordance with the bonus issue approved
by the shareholders of the Company on 1 August 2008. The numbers of convertible bonds are
adjusted to 2,620,087 and 62,882,096 respectively. As at the Latest Practicable Date, Mr. Hsu
has not converted any convertible bonds.
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(ii)  Interests in share options:

Number of share

Name of Director options outstanding
Hsu Tung Sheng 3,840,000%
11,000,000

Hsu Tung Chi 3,840,000%
11,000,000"

Ho Hoi Lap 13,200,000"
Chan Hin Wing, James 3,840,000*
11,000,000

Chan Francis Ping Kuen 13,200,000"
2,160,000%

13,000,000"

Approximate
percentage or
attributable
percentage of
shareholding

(%)

0.25
0.70

0.25
0.70

0.84

0.25
0.70

0.84
0.14
0.83

The exercise price of the share options is HK$0.4333 per share with exercise period commencing

Jfrom 14 August 2007 and ending on 13 August 2017.

from 21 December 2007 and ending on 20 December 2017.

The exercise price of the share options is HK$30.3875 per share with exercise period commencing

The exercise price of the share options is HK$0.106 per share with exercise period commencing

from I December 2008 and ending on 30 November 2013.

Save as disclosed above, as at the Latest Practicable Date, none of the Directors

nor the chief executive of the Company had or was deemed to have any interests or short

positions in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company and its associated

corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) (i) which were required to be

notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part

XV of the SFO (including interests or short positions which they were taken or deemed

to have under such provisions of the SFO); or (ii) which were required, pursuant to

section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein; or (iii) which

were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Rules
5.46 and 5.47 of the GEM Listing Rules for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed

Companies contained in the Listing Rules.
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(b) Persons who have an interest or short position which is discloseable under Divisions

2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO

So far as is known to the Directors and the chief executive of the Company, as at the

Latest Practicable Date, the following persons (not being Directors or chief executive of the

Company) had, or were deemed to have, interests or short positions in the Shares or underlying

Shares which would fall to be disclosed to the Company and the Stock Exchange under the

provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO:

Number or
attributable
number of Shares
held or short
positions

Name of
Shareholder

Starryland Profits Limited
(Note 1)

351,354,000 (L)

Lau Kim Hung, Jack 351,354,000 (L)

(Note 1)

11,208,000 (L)
1,200,000 (L)

Chan Yiu Kan, Katie
(Note 1)

362,562,000 (L)

1,200,000 (L)

Big Well Investments Limited 267,304,635 (L)

(Note 2)

Chong Tin Lung 267,304,635 (L)

(Note 2)

Lo Yee Man
(Note 2)

267,304,635 (L)

Pang Hong Tao 210,751,639 (L)

(Note 3)

Wang Jing 210,751,639 (L)

(Note 3)

(L) denotes long position
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Nature of
interests

Beneficial

Interests in
controlled
corporation

Beneficial
Deemed

Deemed

Beneficial

Beneficial

Interests in
controlled
corporation

Deemed

Beneficial

Deemed

Approximate
percentage or
attributable
percentage of
shareholding
(%)

22.43

22.43

0.72

0.08

23.15

0.08

17.07

17.07

17.07

13.45

13.45
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Notes:

1. Starryland Profits Limited, a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands, is wholly and beneficially
owned by Mr. Lau Kim Hung, Jack (“Mr. Lau”). Mr. Lau is deemed to be interested in 351,354,000
Shares held by Starryland Profits Limited. In addition, by virtue of being the spouse of Ms. Chan Yiu
Kan Katie, he is also deemed to be interested in 1,200,000 Shares held by Ms. Chan Yiu Kan Katie.

Ms. Chan Yiu Kan Katie, being the spouse of Mr. Lau, is deemed to be interested in 351,354,000 Shares
held by Starryland Profits Limited and 11,208,000 Shares held by Mr. Lau.

2. Big Well Investments Limited (“Big Well”) is a company incorporated in BVI which is a subscriber
of 223,000,000 non-listed warrants under the private placing of non-listed warrants as disclosed in the
announcements of the Company dated 27 August 2007 and 1 September 2007 conferring rights to Big
Well to subscribe for 223,000,000 Shares. After the bonus issue adjustment, the number of non-listed
warrants is adjusted to 267,304,635. Big Well is wholly-owned by Mr. Chong Tin Lung and he is therefore
deemed to be interested in those shares. By virtue of Ms. Lo Yee Man being the spouse of Mr. Chong
Tin Lung, she is also deemed to be interested in those 267,304,635 shares as well.

3. Mr. Pang Hong Tao (“Mr. Pang”) is interested in 101,581,333 Shares. According to the sale and purchase
agreement entered into between Upper Power and Mr. Pang on 5 November 2007, the Company has
allotted 3,636,364 convertible bonds to Mr. Pang on 21 December 2007. Subject to fulfillment of certain
conditions, the Company will further allot 87,272,727 convertible bonds to Mr. Pang. After the bonus
issue adjustment, the number of convertible bonds are adjusted to 4,366,812 and 104,803,494 respectively.
As at the Latest Practicable Date, Mr. Pang has not converted any convertible bonds. Ms. Wang Jing is
deemed to be interested in 101,581,333 Shares and 109,170,306 convertible bonds of the Company by
virtue of her being the spouse of Mr. Pang.

(¢)  Substantial shareholders of other members of the Group

As at the Latest Practicable Date, the Directors and the chief executive of the Company were
not aware of any other person (other than the Directors and the chief executive of the Company)
who had, or was deemed to have, interests or short positions in the Shares or underlying Shares,
which would fall to be disclosed to the Company and the Stock Exchange under the provisions
of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or who was directly or indirectly interested in
10% or more of the nominal value of any class of share capital carrying rights to vote in all
circumstances at general meetings of any member of the Group.

As at the Latest Practicable Date, none of the Directors was a director or employee of
a company which had, or was deemed to have, an interest or short position in the Shares or
underlying Shares which would fall to be disclosed to the Company and the Stock Exchange
under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO.
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4. MATERIAL CONTRACTS

The following contracts (not being contracts in the ordinary course of business) have been

entered into by the Company or any of its subsidiaries or the Enlarged Group within the two years

immediately preceding the date of this circular and are or may be material:

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

(f)

(g)

(h)

the placing agreement dated 12 April 2007 and entered into among the Company as the
issuer, Starryland Profits Limited, as vendor and DBS Asia Capital Limited as the placing
agent in relation to the placing of 110,000,000 Shares at HK$0.47 per Share;

the top-up subscription agreement dated 12 April 2007 and entered into among the
Company as issuer, Starryland Profits Limited as subscriber in relation to the subscription
of 110,000,000 new Shares at HK$0.47 per Share;

the sale and purchase agreement dated 15 June 2007 and entered into with Multi Channel
Technology Limited, an indirect non wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company as purchaser
and Mr. Yuan Sheng Jun and Ms. Gao Xiu Yun as vendors in relation to the acquisition of
the entire interest in PalmPay Technology Co. Ltd. for a consideration of RMB9,987,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$10,503,157.90);

the revolving facility letter dated 15 June 2007 and entered into with the Company as
lender and Multi Channel Technology Limited, an indirect non-wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company, as borrower in relation to the revolving facility of up to a maximum
amount of HK$22,000,000 at any time during the term of the revolving facility of each
of the three financial years ending 31 March 2010;

the warrant placing agreement dated 27 August 2007 and entered into among the Company
as the issuer, Big Well Investments Limited as the subscriber and Mr. Chong Tin Lung,
as the guarantor in relation to the subscription of 223,000,000 unlisted warrants of the
Company by Big Well Investments Limited, at an issue price of HK$0.007 per warrant
and a subscription price of HK$0.543 per Share;

the sale and purchase agreement dated 5 November 2007 and entered into between Upper
Power Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company as purchaser and Mr. Hsu
Tung Chi as vendor in relation to the acquisition of approximately 9% equity interest in
Media Magic for a consideration of HK$76,320,000;

the sale and purchase agreement dated 5 November 2007 and entered into between Upper
Power Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company as purchaser and Mr. Pang
Hong Tao as vendor in relation to the acquisition of approximately 15% equity interest
in Media Magic for a consideration of HK$127,200,000;

the conditional agreement dated 11 January 2008 and entered into between Great Plan
(“Great Plan”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company as vendor and Mr. Lo Ka
Tong as purchaser in relation to the sale and purchase of 18,750 shares of Union Bridge
Group Limited (“Union Bridge”), representing 50% interests in Union Bridge;
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(1)

)

(k)

)

the conditional agreement dated 11 January 2008 and entered into between Great Plan
as vendor and Ms. Cheng Pui Ping as purchaser in relation to the sale and purchase of
18,750 shares of Union Bridge, representing 50% interests in Union Bridge;

the shares purchase agreement dated 20 March 2008 and entered into between Beaming
Investments Limited, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, as subscriber
and iPeer Multimedia International Ltd. (“iPeer”), as issuer in relation to the subscription
and issue of 1,500,000 new iPeer series A preferred shares;

the share exchange agreement dated 14 May 2008 and entered into between the Company
as purchaser, Magic Way Holdings Limited as vendor, and Mr. Michael Henry Horne as
guarantor in relation to the acquisition of 2,000,000 ordinary shares of iPeer for 22,967,646
new Shares; and

the Sale and Purchase Agreement.

5. DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the executive Directors, non-executive Director and independent non-executive Directors

has entered into a letter of appointment with the Company for a term of one year commencing from

the date of the relevant appointment, which will continue thereafter until terminated by either party

giving not less than one month’s notice in writing to the other party.

As at the Latest Practicable Date, none of the Directors has entered into any service contract

or management agreement, proposed or otherwise with any member of the Enlarged Group (excluding

contracts expiring or terminable by the employer within one year without payment of compensation

other than statutory compensation).

6. EXPERTS

The following are the qualification of the experts who have given opinions or advice which

are contained in this circular:

Name Qualifications

Nuada A licensed corporation to carry out type 6
(advising on corporate finance)
regulated activities pursuant
to the SFO

Vision A.S. Limited (“Vision™) Certified Public Accountants
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Each of Nuada and Vision has given and has not withdrawn its written consent to the issue of
this circular with the inclusion herein of its letter and report and references to its name in the form
and context in which it appears.

As at the Latest Practicable Date, each of Nuada and Vision does not have any shareholding
in any member of the Group or any right (whether legally enforceable or not) to subscribe for or to
nominate persons to subscribe for securities in any member of the Group.

As at the Latest Practicable Date, each of Nuada and Vision has no direct or indirect interests
in an y assets which had been acquired, or disposed of by, or leased to any member of the Group, or
was proposed to be acquired, or disposed of by, or leased to member of the Group, or was proposed
to be acquired, or disposed of by, or leased to any member of the Group since 31 March 2008, the
date to which the latest published audited financial statements of the Group were made up.

7. LITIGATION

So far as the Directors are aware, no member of the Enlarged Group is engaged in any litigation,
arbitration or claim of material importance and no litigation, arbitration or claim of material importance
is known to the Directors to be pending or threatened against any member of the Enlarged Group as
at the Latest Practicable Date.

8. COMPETING INTERESTS

As at the Latest Practicable Date, none of the Directors or substantial Shareholder or any of
their respective associates has any interest in business which competes with or may compete with
the business of the Group or has any other conflict of interests which any person has or may have
with the Group.

9. MISCELLANEOUS

(a)  There is no contract or arrangement entered into by any member of the Enlarged Group
subsisting at the date of this circular in which any Director is materially interested and
which is significant to the business of the Group.

(b)  As at the Latest Practicable Date, none of the Directors had any direct or indirect
interest in any assets which had been acquired, disposed of by or leased to, or which
were proposed to be acquired, disposed of by or leased to, any member of the Enlarged
Group since 31 March 2008, the date to which the latest published audited consolidated
financial statements of the Group were made up.

(¢)  The registered office of the Company is located at Clarendon House, 2 Church Street,
Hamilton HM11, Bermuda and the head office and principal place of business in Hong
Kong is at Unit 1601, 16/F., Ruttonjee House, Ruttonjee Centre, 11 Duddell Street,
Central, Hong Kong.
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(d)  The branch share registrar and transfer office of the Company in Hong Kong is Tricor
Tengis Limited at 26th Floor, Tesbury Centre, 28 Queen’s Road Central East, Wanchai,
Hong Kong.

(e)  The company secretary of the Company is Mr. Law Ho Ming. He is currently an associate
member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and a member of the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

(f)  The compliance officer of the Company is Mr. Chan Francis Ping Kuen.

(g)  The audit committee of the Company was set up for the purpose of renewing and providing
supervision over the financial reporting and internal control of the Group, comprises the
three independent non-executive Directors, Mr. Kwok Chi Sun, Vincent, Mr. Yeung Kam
Yan, and Mr. Chan Kai Wing. Set out below are their background and directorships (present
and past) of other companies listed on GEM, the main board of the Stock Exchange or
other stock exchanges.

Kwok Chi Sun, Vincent, aged 45, who was also appointed as an audit committee member, is the
sole proprietor of Vincent Kwok & Co. and is a Certified Public Accountant. He is also an independent
non-executive director of five other listed companies in Hong Kong, i.e. Shun Ho Resources Holdings
Limited, Shun Ho Technology Holdings Limited, Magnificent Estates Limited, Emperor Capital Group
Limited and China Digital Licensing (Group) Limited, the former four named companies are listed
on main board of the Stock Exchange while the last named company is listed on GEM.

Yeung Kam Yan, aged 55, who was also appointed as an audit committee member, is a member
of the Air & Waste Management Association - Hong Kong Section. Mr. Yeung has over 8 years of
experience in accounting, sales and marketing in different international companies including Olivetti
(Hong Kong) Ltd. from 1979 to 1982, O.P.D. Limited from 1982 to 1985 and Henry Boot Far East
Limited from 1986 to 1990. Mr. Yeung also operated his own trading and investment business in the
PRC from 1990 to 1998. Mr. Yeung does not hold any directorship in any other listed companies as
at the Latest Practicable Date.

Chan Kai Wing, aged 36, who was also appointed as an audit committee member, holds a
Master’s degree in Electrical Engineering from Cornell University, and a Bachelor’s degree in Electrical
Engineering and Computer Sciences (with highest distinction) from the University of Wisconsin-
Madison. Mr. Chan is a veteran in the technology industry with more than 14 years of entrepreneurship,
management of major corporate activities and professional services experience. Mr. Chan does not
hold any directorship in any other listed companies as at the Latest Practicable Date.
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10. DOCUMENTS AVAILABLE FOR INSPECTION

Copies of the following documents will be made available for inspection during normal business

hours on Business Days at the office of the Company at Unit 1601, 16/F., Ruttonjee House, Ruttonjee

Centre, 11 Duddell Street, Central, Hong Kong during normal business hours on any Business Day

from the date of this circular up to and including the date of the SGM:

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

(f)

(g)

(h)

)

the memorandum of association and bye-laws of the Company;
the annual reports of the Company for each of the two financial years ended 31 March
2007 and 31 March 2008 and the interim report of the Company for the six months ended

30 September 2008;

the material contracts referred to in the paragraph headed “Material contracts” in this
Appendix;

the written consents of the experts referred to in the paragraph headed “Experts” in this
Appendix;

the accountants’ report of the Media Magic Group prepared by Vision A.S. Limited, the
text of which is set out in Appendix II to this circular;

the letter from Vision A.S. Limited in respect of the unaudited pro forma financial
information of the Enlarged Group as set out in Appendix III to this circular;

the letter from the Independent Board Committee, the text of which is set out on pages
31 to 32 in this circular;

the letter of advice from the Independent Financial Adviser to the Independent Board
Committee and the Independent Shareholders, the text of which is set out on pages 33
to 49 in this circular;

the circular of the Company dated 9 July 2008; and

this circular.
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Pailmpay

Palmpay China (Holdings) Limited
EPsﬁﬁ(%)ﬁI?E’A?

(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)
(Stock Code: 8047)

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that a special general meeting (the “SGM”) of the shareholders
of Palmpay China (Holdings) Limited (the “Company”) will be held at Unit 1601, Ruttonjee House,
Ruttonjee Centre, 11 Duddell Street, Central, Hong Kong on Monday, 15 June 2009 at 11:00 a.m. for
the purpose of considering and, if thought fit, passing with or without amendments, the following

resolution of the Company:

*®

ORDINARY RESOLUTION

“THAT

(a)

(b)

(©)

the conditional sale and purchase agreement (the “Agreement”) dated 26 February
2009 and entered into between Upper Power Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company, as purchaser, Mr. Pang Hong Tao, Winner Gain Investments Limited and
Morning Sun Technology Limited as vendors (the “Vendors”) in relation to the sale
and purchase of 13,889 ordinary shares of US$1.00 each in the share capital of Media
Magic Technology Limited, at a total consideration of HK$82,335,000 (a copy of which
has been produced to the SGM marked “A” and signed by the chairman of the SGM for
the purpose of identification) and the transactions contemplated thereunder, be and are
hereby approved, confirmed and ratified;

any one or more of the directors (the “Directors”) of the Company be and is/are hereby
authorised to do all such acts and things and execute all such documents which he/they
consider necessary, desirable or expedient for the purpose of, or in connection with, the
implementation of and giving effect to the Agreement and the transactions contemplated
thereunder;

the allotment and issue of an aggregate of 236,363,636 shares (the “Consideration
Shares” and each a “Consideration Share”) of HK$0.05 each in the share capital of the
Company credited as fully paid at an issue price of HK$0.11 per Consideration Share
to the Vendors in accordance with the terms and conditions of the Agreement and the
transactions contemplated thereunder be and is hereby approved;

for identification purpose only
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(d) the issue of convertible bonds (the “Convertible Bonds”) in the aggregate principal
amount of HK$49,335,000 by the Company to the Vendors in accordance with the terms
and conditions of the Agreement and the transactions contemplated thereunder be and is
hereby approved; and

(e) any one or more of the Directors be and is/are hereby authorised to take all steps
necessary or expedient in his/their opinion to implement and/or give effect to the issue
of the Convertible Bonds including but not limited to the allotment and issue of ordinary
shares of HK$0.05 each in the share capital of the Company of which may fall to be
issued upon the exercise of the conversion rights attached to the Convertible Bonds.”

By order of the Board
Palmpay China (Holdings) Limited
Chan Francis Ping Kuen

Executive Director

Hong Kong, 27 May 2009

Registered office: Head office and principal place of
Clarendon House business in Hong Kong:
2 Church Street Unit 1601, 16/F.
Hamilton HM 11 Ruttonjee House
Bermuda Ruttonjee Centre
11 Duddell Street
Central
Hong Kong

Notes:

A member entitled to attend and vote at the SGM is entitled to appoint one or more than one proxy to attend and,
subject to the provisions of the bye-laws of the Company, to vote on his behalf. A proxy need not be a member of the
Company but must be present in person at the SGM to represent the member. If more than one proxy is so appointed,
the appointment shall specify the number and class of shares in respect of which each such proxy is so appointed.

A form of proxy for use at the SGM is enclosed. Whether or not you intend to attend the SGM in person, you are
encouraged to complete and return the enclosed form of proxy in accordance with the instructions printed thereon.
Completion and return of a form of proxy will not preclude a member from attending in person and voting at the SGM
or any adjournment thereof, should he so wish.

In order to be valid, the form of proxy must be duly lodged at the Company’s branch registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor
Tengis Limited at 26th Floor, Tesbury Centre, 28 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong together with a power of
attorney or other authority, if any, under which it is duly signed or a notarially certified copy of that power of attorney
or authority, not less than 48 hours before the time for holding the meeting or any adjourned meeting.

In the case of joint holders of shares, any one of such holders may vote at the SGM, either personally or by proxy, in
respect of such share as if he was solely entitled thereto, but if more than one of such joint holder are present at the
SGM personally or by proxy, that one of the said persons so present whose name stands first on the register of members
of the Company in respect of such shares shall alone be entitled to vote in respect thereof.
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